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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”), including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations” in Item 7, contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995. We may also make forward-looking statements in other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in materials delivered 
to stockholders, and in press releases. In addition, our representatives may from time to time make oral forward-looking statements.  

All statements other than statements of historical fact or relating to present facts or current conditions included in this Form 10-K are 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations and projections relating to our financial condition, results 
of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business. You can identify forward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate 
strictly to historical or current facts. These statements may include words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “will,” “project,” “plan,” 
“intend,” “believe,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “can have,” “likely” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any 
discussion of the timing or nature of future operating or financial performance or other events.  

The forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K are based on assumptions that we have made in light of our industry 
experience and our perceptions of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors we believe are 
appropriate under the circumstances. As you read and consider this Form 10-K, you should understand that these statements are not guarantees 
of performance or results. They involve risks, uncertainties (many of which are beyond our control) and assumptions. Although we believe that 
these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, you should be aware that many factors could affect our actual operating 
and financial performance and cause our performance to differ materially from the performance anticipated in the forward-looking statements. 
We believe these factors include, but are not limited to, those described under “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and “Item 
11. Executive Compensation.” Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of these assumptions prove incorrect, 
our actual operating and financial performance may vary in material respects from the performance projected in these forward-looking 
statements.  

Any forward-looking statement made by us in this Form 10-K speaks only as of the date on which we make it. Factors or events that 
could cause our actual operating and financial performance to differ may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all of 
them. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future 
developments or otherwise, except as may be required by law.  

AVAILABLE INFORMATION  

Through its Internet website (www.mpgdriven.com), the Company will make available, free of charge, its Annual Report on Form 
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, all amendments to those reports, and other filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed or furnished. The Company also makes the following documents 
available on its Internet website: the Audit Committee Charter; the Compensation Committee Charter; the Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee Charter; the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines; the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and 
the Company’s Related Party Transaction, Insider Trading and Whistleblower policies. Copies of these posted materials are also available in 
print, free of charge, to any stockholder upon request from: MPG Investor Relations, 47659 Halyard Dr. Plymouth, MI 48170, or via telephone 
in the US at 248-440-9503, or e-mail at investors@mpgdriven.com . The inclusion of our website address in this report is an inactive textual 
reference only and is not intended to include or incorporate by reference the information on our website into this report.  
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PART I  
   

General  

Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. (“MPG”) is a Delaware corporation incorporated on June 9, 2014. Our business was formed 
through the combination of three metal-forming technology manufacturing companies, ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, 
“HHI”), ASP MD Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Metaldyne”), and ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC (together with its 
subsidiaries, “Grede”) on August 4, 2014 (the “Combination”). Each of the three operating groups was owned primarily by certain private equity 
funds affiliated with American Securities LLC (together with its affiliates, “American Securities”). American Securities acquired its interest in 
HHI in October 2012, Metaldyne in December 2012, and Grede in June 2014.  

A brief summary of the history of each of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede follows:  
   

   

   

Effective December 12, 2014, MPG completed an initial public offering (the “IPO”) and began trading on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the ticker symbol “MPG.” Unless otherwise stated in this Form 10-K, references to “MPG,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us” 
and similar terms refer to Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and all of its subsidiaries.  

This Form 10-K presents HHI as the predecessor to MPG. The period prior to October 6, 2012 is referred to as the Predecessor 
Period and the period from October 6, 2012 to December 31, 2014 is referred to as the Successor Period. The period from October 6, 2012 to 
December 31, 2012 is referred to as Successor Period 2012 and the period from January 1, 2012 to October 5, 2012 is referred to as Predecessor 
Period 2012. The Combination has been accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control in a manner similar to a pooling of 
interests, and, as such, the bases of accounting of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede were carried over to MPG. These consolidated financial statements 
reflect the retrospective application of MPG’s capital structure and consolidated presentation of the Combination for the Successor Period. Our 
historical capital structure has been retroactively adjusted to reflect our post-Combination capital structure for the Successor Period.  

Certain Terms  

We use the following industry terms in describing our business in this Form 10-K:  
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

  

•   HHI was formed in 2005 and, from 2005 through 2009, completed the acquisitions of Impact Forge Group, LLC, and Cloyes 
Gear and Products, Inc. and, following a §363 U.S. Bankruptcy Court supervised sale process, acquired certain assets and 
assumed specified liabilities from FormTech LLC, Jernberg Holdings, LLC and Delphi Automotive PLC’s wheel bearing 
operations. 

  

•   Metaldyne was formed in 2009 as a new entity to acquire certain assets and assume specified liabilities from the former 
Metaldyne Corporation (“Oldco M Corporation”) following a §363 U.S. Bankruptcy Court supervised sale process. Oldco M 
Corporation was previously formed when MascoTech, Inc., a then-publicly traded company, was taken private and acquired 
Simpson Industries, Inc., another then-public company. 

  

•   Grede was formed in 2010 through a combination of the assets of the former Grede Foundries, Inc. and Citation Corporation, 
following a §363 U.S. Bankruptcy Court supervised sale process. Subsequently, Grede acquired Foseco-Morval Inc., GTL 
Precision Patterns Inc., Paxton-Mitchell Corporation, Virginia Castings Industries LLC, Teknik, S.A. de C.V. and Novocast, 
S.A. de C.V. 

  •   Advanced Machining and Assembly: Value-added precision machining to improve form, finish and function of components 
and the assembly of multiple components into a ready-to-install module. 

  •   Aluminum Die Casting: A casting process where molten aluminum is injected under pressure into a solid mold to create a 
complex formed component. 

  •   Forging: The shaping of metal by a number of processes, including pressing and forming, typically classified according to 
temperature (cold, warm, or hot). 

  •   Iron Casting: A manufacturing process by which molten iron (ductile or grey) is poured into a mold to produce components 
with complex dimensions. 

  •   Net Formed: A manufacturing technique which allows production of the component at or very close to the final (net) shape, 
reducing or eliminating scrap material and the need for surface finishing. 
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We use the following industry terms in this Form 10-K to describe our products and how they are organized and sourced in our 
industry:  
   

   

   

Business Overview  

MPG provides highly-engineered components for use in Powertrain and Safety-Critical Platforms for the global light, commercial, 
and industrial vehicle markets. We produce these components using complex metal-forming manufacturing technologies and processes for a 
global customer base of vehicle OEMs and Tier I suppliers. Our components help OEMs meet fuel economy, performance, and safety standards.  

Our metal-forming manufacturing technologies and processes include Aluminum Die Casting, Forging, Iron Casting and Powder 
Metal Forming, as well as value-added manufacturing processes such as Advanced Machining and Assembly. These technologies and processes 
are used to create a wide range of customized Powertrain and Safety-Critical components that address requirements for power density (increased 
component strength to weight ratio), power generation, power / torque transfer, strength, and NVH.  

Our business is comprised of three segments:  

HHI: HHI manufactures highly-engineered metal-based products for the North American light vehicle market. These components 
are used in Powertrain and Safety-Critical applications, including transmission components, driveline components, wheel hubs, axle 
ring and pinion gears, sprockets, balance shaft gears, timing drive systems, variable valve timing (“VVT”) components, transfer case 
components and wheel bearings.  

Metaldyne: Metaldyne manufactures highly-engineered metal-based Powertrain products for the global light vehicle markets. These 
components include connecting rods, VVT components, balance shaft systems, and crankshaft dampers, differential gears, pinions 
and assemblies, valve bodies, hollow and solid shafts, clutch modules and assembled end covers.  

Grede: Grede manufactures cast, machined and assembled components for the light, commercial and industrial (agriculture, 
construction, mining, rail, wind energy and oil field) vehicle and equipment end-markets. These components are used in Powertrain 
and Safety-Critical applications, including turbocharger housings, differential carriers and cases, scrolls and covers, brake calipers 
and housings, knuckles, control arms and axle components.  

   
3  

  •   NVH: The noise, vibration, and harshness characteristics of vehicles, particularly cars and trucks, which vehicle design 
engineers seek to reduce. 

  •   OEMs: Original equipment manufacturers. 

  •   Powder Metal Forming: The process of compacting metal powder in a mold, followed by heating the shaped component to 
just below the metal powder’s melting point to form complex Net Formed components. 

  •   Powertrain: Components of the vehicle that generate power and transfer it to the road surface, typically including the engine, 
transmission, and driveline. 

  •   Rubber and Viscous Dampening Assemblies: Advanced rubber-to-metal bonded or silicone-filled assemblies that reduce, 
restrict, or prevent oscillation, torsion, and bending in vehicle engines, thereby improving NVH characteristics. 

  •   Safety-Critical: Components that assist in the control and stability of a vehicle in motion and are fundamental to performance 
and safety. These components typically include chassis, suspension, steering, and brake components. 

  •   Tier I suppliers: Suppliers of components and assemblies that are sold directly to OEMs. 

  •   Platform: A shared set of common design, engineering, and production efforts over a number of Vehicle Nameplates or 
Powertrains with common architecture (e.g. Toyota MC-M, Ford Duratec35 engine). 

  •   Program: Manufacturing and development of certain automobile components including engines, transmissions and brake 
components (e.g. Toyota 051A, ZF’s 9HP transmission). 

  •   Vehicle Nameplate: A specific vehicle model built within a Platform for a vehicle OEM (e.g. Toyota Camry, Ford F-150). 
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See Note 22 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data” for financial information reported by segment and geographic area.  

We primarily serve the global light vehicle and North American commercial and industrial vehicle and equipment end-markets with 
a focus on components for Powertrain and Safety-Critical applications. Demand in these end-markets, and therefore, our products, is driven by 
consumer preferences, regulatory requirements (particularly related to fuel economy and safety standards) and macro-economic factors. In 
addition to light vehicle OEMs, our customers include commercial vehicle manufacturers in the medium and heavy truck market. We also 
produce a wide variety of components to serve multiple industrial equipment end-markets with agriculture and construction equipment OEMs.  

Contribution to our net sales by vehicle application follows:  
   

Seasonality  

Our business is moderately seasonal because our largest North American customers typically halt operations for approximately two 
weeks in July and one week in December. Customers in Europe have historically shut down vehicle production during a portion of August and 
December as well. In addition, third quarter automotive production traditionally is lower as new models enter production.  

Customer Dependence  

We depend on major vehicle OEMs for our sales. For the year ended December 31, 2014, Ford Motor Company (“Ford”), General 
Motors Company (“GM”), and Fiat Chrysler Automobiles (“FCA”) accounted for approximately 24%, 21%, and 13% of our end-customer sales, 
respectively. Other significant customers include Daimler AG (“Daimler”), Toyota Motor Corporation (“Toyota”), and Hyundai Motor 
Company (“Hyundai”), which together accounted for approximately 10% of our end-customer sales for the year ended December 31, 2014.  

Suppliers and Raw Materials  

We procure our raw materials from a variety of suppliers for use in our manufacturing processes. In 2014, our top ten suppliers 
constituted less than 39% of our purchases. Based on available quality and supply, we seek to obtain materials in the region in which our 
products are manufactured in order to minimize transportation and other costs. The primary raw materials used to produce the majority of our 
products are steel scrap, steel bar, pig iron, aluminum, copper, molybdenum and other metallic materials. We believe our principal suppliers 
have steel making capabilities and capacity to support our customers’ specifications and volume expectations. We typically source raw materials 
or components from single suppliers. Although we are generally able to substitute suppliers for raw materials and components without material 
short-term costs, in some cases, it could be difficult and expensive for us to change suppliers and may require customer approval.  

Generally, we apply raw material surcharges to our customers to mitigate volatility in our cost of scrap, steel bar, aluminum and 
other inputs. Surcharge prices on our raw materials may vary based on industry indices or on actual prices paid to suppliers. We also sell certain 
manufacturing scrap, which may be subject to fluctuations in commodity prices.  

Design, Product Development and Intellectual Property  

We maintain technical and commercial engineering centers in major regions of the world to develop and provide advanced products, 
processes and manufacturing support for all of our manufacturing sites, and to provide our customers with local engineering capabilities and 
design support. Our efforts related to research and development are focused on process improvement, higher performance materials and 
increased product performance.  
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Year Ended  

December 31, 2014     
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013     
2012  
(1)   

Driveline       19 %      18 %      15 %  
Engine       28        33        13    
Transmission       23        24        23    
Safety-Critical       17        18        42    
Other Specialty Products       13        7        7    

         
  

        
  

        
  

  100 %    100 %    100 %  
         

  

        

  

        

  

  
(1) Reflects net sales contribution for Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012, combined. 
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We believe that our engineering and technical expertise, together with our emphasis on continuing product and process development, 
allow us to use the latest technologies, processes and sophisticated materials to provide cost-effective solutions to our customers. We believe that 
continued engineering activities are critical to support our pipeline of technologically advanced products and increasing the technical and 
performance capabilities of our products. We maintain our engineering activities around our core technologies and processes, allocating our 
capital and resources to those products with differentiated technologies and attractive returns on invested capital.  

We pursue patents where specific technology or innovation is well positioned for protection under intellectual property laws. While 
no individual patent or group of patents, taken alone, is considered material to our business, taken in the aggregate, these patents provide 
meaningful protection for our products and product innovations. We continually make determinations as to whether a product or process is best 
protected through a patent application or other means.  

Backlog  

Incremental business backlog, which we measure as anticipated net product sales from incremental business for the next three years 
at each year end, net of Programs being phased out and any foreign currency fluctuations, is approximately $190 million as of December 31, 
2014. We are typically awarded Programs one to three years prior to the start of production on new and replacement business. Due to the timing 
of the OEM sourcing cycle, our anticipated net product sales were measured based on contracts to be executed during 2015 through 2017. Our 
estimate of anticipated net product sales includes formally awarded new Programs, Programs which we believe are highly probable of being 
awarded to us, expected volume changes on existing Programs and the impact of foreign currency. Our estimate may be impacted by various 
assumptions, including vehicle production levels on new and replacement Programs, customer price reductions, scrap prices, material price 
indices, currency exchange rates and the timing of Program launches. We typically enter into agreements with our customers at the beginning of 
a vehicle’s life for the fulfillment of customers’ purchasing requirements for the entire production life of the Program. Therefore, this anticipated 
net product sales information could differ significantly from actual firm orders or firm commitments and awards of business do not represent 
guarantees of production volumes or revenues.  

Competition  

Although the number of our competitors has decreased due to ongoing industry consolidation, the automotive components industry 
remains very competitive. OEMs and Tier I suppliers rigorously evaluate suppliers on the basis of product quality, price competitiveness, 
reliability and timeliness of delivery, product design capability, technical expertise and development capability, new product innovation, 
financial viability, application of lean principles, operational flexibility, customer service and overall management. In addition, our customers 
generally require that suppliers demonstrate improved efficiencies, through cost reductions and/or price improvement, on a year-over-year basis.  
   

5  



Table of Contents  

The following table illustrates our primary competitors for our manufacturing technologies and value-added processes:  
   

Environmental Compliance  

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations, including those governing the 
discharge of pollutants into the air or water, the management and disposal of hazardous substances or wastes, and the clean up of contaminated 
sites. Some of our operations require environmental permits and controls to prevent and reduce air and water pollution. These permits are subject 
to modification, renewal, and revocation by issuing authorities. We believe we are in substantial compliance with all applicable material laws 
and regulations. Historically, our costs of achieving and maintaining compliance with environmental, health, and safety requirements have not 
been material to our results.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2014, we employed approximately 12,000 total employees in 13 countries. As of December 31, 2014, 
approximately 38% of our employees were employed under the terms of collective bargaining agreements with industrial trade unions or 
employed under international workers councils.  
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Portfolio of Manufacturing Technologies and  
Value-Added Processes     Primary Competitors  

Advanced Machining and Assembly    BorgWarner, GKN, Linamar and Magna 
Aluminum Die Casting    Aisin, Dongnam Precision and Ryobi 
Cold and Warm Forging    American Axle, Hirshvogel, Linamar and Sona BLW 
Hot Forging    American Axle, Amtek, Linamar and Hirshvogel 
Iron Casting    Metal Technologies, Inc., Neenah Enterprises and Waupaca 
Powder Metal Forming    GKN, Mahle, and Miba 
Rubber and Viscous Dampening Assemblies    Knorr Bremse, Vibracoustic and Winkelmann 



Table of Contents  

Provided below is a cautionary discussion of what we believe to be the most important risk factors applicable to the Company, 
although they are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we do not currently deem 
material also may impact our business operations. If any of the following risks occur, our business, including its financial performance, financial 
condition, results of operations, and cash flows may be materially affected. Discussion of these factors is incorporated by reference into and 
considered an integral part of Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”  

Risks Relating to Our Industry and Our Business  

Volatility in the global economy has, and may continue to have, a severe and negative impact on the demand for new vehicles and, in turn, 
our products.  

The demand for and pricing of our products are subject to economic conditions and other factors present in the geographic markets 
where our products are sold that are beyond our control, such as a worsening of global economic and political conditions as a result of rising 
interest rates or inflation, high unemployment, increasing energy and fuel prices, increased volatility in global capital markets, international 
conflicts, regulatory changes and many other factors. Demand for our products correlates to consumer demand for new vehicles containing our 
products. Adverse changes in global economic and political conditions, or sluggish or uneven recovery in specific countries or regions, may 
result in lower consumer confidence, which has a significant impact on consumer demand for vehicles.  

A decline in vehicle production levels, particularly with respect to Platforms for which we are a significant supplier, or the financial distress 
of any of our major customers, could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

Demand for our products is directly related to the vehicle production levels of our OEM end-customers. New vehicle sales and 
production can be affected by general economic or industry conditions, the level of consumer demand, recalls and other safety issues, labor 
relations issues, fuel prices, fuel efficiency and vehicle safety regulations and other regulatory requirements, government initiatives, trade 
agreements, the availability and cost of credit, the availability to our customers and suppliers of critical components needed to complete the 
production of vehicles, restructuring actions of OEMs, our customers, suppliers, and many other factors. Financial difficulties experienced by 
any major customer could have a material adverse effect on us if such customer were unable to pay for the products we provide or we 
experienced a loss of, or material reduction in, business from that customer.  

As a result of such difficulties, we could experience lost revenues, write-offs of accounts receivable, impairment charges or 
additional restructurings, some significant, from year-to-year, which, in turn, could cause fluctuations in the demand for our products. The 
automotive industry is cyclical and sensitive to general economic conditions and other factors, including the global credit markets, interest rates, 
consumer credit and consumer spending and preferences. An economic downturn, severe weather or other adverse industry conditions that result 
in even a relatively modest decline in vehicle production levels could reduce our sales and thereby adversely affect our financial condition, 
results of operations, and cash flows.  

Seasonality in the automotive industry could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

The automotive industry in which we operate is seasonal. Some of our largest OEM customers typically shut down vehicle 
production during certain months or weeks of the year. For example, our OEM customers in North America and Europe typically shut down 
operations during portions of July and August and one week in December. During these manufacturing shutdown periods, our customers will 
generally reduce the number of production days because of lower demands and reduce excess vehicle inventory. Such seasonality could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

We face significant competition.  

The automotive supply industry is highly competitive. We compete worldwide with other automotive suppliers on the basis of price, 
technological innovation, quality, delivery, Program launch support, and overall customer service, among other factors. Our ability to compete 
successfully depends, in large part, on our success in continuing to innovate and manufacture products utilized in Programs or Platforms that 
have commercial success with consumers, differentiate our products from those of our competitors, continue to deliver quality products in the 
time frames required by our customers, and maintain low-cost production. We continue to invest in technology and innovation which we believe 
will be critical to our long-term growth. Our ability to anticipate changes in technology and to successfully develop and introduce new and 
enhanced products and/or manufacturing processes on a timely basis will be a significant factor in our ability to remain competitive. If we are 
unsuccessful or are less successful than our competitors in consistently developing innovative products, processes, and/or use of materials, we 
may be placed at a competitive disadvantage, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. The inability to compete successfully could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations.  
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We are dependent on large-volume customers for current and future sales. The loss of any of these customers or a reduction in sales to these 
customers could have a material adverse impact on our business.  

We depend on major vehicle OEMs for our sales. Our financial results are closely correlated to production by Ford, GM, FCA, 
Daimler, Toyota, and Hyundai, given our higher sales to these customers. For the year ended December 31, 2014, end customer sales attributed 
to these OEMs accounted for approximately 67% of our net sales. We may make fewer sales to these customers for a variety of reasons. The loss 
of any one of these customers or a significant decrease in business from one or more of these customers could harm our business, reduce our 
revenues and cash flows, and limit our ability to spread fixed costs over a larger sales base, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

A reduction in outsourcing by our customers, or the loss of a material number of Programs, combined with a failure to secure sufficient 
alternative Programs, could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

We depend on the outsourcing of components, modules, and assemblies by vehicle manufacturers. The extent of vehicle 
manufacturer outsourcing is influenced by a number of factors, including: relative cost, quality and timeliness of production by suppliers as 
compared to vehicle manufacturers, capacity utilization, vehicle manufacturers’ perceptions regarding the strategic importance of certain 
components/modules to them, labor relations among vehicle manufacturers, their employees and unions, and other considerations. A number of 
our major OEM customers manufacture products for their own uses that directly compete with our products. These OEMs could elect to 
manufacture such products for their own uses in place of the products we currently supply. A reduction in outsourcing by vehicle manufacturers, 
or the loss of a material number of Programs combined with the failure to secure alternative Programs with sufficient volumes and margins could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We are under continuing pressure from our customers to reduce our prices.  

As is common practice in the automotive industry, the majority of our products are sold under long-term contracts with prices 
scheduled at the time the contracts are established, many of which require price reductions in subsequent years. The inability to offset the impact 
of such price reductions through continued technology improvements, cost reductions, or other productivity initiatives could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

We may not realize all of the sales expected from awarded business, and we may not fully recover pre-production costs, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business.  

The sales to be generated from awarded business are inherently subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including the number 
of vehicles produced, the timing of vehicle production, and the mix of options our customers, and the ultimate consumers, may choose. 
Anticipated product sales could differ significantly from actual firm orders or firm commitments, and awards of business do not represent 
guarantees of production volumes or revenues. While we typically enter into agreements for the customers’ purchasing requirements for the 
entire production life of the vehicle, ranging from one to six years with automatic renewal provisions that generally result in our contracts 
running for the life of the Program, many customer purchase orders contain provisions that permit our customers to unilaterally cancel our 
contracts with limited or no notice. Our ability to obtain compensation from our customers for such cancellation, if the cancellation is through no 
fault of our own, is generally limited to the direct costs we have incurred for raw materials and work-in-process and, in certain instances, 
unamortized investment costs. If we do not realize all of the sales expected from awarded business, it could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

Typically, it takes two to three years from the time an OEM or Tier I supplier awards us a Program until the Program is launched and 
we begin production. In many cases, we must commit substantial resources in preparation for production under awarded Programs well in 
advance of the customer’s production start date. We may not realize substantially all of the revenue from our incremental business backlog. If we 
are unable to recover pre-production costs, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

Our failure to increase production capacity, or overexpansion of production, could harm our business and damage our customer 
relationships.  

We may be unable to expand our business, satisfy customer requirements, maintain our competitive position, and improve 
profitability if we are unable to increase production capacity at our facilities to meet any increased demand for our products. Moreover, we may 
experience delays in receiving equipment and be unable to meet any increases in customer demand. Failure to satisfy customer demand may 
result in a loss of market share to competitors and may damage our relationships with key customers.  



Due to the lead time required to produce the equipment used in our manufacturing process, it can take months and even years to 
obtain new machines after they are ordered. Accordingly, we are required to order production equipment well in advance of supplying 
components. In addition, the equipment used in our manufacturing process requires large capital investments. If our manufacturing facilities are 
not expanded or completed on a timely basis or if anticipated customer orders do not materialize, we may not be able to generate sufficient sales 
to offset the costs of new production equipment. Furthermore, we rely on longer-term forecasts from our customers to plan our capital 
expenditures. If these forecasts prove to be inaccurate, either we may have spent too much on  
   

8  



Table of Contents  

capacity growth, which could require us to consolidate facilities, or we may have spent too little on capital expenditures, in which case we may 
be unable to satisfy customer demand, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Furthermore, our ability to establish 
and operate new manufacturing facilities and expand production capacity is subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

If we are unable to establish or successfully increase production capacity as a result of the risks described above or otherwise, we 
may not be able to expand our business to meet any increased demand for our products. Alternatively, if we increase production capacity at our 
existing facilities, we may not be able to generate sufficient customer demand for our products to support the increased production levels, any of 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

We rely on key machinery and tooling to manufacture components for Powertrain and Safety-Critical systems that cannot be easily 
replicated.  

We currently depend on key machinery and tooling used to manufacture components for Powertrain and Safety-Critical systems. Our 
machinery and tooling are complex, cannot be easily replicated, and have a long lead-time to manufacture. If there is a breakdown in such 
machinery and tooling that we or our service providers are unable to repair in a timely fashion, or equipment manufacturers fail to timely deliver 
new equipment, obtaining replacement machinery or rebuilding tooling could involve significant delays and costs, and may not be available to us 
on reasonable terms. If we or our service providers our unable to repair our equipment or tooling, in some cases, it could take several months, or 
longer, for a supplier to begin providing machinery and tooling to specification. Any disruption of machinery and tooling supplies could result in 
lost or deferred sales and customer charges which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations.  

If we experience Program launch difficulties, it could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

The launch of a new Program is complex, and its success depends on a wide range of factors, including the production readiness of 
our and our suppliers’ manufacturing facilities and manufacturing processes, tooling, equipment, employees, initial product quality, and other 
factors. Our failure to successfully launch new business or to contain launch costs could result in a loss of business or the incurrence of 
substantial unexpected costs, such as increased scrap or premium freight charges, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations.  

A disruption in our supply or delivery chain could cause one or more of our customers to halt production.  

In certain instances, we ship our products to customer vehicle assembly plants on a “just-in-time” basis in order for our customers to 
maintain low inventory levels. Our suppliers use a similar method in providing raw materials to us. However, the “just-in-time” method makes 
the logistics supply chain in our industry very vulnerable to disruptions. These disruptions may result for many reasons, including closures of 
supplier plants or critical manufacturing lines due to strikes, mechanical breakdowns, electrical outages, fire, explosions, as well as logistical 
complications resulting from labor disruptions, weather or other natural disasters, mechanical failures, and delayed customs processing. In 
addition, we may need to rely on suppliers in local markets that have not yet proven their ability to meet our requirements. The lack of even a 
small single subcomponent necessary to manufacture one of our products, for whatever reason, could force us to cease production, possibly for a 
prolonged period. Similarly, a potential quality issue could force us to halt deliveries while we contain nonconforming products or validate our 
process. Even where products are ready to be shipped, or have been shipped, delays may arise before they reach our customer. If we fail to 
timely deliver, we may have to absorb our own costs for identifying the cause and solving the problem, as well as expeditiously producing and 
shipping replacement products. Additionally, if we are unable to deliver our products to our customers in a timely manner, our customers may be 
forced to cease production and may seek to recover losses from us, which could be significant. Thus, any supply chain disruption could cause the 
complete shutdown of an assembly line of one of our customers, which could expose us to material claims for compensation and have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  
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  •   limitations in the agreements governing our indebtedness that restrict the amount of capital that can be spent on 
manufacturing facilities; 

  •   inability to raise additional funds or generate sufficient cash flow from operations to purchase raw material inventory and 
equipment or to build additional manufacturing facilities; 

  •   delays and cost overruns as a result of a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, such as increases in raw 
material prices and long lead times or delays with equipment vendors; 

  •   delays or denials of required approvals by relevant government authorities; 

  •   diversion of significant management attention and other resources; 

  •   inability to hire qualified personnel; and 

  •   failure to execute our expansion plan effectively. 



Table of Contents  

Work stoppages or production limitations at one or more of our customers’ facilities could disrupt our production volumes.  

A work stoppage or other limitation on production could occur at customer facilities for any number of reasons, including as a result 
of disputes under existing collective bargaining agreements with labor unions or in connection with negotiation of new collective bargaining 
agreements, or as a result of supplier financial distress or other production constraints or difficulties, or due to disruptions in shipping, or for 
other factors. A disruption in production at the facilities of our large-volume customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  

A catastrophic loss of one of our key manufacturing facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

While we manufacture our products in several facilities and maintain insurance covering our facilities, including business 
interruption insurance, a catastrophic loss of the use of all or a portion of one of our manufacturing facilities due to accident, labor issues, 
weather conditions, acts of war, political unrest, terrorist activity, natural disaster or otherwise, whether short- or long-term, could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

We rely upon trademarks, copyrights, patents and contractual restrictions to protect our know-how, trade secrets and other intellectual 
property. Failure to protect our intellectual property rights may undermine our competitive position and protecting our rights or defending 
against third-party allegations of infringement may be costly.  

Protection of proprietary processes, know-how, trade secrets, documentation, and other technology is critical to our business. Failure 
to protect, monitor, and control the use of our existing know-how, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights could cause us to lose our 
competitive advantage and incur significant expenses. We rely on trademarks, copyrights, patents, and contractual restrictions to protect our 
intellectual property rights, but these measures may be insufficient. While we enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements and 
agreements for assignment of invention with our employees and third parties to protect our know-how, trade secrets, and intellectual property 
rights, such agreements and assignments could be breached and may not provide meaningful protection. Also, others may independently develop 
technologies or products that are similar to ours. In such case, our know-how and trade secrets would not prevent third parties from competing 
with us. Third parties may seek to oppose, cancel, or invalidate our intellectual property rights, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. Our patents expire on various dates through 2031.  

The costs associated with the protection of our know-how, trade secrets, intellectual property and our proprietary rights and 
technology are ongoing. Third parties or employees may infringe or misappropriate our proprietary technologies or other intellectual property 
rights. Policing unauthorized use of intellectual property rights can be difficult and expensive, and adequate remedies may not be available. 
Failure to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights may undermine our competitive position, and protecting our rights or defending 
against third-party allegations of infringement may be costly, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations.  

Any acquisitions or joint ventures we make could disrupt and materially harm our business.  

We may grow through acquisitions of complementary businesses, products or technologies, or by entering into joint ventures. 
Acquisitions or strategic alliances involve numerous risks, including:  
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  •   difficulties in the integration of the acquired businesses or incorporating joint ventures; 

  •   the diversion of our management team’s attention from other business concerns; 

  •   uncertainties in assessing the value, strengths and potential profitability of, and identifying the extent of all weaknesses of, 
acquisition candidates; 

  •   the assumption of unknown liabilities, including environmental, tax, pension and litigation liabilities, and undisclosed risks 
impacting the target; 

  •   adverse effects on existing customer and supplier relationships; 

  •   incurrence of substantial indebtedness; 

  •   potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities; 

  •   integration of internal controls; 

  •   entry into markets in which we have little or no direct prior experience; 

  •   the potential loss of key customers, management and employees of an acquired business; 

  •   potential integration or restructuring costs; 

  •   the ability to achieve operating and financial synergies; and 
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We cannot ensure that we will be able to successfully integrate acquisitions or incorporate joint ventures that we undertake or that 
such acquisitions or joint ventures will perform as planned or prove to be beneficial to our business and results of operations. The occurrence of 
any one or more of these factors could cause us not to realize the benefits anticipated to result from an acquisition or a joint venture, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

The prices of raw materials and commodities we use are volatile.  

Our business is subject to volatility in pricing of raw materials used in our manufacturing processes, such as steel scrap, steel bar, pig 
iron, aluminum, copper, molybdenum and other metallic materials. The costs of these products are subject to inflationary and market pricing 
pressures, and as such, have fluctuated over the past several years. Certain raw materials and other commodities used in our operations are 
generally only available from a few suppliers. Although agreements with our suppliers generally contain pass-through price adjustments, we may 
experience increasing costs or reduced scrap sales due to changing material prices and timing. Furthermore, our suppliers’ inability to handle raw 
material cost increases may lead to delivery delays, additional costs, production issues, or quality issues with our suppliers in the future and, 
accordingly, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

Although we also maintain pass-through arrangements with most of our customers, we may not always be able to effectively offset 
all of our increased raw material costs. Our ability to pass through increased raw material costs to our customers may be limited, and the 
recovery may be less than our cost or on a delayed basis, which impacts our operating income. These pricing pressures put significant 
operational and financial burdens on us and our suppliers. Our suppliers’ inability to absorb raw material cost increases may lead to delivery 
delays, additional costs, production issues or quality issues with suppliers in the future. To the extent we are unable to offset raw material and 
commodity price increases and fluctuations by passing price increases to our customers, such price fluctuations or delays could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

Our relationships with key third-party suppliers could be damaged or terminated.  

We obtain raw materials and components from third-party suppliers. We typically source raw materials or components from single 
suppliers. Although we are generally able to substitute suppliers for raw materials and components without material short-term costs, in some 
cases it could be difficult and expensive for us to change suppliers. Various factors could result in the termination of our relationship with any 
supplier or the inability of suppliers to continue to meet our requirements on favorable terms. For example, volatility in the political or financial 
markets and uncertainty in the automotive sector could negatively impact the financial viability of certain key third-party suppliers. Severe 
financial difficulties at any of our suppliers could result in us being unable to obtain, on a timely basis and on similar economic terms, the 
quantity and quality of components and raw materials we require for the production of our products. In response to financial pressures, suppliers 
may also exit certain business lines or change the terms on which they are willing to provide raw materials and components to us. The loss of or 
damage to our relationships with these suppliers or any delay in receiving raw materials and components could impair our ability to deliver 
products to our customers and, accordingly, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

We could be materially adversely affected by any failure to maintain a competitive cost structure.  

We believe that our strong operating margins and cash flow generation are the result of our strong customer relationships, innovative 
metal forming process technologies, broad product portfolio and disciplined capital investment approach. There are many factors that could 
affect our ability to manage our cost structure that we are not able to control, including the need for unexpected significant capital expenditures 
and unexpected changes in commodity or component pricing that we are unable to pass on to our customers. As a result, we may be unable to 
manage our operations to profitably meet current and expected market demand. Additionally, we have substantial indebtedness of approximately 
$1,961.8 million as of December 31, 2014. Our inability to maintain our cost structure could adversely impact our operating margins and our 
results of operations.  

We may incur significant costs if we close any of our manufacturing facilities.  

We may, from time to time, close high cost or less efficient manufacturing facilities. If we must close any of our facilities because of 
the consolidation of facilities, loss of business, or cancellation of Programs for which we manufacture products, the employee severance, asset 
retirement and other costs to close these facilities may be significant. In certain locations where our facilities are subject to leases, we may 
continue to incur significant costs in accordance with the existing lease terms. We may be unsuccessful in renegotiating these leases or we may 
need to make large settlements or take other actions to terminate our leases. We attempt to align production capacity with demand; however, we 
cannot provide any assurance that we will not close manufacturing facilities in the future, which could result in adverse publicity and have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  
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  •   unanticipated changes in business, industry or general economic conditions that affect the assumptions underlying our 
rationale for pursuing the acquisition or joint venture. 
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We may incur significant costs at our facility in Sandusky, Ohio.  

We currently manufacture wheel bearings for a large OEM customer at our facility in Sandusky, Ohio (the “Sandusky facility”). As 
part of our customer contract, we currently receive labor subsidies from this OEM customer which are scheduled to expire in September 2015. 
Concurrently with such expiration, our union contract at the Sandusky facility will expire. Although we are working to re-negotiate this union 
contract before expiration, we may be unsuccessful in doing so, which may cause significant labor disruptions or we may have to discontinue 
operations at the Sandusky facility in the future. We may operate the Sandusky facility for a period of time with losses if we are unable to 
generate enough new revenue from current or new customers to offset known business attrition. Further, we may operate the facility at losses for 
a period of time while we implement wind down and closure.  

If we cease operations at the Sandusky facility, we may incur closure costs such as employee severance, asset disposition and other 
costs. For example, the lease term of the Sandusky facility continues to 2033 at approximately $4 million per year in lease payments. We may be 
unsuccessful in renegotiating the Sandusky facility lease or we may need to make settlements or take other actions to terminate this lease and 
related obligations. The closure of the Sandusky facility could also result in adverse publicity or labor disruptions, and have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

A failure of or disruptions in our information technology (“IT”) networks and systems, or the inability to successfully implement upgrades to 
our enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) systems, could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

We rely upon IT networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic information, and to manage or support a variety of 
business processes or activities. Additionally, we and certain of our third-party vendors collect and store personal information in connection with 
human resources operations and other aspects of our business. The secure operation of these IT networks and systems and the proper processing 
and maintenance of this information are critical to our business operations. Despite the implementation of security measures, our IT systems are 
at risk to damages from computer viruses, unauthorized access, cyber-attack and other similar disruptions. The occurrence of any of these events 
could compromise our networks, and the information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed or lost. Any such access, disclosure or 
other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability or regulatory penalties under laws protecting the privacy of 
personal information, the disruption of our operations or damage to our reputation. We may also be required to incur significant costs to protect 
against damage caused by these disruptions or security breaches in the future. Any of these issues could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

Further, we plan to expand and update our networks and systems in the normal course and in response to the changing needs of our 
business, which may include a new ERP system to upgrade our operating and financial systems. Should the systems not be implemented 
successfully, or if the systems do not perform in a satisfactory manner once implementation is complete, our business and operations could be 
materially adversely affected.  

We are subject to environmental and safety requirements and risks as a result of which we may incur significant costs, liabilities and 
obligations.  

We are subject to a variety of environmental and safety laws, regulations, initiatives, and permits that govern, among other things: 
activities or operations that may have an adverse environmental effect; soil, surface water and groundwater contamination; the generation, 
storage, handling, use, disposal and transportation of hazardous materials and hazardous waste; the emission and discharge of materials, 
including greenhouse gases into the environment; and health and safety. Failure to comply with these laws, regulations or permits could result in 
fines or sanctions, obligations to investigate or remediate existing or potential contamination, third-party property damage claims, personal 
injury claims, or modification or revocation of operating permits and may lead to temporary or permanent business interruptions. Environmental 
laws, regulations, and permits, and the enforcement thereof, change frequently, and have tended to become increasingly stringent over time, 
which may necessitate substantial capital expenditures or operating costs or may require changes of production processes. Compliance with the 
requirements of laws and regulations affect ongoing operations and may increase capital costs and operating expenses, particularly if the 
applicable laws and regulations become increasingly stringent or more stringently enforced in the future. In addition, we may be required to use 
different materials in our production due to changing environmental restrictions or due to customer specifications. Material substitution may 
cause us to incur additional capital and operating costs.  



We endeavor to conduct our operations according to all legal requirements, but we may not be in complete compliance with such 
laws and regulations at all times. We use, and in the past have used, hazardous materials and we generate, and in the past have generated, 
hazardous wastes. In addition, many of the locations that we own or operate used hazardous materials either before or after we began operating 
at those locations. We may be subject to claims under international, federal and state statutes, and/or common law doctrines for personal injury, 
property damages, natural resource damages and other damages, as well as the investigation and clean up of soil, surface water, groundwater, 
and other media. Such claims may arise out of current or former activities at sites that we own or operate currently, as well as at sites that we 
owned or operated in the past, and at contaminated sites that have always been owned or operated by third parties. Our liability for such claims 
may be joint and several, so that we may be held responsible for more than our share of the remediation costs or other damages, or even for the 
entire cost without being entitled to claim compensation from third parties. We have from time to time been subject to claims arising out of 
contamination at our own and other facilities and may incur such liabilities in the future. Our costs, liabilities, and obligations relating to 
environmental matters may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  
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We are subject to governmental regulations that are already extensive and are growing, which will increase our costs.  

We and the automotive industry as a whole are subject to a variety of federal, state, local, and international laws and regulations, 
including those relating to the reporting of certain claims, and those affecting taxes and levies, healthcare costs, and safety and international trade 
and immigration, among other things, all of which may have a direct or indirect effect on our business. In addition, compliance with complex 
U.S. and international laws and regulations that apply to our international operations increases our cost of doing business and in some cases 
restricts our ability to conduct business. These regulations are numerous and sometimes conflicting, and include import and export laws, 
sanctioned country restrictions, competition (or antitrust) laws, anti-corruption laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the 
“FCPA”) and the U.K. Bribery Act, data privacy requirements, tax laws, and accounting requirements. Violations of these laws and regulations 
could result in civil and criminal fines, penalties and sanctions against us, our officers or our employees, as well as prohibitions on the conduct 
of our business and on our ability to offer our products in one or more countries, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations.  

We could be adversely impacted by climate change and related energy legislation and regulation.  

Foreign, federal, state and local regulatory and legislative bodies have proposed various legislative and regulatory measures relating 
to climate change, regulating greenhouse gas emissions and energy policies. Due to the uncertainty in the regulatory and legislative processes, as 
well as the scope of such requirements and initiatives, we cannot currently determine the effect such legislation and regulation may have on our 
operations or on the production of, or demand for, vehicles. Additionally, our OEM customers are subject to significant environmentally focused 
state, federal, international and foreign laws and regulations that regulate vehicle emissions, fuel economy and other matters related to the 
environmental impact of vehicles. To the extent that such laws and regulations ultimately increase or decrease automotive vehicle production, 
such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

In addition, the physical occurrence of severe weather conditions or one or more natural disasters, whether due to climate change or 
naturally occurring, such as tornadoes, hurricanes and earthquakes in any country in which we operate or in which our suppliers or customers are 
located could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Such events could result in:  
   

   

   

   

We may incur material costs related to legal proceedings.  

From time to time we are involved in legal proceedings, claims, or investigations that are incidental to the conduct of our business. 
Some of these proceedings could allege damages against us relating to product warranties, environmental liabilities, regulatory violations, taxes, 
employment matters, intellectual property infringement, or commercial or contractual disputes. Estimated warranty costs related to product 
warranties are accrued once the liability has become both probable and reasonably estimable, and we do not maintain insurance for 
nonconforming products in the United States. We may incur substantial warranty expense related to existing or new products now or in the 
future or expansion in customer warranty programs. We cannot ensure that the costs, charges, and liabilities associated with legal proceedings, 
claims, or investigations will not be material or that those costs, charges, and liabilities will not exceed any related amounts accrued in our 
financial statements or be mitigated in any way by insurance. In future periods, we could be subject to cash costs or non-cash charges to earnings 
if any of these matters is resolved unfavorably to us.  

We are currently, and may in the future become, subject to legal proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes. These claims 
typically arise in the normal course of business and may include commercial or contractual disputes with our customers and suppliers, 
intellectual property matters, personal injury, product liability, environmental, safety, and employment claims. These proceedings and claims 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

  •   physical damage to and complete or partial closure of one or more of our or our customers’  manufacturing facilities; 

  •   temporary or long-term disruption in the supply of raw materials from our suppliers; 

  •   disruptions to our production or ability of our employees to work efficiently; and/or 

  •   disruptions or delays in the transport of our products to our customers or their vehicles to their customers. 



Risks Related to Our Workforce  

Our ability to operate effectively could be impaired if we are unable to recruit and retain key personnel.  

Our success depends, in part, on the efforts of our executive officers and other key senior managers and employees. In addition, our 
continued success depends in part on our ability to recruit, retain, and motivate highly skilled sales, manufacturing, and engineering personnel. 
Competition for skilled employees in our industry is intense, and we may not be able to successfully recruit, train, or retain qualified personnel. 
If we fail to recruit and retain the necessary personnel, our ability to obtain new customers and retain existing customers, develop new products, 
and provide acceptable levels of customer service could suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations.  
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We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our key personnel. However, we cannot ensure that these individuals 
will stay with us. If any of these persons were to leave our company, it could be difficult to replace them, and our operations, ability to manage 
day-to-day aspects of our business and efforts to improve our cost competitiveness may be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Any failure to maintain satisfactory labor relations could subject us to work stoppages.  

Approximately 23% of our employees are members of U.S. industrial trade unions working under the terms of collective bargaining 
agreements, and approximately 16% of our employees are members of international workers councils. There can be no assurance that future 
negotiations with our labor unions will be resolved favorably or that we will not experience a work stoppage or other disruptions. Certain terms 
contained in existing collective bargaining agreements may reduce our flexibility, or result in increased labor costs, to close or repurpose our 
manufacturing facilities. In addition, there can be no assurance that future negotiations will not result in labor cost increases or other terms and 
conditions. Any of these occurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

We face pension and other postretirement benefit obligations.  

Although most of our legacy pension and other postretirement benefit obligations were eliminated through our prior restructuring 
processes, we have limited pension and other postretirement benefit obligations to certain of our associates and retirees. Our ability to satisfy the 
funding requirements associated with our pension and other postretirement benefit obligations to our employees and retirees will depend on our 
cash flow from operations and our ability to access credit and the capital markets. The funding requirements of these benefit plans and the 
related expense reflected in our financial statements are affected by several factors that are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty and 
volatility, including government regulation. For example, the pensions regulator in the United Kingdom has power in certain circumstances to 
issue contribution notices (“CNs”) or financial support directions (“FSDs”) in respect of the underfunded United Kingdom defined benefit 
pension scheme (the “U.K. DB Plan”) which, if issued, could result in additional liabilities. Liabilities imposed under a CN or a FSD may equal 
the difference between the value of the assets of the U.K. DB Plan and the cost of buying out the benefits of participants of the U.K. DB Plan. In 
practice, the risk of a CN being imposed may inhibit our freedom to undertake certain corporate activities without first seeking the agreement of 
the trustees of the U.K. DB Plan. Additional security may need to be provided to the trustees of the U.K. DB Plan before certain corporate 
activities can be undertaken (such as the payment of an unusual dividend) and any additional funding of the U.K. DB Plan may have an adverse 
effect on our financial condition and the results of our operations. We also have unfunded or underfunded pension obligations in the U.S., 
Germany, France, Korea and Spain where similar changes in regulations or governmental actions could cause additional funding requirements.  

Key assumptions used to value our benefit obligations and the cost of providing such benefits, funding requirements and expense 
recognition include the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on pension assets, the health care cost trend rate and assumptions 
underlying actuarial methods. If the actual trends in these factors are less favorable than our assumptions, we may have to contribute cash to fund 
our obligations under these plans, thereby reducing the funds available to fund our operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, and results of operations. As of December 31, 2014, the funded status of our pension plans was an obligation 
totaling $36.9 million.  

Risks Related to the Global Nature of Our Company  

We are subject to risks related to our global operations.  

For the year ended December 31, 2014, 38% of our net sales were derived from sales to customers outside the United States. We 
have manufacturing facilities in Brazil, China, the Czech Republic, France, Germany, Mexico, South Korea, Spain and the United Kingdom, and 
a joint venture in India, all of which accounted for 24% of our net sales for the same period. We also sell our products to customers in countries 
in which we do not have manufacturing facilities, such as Canada, Austria, Sweden, Hungary, and Italy. Our global operations are subject to 
various risks, including:  
   

   

   

   

  •   currency exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations; 

  •   exposure to local economic conditions; 

  •   exposure to local political conditions, including expropriation of our facilities and nationalization by a government; 

  •   compliance with export control provisions in several jurisdictions, including the United States, the European Union and 
China; 
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  •   changes in laws and regulations, including the laws and policies of the United States and other countries affecting trade and 
foreign investment; 

  •   transport availability and costs; 

  •   changes in tax law (including as related to the Combination); 



Table of Contents  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

As we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend in large part on our ability to anticipate and effectively 
manage these and other risks associated with our global operations. However, any of these factors could adversely affect our global operations 
and, consequently, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  
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  •   unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; 

  •   exposure to liabilities under the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar laws; 

  •   government imposed investment and other restrictions or requirements; 

  •   exposure to local social unrest, including any resultant acts of war, terrorism or similar events; 

  •   exposure to local public health issues and the resultant impact on economic and political conditions; 

  •   increased risk of corruption; 

  •   hyperinflation in certain countries; 

  •   increased reliance on local suppliers that have not proven their ability to meet our requirements; 

  •   the risk of government-sponsored competition; 

  •   difficulty enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain legal systems; 

  •   variations in protection of intellectual property and other legal rights; 

  •   more expansive legal rights of labor unions; 

  •   social laws that prohibit or make cost-prohibitive certain restructuring actions; 

  •   adverse weather and natural disasters, such as heavy rains and flooding; 

  •   increases in working capital requirements related to long supply chains or regional terms of business; 

  •   controls on the repatriation of cash, including the imposition or increase of withholding and other taxes on remittances and 
other payments by our subsidiaries; and 

  
•   foreign currency exchange controls, export and import restrictions, such as antidumping duties, tariffs and embargoes, 

including restrictions promulgated by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury, 
and other trade protection regulations. 
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Expanding our global operations and entering new geographic markets pose competitive threats and commercial risks.  

As part of our long-term growth strategy, we seek to further expand our operations globally and enter into new geographic markets. 
Such growth requires investments and resources that may not be available to us as needed. We cannot guarantee that we will be successful in our 
global expansion and, if we sign new contracts, we cannot guarantee that we will meet the needs of these customers and compete favorably in 
these markets. If these customers experience reduced demand for their products or financial difficulties, our future prospects will be negatively 
affected as well, and we may not be able to recover the costs associated with such efforts, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

Foreign exchange rate fluctuations may affect the Company’s ability to realize projected growth rates in sales and earnings.  

As a result of our global operations, we generate a significant portion of our sales and incur a significant portion of our expenses in 
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. To the extent that we have significantly more costs than sales generated in a currency other than the U.S. 
dollar, we are subject to risk if the currency in which our costs are paid appreciates against the currency in which we generate sales because the 
appreciation effectively increases our cost in that country. We may selectively employ derivative instruments to reduce our foreign currency 
exchange risk and generally hold most of our foreign cash in U.S. dollars. This strategy and these instruments may be ineffective or may not 
offset more than a portion of the adverse financial impact resulting from foreign currency variations. Additionally, the financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows of some of our operating entities are reported in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and then translated into U.S. 
dollars at the applicable exchange rate for inclusion in our financial statements. As a result, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against these other 
currencies generally will have a negative impact on our reported sales and profits while depreciation of the U.S. dollar against these other 
currencies will generally have a positive effect on reported sales and profits. Our primary currency exposures are the Euro, Mexican Peso, 
Korean Won and Chinese Renminbi. Any significant decline in the value of these currencies as compared to the U.S. dollar may have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

Risks Related to Being a Public Company, Our Capital Structure and Our Organizational Structure  

Our internal control over financial reporting does not currently meet the standards required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act and we have identified a material weakness, and our failure to remediate the material weakness and achieve and maintain 
effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

As a privately held company, we were not required to document or test our compliance with financial controls on a periodic basis in 
accordance with Section 404. Furthermore, we have not tested our internal controls in accordance with Section 404 and, due to our lack of 
documentation, such a test would not be possible to perform at this time. As a newly-public company, we are required to comply with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which require management to 
certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of 
controls over financial reporting. Although we are required to disclose changes made in our internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis, 
we will not be required to make our first annual assessment of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until the end 
of 2015.  

To comply with the requirements of being a public company, we have undertaken various actions, and may need to take additional 
actions, such as implementing new internal controls and procedures and hiring additional accounting or internal audit staff. Testing and 
maintaining internal control can divert our management’s attention from other matters that are important to the operation of our business. 
Additionally, when evaluating our internal control over financial reporting, we may identify material weaknesses that we may not be able to 
remediate in time to meet the applicable deadline imposed upon us for compliance with the requirements of Section 404. For example, we 
identified a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting in 2014 related to inadequate controls around program change, 
system access, computer operations, and system development for certain IT systems that management relies upon for preparation and review of 
financial information. We are in the process of remediating the material weakness, however we will not be able to conclude that the material 
weakness has been remediated until we complete our annual management assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting proscribed by Section 404. We are in the early stages of addressing our internal control procedures to satisfy the requirements of 
Section 404. In addition, we are incurring additional costs in order to improve our internal control over financial reporting and comply with 
Section 404, including increased auditing and legal fees and costs associated with enhancing and integrating our IT control framework and hiring 
additional accounting and administrative staff.  

If we are not able to remediate our material weakness or implement the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or with 
adequate compliance or if we identify additional material weaknesses in the future, our independent registered public accounting firm may not be 
able to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, if we are unable to remediate our existing or any 
future material weaknesses and maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting, we may be  
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unable to report our financial information on a timely basis, may suffer adverse regulatory consequences or violations of applicable stock 
exchange listing rules, and may breach the covenants under our credit facilities. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets 
due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements and we could become subject to investigations by the 
stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the Securities and Exchange Commission or other regulatory authorities, which could require 
additional financial and management resources.  

We have incurred, and will continue to incur, increased costs and obligations as a result of being a public company.  

As a publicly traded company, we are incurring significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we were not required to incur 
in the recent past. We are required to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission annual and quarterly information and other reports and 
maintain the ability to prepare financial statements that are fully compliant with all Securities and Exchange Commission reporting requirements 
on a timely basis. We are also subject to other reporting and corporate governance requirements, including the requirements of the New York 
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), and certain provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, which will impose 
significant compliance obligations upon us. These additional costs and obligations relate to:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

These changes require a significant commitment of additional resources and many of our competitors already comply with these 
obligations. We may not be successful in implementing these procedures, and the significant commitment of resources required for 
implementing them could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, if we fail to implement the 
requirements with respect to our internal accounting and audit functions, our ability to report our results of operations on a timely and accurate 
basis could be impaired, and we could suffer adverse regulatory consequences or violate NYSE listing standards. There could also be a negative 
reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements.  

The changes necessitated by becoming a public company require a significant commitment of resources and management oversight 
that has increased and may continue to increase our costs and might place a strain on our systems and resources. As a result, our management’s 
attention might be diverted from other business concerns.  

If we are unable to offset these costs through other savings, then it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.  

The price of our common stock may be volatile.  

Securities markets worldwide have experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, significant price and volume fluctuations. 
This market volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions could reduce the market price of our common stock regardless 
of our results of operations. The trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide price fluctuations 
in response to various factors, including, among other things, the risk factors described herein, and other factors beyond our control. Factors 
affecting the trading price of our common stock could include:  
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  •   the preparation and distribution periodic public reports and other stockholder communications in compliance with our 
obligations under the federal securities laws and applicable NYSE rules; 

  •   creation or expansion of the roles and duties of our board of directors and committees of the board; 

  •   instituting more comprehensive financial reporting and disclosure compliance functions; 

  •   supplementing our internal accounting, internal controls, auditing and reporting function, including hiring additional staff 
with expertise in accounting and financial reporting for a public company; 

  •   enhancing and formalizing closing procedures at the end of our accounting periods; 

  •   enhancing our internal audit and tax functions; 

  •   enhancing our investor relations function; 

  •   establishing new internal policies, including those relating to disclosure controls and procedures; and 

  •   involving and retaining to a greater degree outside counsel, accountants and other consultants in the activities listed above. 

  •   market conditions in the broader stock market; 

  •   actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly financial and operating results; 

  •   variations in operating results of similar companies; 

  •   introduction of new services by us, our competitors or our customers; 

  •   issuance of new, negative or changed securities analysts’  reports, recommendations or estimates; 
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These and other factors may cause the market price and demand for shares of our common stock to fluctuate substantially, which 
may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our 
common stock. In addition, in the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have sometimes instituted 
securities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. Securities litigation against us, regardless of the merits or outcome, 
could result in substantial costs and divert the time and attention of our management from our business, which could significantly harm our 
business, profitability and reputation.  

Future sales of our common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for common stock could depress the market price of our 
common stock.  

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely 
affect the market price of our common stock. Shares held by our directors, executive officers and American Securities are eligible to be sold in 
the public market after June 9, 2015 when the lock-up period from the IPO expires, subject to the requirements of Rule 144. American Securities 
also has demand registration rights which it could exercise after the expiration of the lock-up period. In addition, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, 
Fenner & Smith Incorporated, on behalf of the underwriters of the IPO, may, in its sole discretion and without notice, release all or any portion 
of the shares subject to lock-up agreements prior to expiration of the lock-up period. Subject to the terms of the lock-up agreements, we also may 
issue our shares of common stock or securities convertible into our common stock from time to time in connection with a financing, acquisition, 
investment, or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders. Due to these factors, sales of a 
substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that 
the holders of a large number of shares intend to or could sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. Any decline in the 
price of shares of our common stock could impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or 
other equity securities.  

We have elected to take advantage of the “controlled company” exemption to the corporate governance rules for publicly-listed companies, 
which could make our common stock less attractive to some investors or otherwise harm our stock price.  

Because we qualify as a “controlled company” under the corporate governance rules for publicly-listed companies, the majority of 
our directors are not independent, and our compensation committee and nominating and corporate governance committee are not comprised 
entirely of independent directors. Accordingly, should the interests of American Securities, as our controlling stockholder, differ from those of 
other stockholders, the other stockholders may not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the 
corporate governance rules for publicly-listed companies. Our status as a controlled company could make our common stock less attractive to 
some investors or otherwise harm our stock price.  

American Securities independently has substantial control over us and will be able to influence corporate matters with respect to us. 
American Securities may have interests that differ from our interests and from those of our other stockholders.  

American Securities directly or indirectly holds approximately 78.5% of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a 
result, American Securities will be able to strongly influence the election of our directors and potentially control the outcome of any corporate 
transaction or other matter submitted to our stockholders for approval, including potential mergers or acquisitions, asset sales, and other 
significant corporate transactions.  

The interests of American Securities may not coincide with the Company’s or the best interests of other holders of our common 
stock. This concentration of voting power could also have the effect of delaying, deterring, or preventing a change of control or other business 
combination that might otherwise be beneficial to the stockholders of our common stock.  

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our operations, limit our ability to react to 
changes in the economy or our industry, expose us to interest rate risk to the extent of our variable rate debt and prevent us from meeting our 
debt obligations.  

As of December 31, 2014, we had total indebtedness of $1,961.8 million, including $1,340.0 million in aggregate principal amount 
of indebtedness under the Term Loan Facility and $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes, and an  
   

  •   investor perceptions of us and the industries in which we or our customers operate; 

  •   sales, or anticipated sales, of our stock, including sales by existing stockholders; 

  •   additions or departures of key personnel; 

  •   regulatory or political developments; 

  •   stock-based compensation expense under applicable accounting standards; 

  •   litigation and governmental investigations; and 

  •   changing economic conditions. 
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additional $234.4 million of borrowing capacity available under the Revolving Credit Facility after giving effect to $15.6 million of outstanding 
letters of credit. This high level of indebtedness could have significant negative consequences, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The occurrence of any one or more of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations. If we add new debt to our outstanding debt levels, the risks related to our indebtedness would increase.  

We, our customers, or our suppliers may be unable to obtain and maintain sufficient debt financing, including working capital lines.  

Interest rate fluctuations, financial market volatility and global credit market disruptions have made, and may continue to make, it 
difficult for companies to raise and maintain necessary operating liquidity. While we believe we have sufficient liquidity to operate, there can be 
no assurance that we will continue to have such ability. Our working capital requirements can vary significantly depending, in part, on the level, 
variability and timing of the worldwide vehicle production of our OEM customers and the payment terms with our customers and suppliers. Our 
liquidity could be adversely impacted if circumstances arose causing our suppliers to suspend trade credit terms and require payment in advance 
or payment upon delivery. In addition, we may be required to raise capital from other sources, which may not be available to us on satisfactory 
terms and in adequate amounts, if at all.  

Many of our customers and suppliers require significant financing to operate their businesses. Longer-term disruptions in the credit 
markets could further adversely affect our customers by making it increasingly difficult for them to obtain financing for their businesses and for 
their customers to obtain financing for vehicle purchases. If capital is not available to our customers and suppliers, or if its cost is prohibitively 
high, their businesses would be negatively impacted, which could result in their restructuring or even reorganization or liquidation under 
applicable bankruptcy laws. As a result, the need of our customers for, and their ability to purchase, our products may decrease, and our 
suppliers may increase their prices, reduce their output or change their terms of sale. Any inability of our customers to pay us for our products 
and services, or any demands by suppliers for different payment terms, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. Furthermore, our suppliers may not be successful in generating sufficient sales or securing alternate financing 
arrangements and therefore may no longer be able to supply goods and services to us. In that event, we would need to find alternate sources of 
these goods and services, and there is no assurance that we would be able to find such alternate sources on favorable terms, if at all. Any such 
disruption in our supply chain could adversely affect our ability to manufacture and deliver our products on a timely basis, which in turn could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

We cannot assure you that we will pay dividends on our common stock, and our indebtedness could limit our ability to pay dividends on our 
common stock.  

Our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock is subject to our compliance with applicable law, and depends on, among 
other things, our results of operations, financial condition, level of indebtedness, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, restrictions in our 
debt agreements, business prospects and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Our ability to pay dividends depends on our 
receipt of cash dividends from our operating subsidiaries, which may further restrict our ability to pay dividends as a result of the laws of their 
jurisdiction of organization or agreements of our subsidiaries, including agreements governing the Senior Credit Facilities and the Senior Notes. 
Future agreements may also limit our ability to pay dividends. There can be no assurance that we will pay a dividend in the future or continue to 
pay any dividend if we do commence paying dividends.  
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  •   increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic, industry or competitive developments; 

  
•   requiring a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our 

indebtedness, therefore reducing funds available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, selling and marketing 
efforts, product development, future business opportunities and the ability to pay any future dividends; 

  
•   exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates because certain of our borrowings, including and most significantly 

borrowings under the Senior Credit Facilities, are at variable rates of interest; 

  
•   making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, and any failure to comply with the 

obligations of any of our debt instruments, including restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions, could result in an event 
of default under the agreements governing such indebtedness; 

  •   limiting our ability to borrow additional funds, or to dispose of assets to raise funds, if needed, for working capital, capital 
expenditures, acquisitions, product development and other corporate purposes; 

  •   restricting us from making strategic acquisitions or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures; and 

  
•   limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or market conditions and placing us at a 

competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who are less highly leveraged and who, therefore, may be able to take 
advantage of opportunities that our leverage prevents us from exploiting. 
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Some provisions of Delaware law and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may deter 
third parties from acquiring us and diminish the value of our common stock.  

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide for, among other things:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

These provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage, delay, 
or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company that is in the best interest of our minority stockholders. Even in the 
absence of a takeover attempt, the existence of these provisions may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock if they are 
viewed as discouraging future takeover attempts. These provisions could also make it more difficult for stockholders to nominate directors for 
election to our board of directors and take other corporate actions.  

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to certain exceptions, the Court of Chancery of the State of 
Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain 
a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.  

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to limited exceptions, the Court of Chancery of the State 
of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a 
claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or any wrongdoing by, any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, 
(iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of 
incorporation (including as it may be amended from time to time) or our bylaws, (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the 
validity of our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws, or (v) any other action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal 
affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice 
of and to have consented to the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation described above. This choice of forum 
provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers 
or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find these provisions of our 
amended and restated certificate of incorporation inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or 
proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We are exposed to a number of different tax uncertainties, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.  

We are required to pay taxes in multiple jurisdictions. We determine the tax liability we are required to pay based on our 
interpretation of applicable tax laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we file. We may be subject to unfavorable changes, including 
retroactive changes, in the tax laws and regulations to which we are subject. We are subject to tax audits by governmental authorities in the 
United States and numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions, which are inherently uncertain. Changes in tax laws or regulations or the interpretation given 
to them may expose us to negative tax consequences, including interest payments and potential penalties, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

The mix of profits and losses in the various jurisdictions in which we conduct our business may adversely impact our overall tax rate.  

Our overall effective tax rate is equal to our total tax expense as a percentage of our income or loss before tax. However, tax 
expenses and benefits are determined separately for each of our taxpaying entities or groups of entities that are combined for tax purposes in 
each jurisdiction. Losses in such jurisdictions may provide no current financial statement tax benefit. As a result, changes in the mix of projected 
profits and losses among jurisdictions could have a significant impact on our overall effective tax rate, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  
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  •   restrictions on the ability of our stockholders to call a special meeting and the business that can be conducted at such meeting; 

  •   prohibition on the ability of our stockholders to remove directors elected by the holders of our common stock without cause; 

  
•   our ability to issue additional shares of common stock and to issue preferred stock with terms that the board of directors may 

determine, in each case without stockholder approval (other than as specified in our amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation); 

  •   the absence of cumulative voting in the election of directors; 

  •   supermajority approval requirements for amending or repealing provisions in the amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation; 

  •   a classified board of directors; 

  •   a prohibition on action by written consent of stockholders following the date when American Securities ceases to beneficially 
own a majority or more of our outstanding shares of common stock; and 

  •   advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations. 



Table of Contents  

The Combination and the related integration could divert management’s attention from our operations and executing our strategy and be 
disruptive to our operations. We may not be successful in integrating the administrative operations of these companies.  

The process of integrating the administrative operations of HHI, Metaldyne, and Grede may continue to require a disproportionate 
amount of resources and management attention. Our management team may encounter unforeseen difficulties in managing the integration of 
these businesses. To successfully combine and operate these businesses, our management team will need to continue to focus on realizing 
anticipated benefits on a timely basis while maintaining customer relationships and the efficiency of our operations. Any substantial diversion of 
management attention or difficulties in operating the combined business could adversely affect our sales and ability to achieve operational, 
financial and strategic objectives, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

The integration process is complex and the difficulties of combining the operations of these companies include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Any of the above difficulties could adversely affect our ability to successfully integrate the businesses and maintain relationships 
with customers, suppliers, and employees. If we are not successful in completing the integration of the businesses, if the integration takes longer 
or is more complex or expensive than anticipated, or if we cannot operate the combined businesses as effectively as we anticipate, it could harm 
our operating performance, margins, sales and reputation and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations.  

We may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the Combination.  

As a result of the Combination, we expect to leverage certain cross-selling opportunities, professional service fees, and purchasing 
volume while gaining operational synergies across our global platform. In connection with pursuing these benefits, we may incur costs that are 
in excess of the realized savings and those costs may be borne in advance of achieving any incremental savings. A variety of factors could cause 
us not to achieve the benefits we anticipate, or could have an adverse effect on our business. We could also experience higher than historical 
turnover or be required to incur employee retention costs. Additional factors include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

As a result, we may not achieve our expected benefits in the time anticipated, or at all. If we are unable to achieve such benefits, or if 
our costs are in excess of the realized savings, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations.  

   

None.  
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  •   managing a significantly larger and more global company; 

  •   creating uniform standards, controls, procedures, policies and information systems and minimizing the costs associated with 
such matters; 

  •   integrating information, purchasing, accounting, finance, sales, billing, payroll and regulatory compliance systems; 

  •   retaining customers and key suppliers; 

  •   retaining key employees; 

  •   integrating personnel from different companies while maintaining focus on providing consistent, high-quality products and 
customer service; 

  •   unanticipated changes in applicable laws and regulations; and 

  •   unforeseen issues, liabilities, expenses or delays associated with the integration. 

  •   higher than expected or unanticipated costs to implement the Combination and to operate the business; 

  •   inadequate resources to implement the Combination and to operate the business; 

  •   our inability to effectively capture global platforms; 

  •   our inability to cross-sell our products and technologies into different markets; 

  •   our inability to leverage geographic footprint and distribution channels; and 

  •   our inability to leverage corporate or administrative expenses. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
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We are headquartered in Plymouth, Michigan in a 38,000 square foot facility. This facility is utilized for management offices as well 
as certain customer service, engineering, human resources, information technology, finance, and treasury functions. Our manufacturing is 
conducted in 56 production facilities strategically located close to our customers’ operations in 11 countries throughout North and South 
America, Europe, and Asia. Our 61 worldwide locations also support sales, engineering, administrative, and distribution functions. 
Approximately 38 of our facilities are leased or subject to land leases. We believe that our facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current 
and reasonably anticipated needs.  

The table below highlights our locations across the world.  
   

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

Region     Segment     Location     Primary Process Description  

North America     Grede    Bessemer, AL    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Bessemer, AL    Foam Pattern Molding 
   Grede    Brewton, AL    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Columbiana, AL    Iron Casting 
   Grede    New Castle, IN    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Kingsford, MI    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Southfield, MI    Administrative / Finance 
   Grede    St. Cloud, MN    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Biscoe, NC    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Biscoe, NC    Machining 
   Grede    Berlin, WI    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Browntown, WI    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Menomonee Falls, WI    Machining 
   Grede    Oconomowoc, WI    Machining 
   Grede    Reedsburg, WI    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Wauwatosa, WI    Iron Casting 
   Grede    Apodaca, Mexico    Iron Casting 
   Grede    El Carmen, Mexico    Iron Casting 
   HHI    Fort Smith, AR    Assembly & Distribution 
   HHI    Paris, AR    Machining & Assembly 
   HHI    Subiaco, AR    Powder Metal & Machining 
   HHI    Bolingbrook, IL    Machining & Assembly 
   HHI    Chicago, IL    Forging 
   HHI    Chicago, IL    Forging 
   HHI    Naperville, IL    Assembly 
   HHI    Columbus, IN    Forging 
   HHI    Columbus, IN    Forging 
   HHI    Remington, IN    Forging 
   HHI    Coldwater, MI    Forging 
   HHI    Fraser, MI    Forging & Machining 
   HHI    Royal Oak, MI    Forging 
   HHI    Troy, MI    Forging 
   HHI    Sandusky, OH    Machining & Assembly 
   HHI    Aguascalientes, Mexico    Warehouse 
   Metaldyne    Bluffton, IN    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Fremont, IN    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    North Vernon, IN    Powder Metal & Machining 
   Metaldyne    Litchfield, MI    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Plymouth, MI    Headquarters, Sales / Engineering 
   Metaldyne    Warren, MI    Tooling 
   Metaldyne    Twinsburg, OH    Aluminum Die Casting 
   Metaldyne    Ridgeway, PA    Powder Metal & Machining 
   Metaldyne    St. Marys, PA    Powder Metal & Machining 
   Metaldyne    Ramos Arizpe, Mexico    Powder Metal & Machining 

South America     Metaldyne    Indaiatuba, Brazil    Powder Metal & Machining 

Europe     Metaldyne    Oslavany, Czech Republic    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Zbysov, Czech Republic    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Halifax, England    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Decines, France (Lyon #2)    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Lyon, France    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Dieburg, Germany    Sales / Engineering 
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   Metaldyne    Nurnberg, Germany    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Zell, Germany    Forging & Machining 
   Metaldyne    Kopstal, Luxembourg    Administrative / Finance 
   Metaldyne    Barcelona, Spain    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Valencia, Spain    Powder Metal 

Asia     HHI    Huzhou City, China (JV)    Forging 
   Metaldyne    Suzhou, China    Powder Metal, Aluminum Die Casting, Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Jamshedpur, India (JV)    Machining & Assembly 
   Metaldyne    Yokohama, Japan    Sales / Engineering 
   Metaldyne    Pyeongtaek, South Korea    Machining & Assembly 
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From time to time we are subject to various legal actions and claims incidental to our business, including those arising out of breach 
of contracts, product warranties, regulatory matters, intellectual property, and employment-related matters. It is our opinion that the outcome of 
such matters will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, the 
final amounts required to resolve these matters could differ materially from our recorded estimates. See Note 20 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  

   

Not applicable.  

PART II  
   

Market for Common Equity  

The Company’s common stock began trading on the NYSE under the symbol MPG on December 12, 2014. For the period from 
December 12, 2014 to December 31, 2014, the high and low stock prices of our common stock, as reported by the NYSE, were $17.59 and 
$14.57, respectively.  

As of March 12, 2015, there were 63 holders of record of our common stock.  

Dividends  

The following sets forth information regarding all dividends declared or paid by us since our formation on June 9, 2014:  

On March 10, 2015, our board of directors declared a dividend of 9 cents per share. The dividend is payable on May 26, 2015 to 
stockholders of record as of May 12, 2015.  

Our ability to pay dividends is restricted under our indenture agreements. The indenture agreements restrict the payment of dividends 
except (i) to pay reasonable estimated amount of taxes as long as not prohibited by applicable laws, (ii) to pay legal, accounting, and reporting 
expenses, (iii) to pay general and administrative costs and expenses, and reasonable directors fees, and expenses, (iv) to repurchase stock owned 
by employees, (v) for management or similar fees, (vi) to pay franchise or similar taxes to maintain corporate existence and (vii) to pay 
dividends up to $30.0 million or 6% of the net cash proceeds from an underwritten public offering of our common stock. For additional 
information regarding the indenture agreements, see Note 11 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

None.  
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans  
   

Performance Graph  

The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the S&P Mid Cap 400 Index, Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. and a peer group of companies for the period from December 12, 2014 to December 31, 2014, assuming a fixed investment of $100 
made at the respective closing prices on December 12, 2014 and the reinvestment of cash dividends.  
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     As of December 31, 2014   

     

Number of  
securities to be  

issued upon exercise 
 

of outstanding  
options, warrants  

and rights      

Weighted-average 
 

exercise price of  
outstanding  

options, warrants 
and rights     

Number of  
securities remaining 

 
available for future  

issuance under  
equity compensation 

 
plans   

     (In millions)            (In millions)   
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders       —          —         —     
Equity compensation plans not approved by 

stockholders (1)       7.3       $ 10.54 (2)      3.5    
  
(1) Represents awards issued under plans authorized by our board of directors prior to the IPO. 
(2) Weighted-average exercise price for 6.4 million options outstanding; excludes restricted share awards. 

     December 12, 2014      December 31, 2014   
MPG     $ 100.00       $ 114.89    
S&P MID CAP 400 Index       100.00         103.57    
Peer Group (1)       100.00         105.54    

  
(1) The peer group consisted of BorgWarner Inc., Delphi Automotive PLC, American Axle and Manufacturing Holdings Inc., Linamar Corp, 

Dana Holding Corporation, and Magna International. 
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RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES  

The following sets forth information regarding all unregistered securities sold by us since our formation on June 9, 2014:  

In connection with our formation, the Registrant issued 1,000 shares (the “Initial Subscription”) in return for an initial capital 
contribution of $1,000 to affiliates of American Securities LLC. In connection with the reorganization of ASP HHI Holdings, Inc., ASP MD 
Holdings, Inc. and ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC on August 4, 2014 (the “Combination”), the Registrant issued certain additional 
shares in respect of such Initial Subscription in order to properly reflect the ownership of the Company following the Combination.  

In connection with the Combination, on August 4, 2014, existing shares of ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. and ASP MD Holdings, Inc. and 
member interests of ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC were converted into shares of the Registrant’s common stock, and the Registrant 
issued 13,414,652 shares of common stock to such stockholders or members, as applicable. Further, in connection with the Combination, the 
outstanding stock-based compensation awards were converted into options to purchase 978,007 shares of the Registrant’s common stock. In each 
case, the issuance of these securities was deemed to be exempt from registration in reliance on Rule 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. In connection 
with the Combination, on August 4, 2014, the Registrant entered into award agreements with certain of its officers and employees pursuant to 
which it granted shares of its common stock having an aggregate value of $8,250,000 following the consummation of the Company’s initial 
public offering and options to purchase 310,451 shares of its common stock. No consideration was received in connection with these share and 
option grants. The issuance of these securities was deemed to be exempt from registration in reliance on Rule 701(a) of the Securities Act.  

On November 18, 2014, the Registrant effected a stock-split pursuant to which the 13,415,017 shares of outstanding common stock 
were reclassified into an aggregate of 67,075,085 shares of common stock. The issuance did not constitute a “sale” under the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933.  
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The following table sets forth our selected historical financial data for the periods and as of the dates indicated. The consolidated 
statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012 and the 
consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements that are 
included “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemental Data.” The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012 is derived from 
our audited consolidated financial statements that are not present elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statements of operations data 
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2011, and 2010 is derived from 
the audited consolidated financial statements of HHI that are not present elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The financial data reflects the accounts of 
HHI for all periods, Metaldyne from December 18, 2012 forward and Grede from June 2, 2014 forward.  

Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of future operating results. You should read the information set forth below in 
conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and included “Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplemental Data.”  
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

    Successor          Predecessor   

    

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2014     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013     

Successor  
Period  
2012          

Predecessor  
Period  
2012     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2011     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2010   

    (In millions, except per share data)   
Statement of Operations Data:                  
Net sales    $ 2,717.0      $ 2,017.3      $ 205.3         $ 680.5      $ 787.3      $ 750.8    
Cost of sales      2,294.1        1,708.7        199.5           559.0        643.4        612.4    

        
  

        
  

        
  

            
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit    422.9      308.6      5.8       121.5      143.9      138.4    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    194.6      123.2      14.4       116.6      34.7      35.1    
Acquisition costs    13.0      —       25.9       13.4      —       —     
Goodwill impairment    11.8      —       —         —       —       —     

                                                                

Operating profit (loss)    203.5      185.4      (34.5 )     (8.5 )    109.2      103.3    
Interest expense, net    99.9      74.7      11.1       25.8      31.6      25.8    
Loss on debt extinguishment    60.7      —       —         —       —       —     
Other, net    (11.3 )    17.8      1.5       2.4      6.3      2.2    

                                                                

Other expense. net    149.3      92.5      12.6       28.2      37.9      28.0    
                                                                

Income (loss) before tax    54.2      92.9      (47.1 )     (36.7 )    71.3      75.3    
Income tax expense (benefit)    (19.1 )    35.0      (15.2 )     (11.1 )    24.6      28.2    

                                                                

Net income (loss)    73.3      57.9      (31.9 )     (25.6 )    46.7      47.1    
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    0.4      0.3      —         0.2      0.1      0.7    

                                                                

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders $ 72.9    $ 57.6    $ (31.9 )   $ (25.8 )  $ 46.6    $ 46.4    
        

  

        

  

        

  

            

  

        

  

        

  

Net income (loss) per share attributable to 
stockholders    

Basic  $ 1.09    $ 0.86    $ (0.48 )   $ (1.46 )  $ 2.64    $ 2.67    
Diluted    1.06      0.86      (0.48 )     (1.46 )    2.64      2.64    

Basic weighted average shares outstanding    67.1      67.1      67.1       17.7      17.7      17.4    
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    68.5      67.1      67.1       17.7      17.7      17.6    

  

Statement of Cash Flows Data:    
Cash flows from operating activities  $ 305.4    $ 234.3    $ (1.8 )   $ 64.7    $ 50.9    $ 52.3    
Cash flows from investing activities    (984.9 )    (116.7 )    (1,515.0 )     (31.3 )    (22.7 )    (16.6 )  
Cash flows from financing activities    776.7      (91.1 )    1,557.1       (27.3 )    (24.3 )    (60.5 )  
Effect of exchange rates on cash    (8.9 )    1.4      —         0.3      (0.5 )    0.2    

                                                                

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  $ 88.3    $ 27.9    $ 40.3     $ 6.4    $ 3.4    $ (24.6 )  

        

  

        

  

        

  

            

  

        

  

        

  

Balance Sheet Data    
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 156.5    $ 68.2    $ 40.3        Not applicable    $ 4.2    $ 0.8    
Property and equipment, net    750.2      539.5      546.2        Not applicable      130.0      128.3    
Total assets    3,224.6      2,216.8      2,250.2        Not applicable      361.5      332.4    
Long-term debt, including capital lease obligations   1,960.2      1,259.7      1,075.7        Not applicable      331.4      251.6    
Total debt    1,961.8      1,280.0      1,083.0        Not applicable      331.4      251.6    
Total liabilities    2,699.7      1,891.6      1,729.7        Not applicable      453.2      371.6    
Total stockholders’  equity (deficit)    524.9      325.2      520.5        Not applicable      (91.7 )    (39.2 )  
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

The following discussion and analysis of our historical combined financial statements covers periods before the Combination. 
Accordingly, the discussion and analysis of such periods does not reflect the significant impact the Combination will have on our results of 
operations. As a result, our historical results of operations and our pro forma results of operations may not be indicative of our future results of 
operations. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” and “—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” In addition, the statements in the discussion and analysis 
regarding industry outlook, our expectations regarding the performance of our business, our liquidity and capital resources and the other non-
historical statements in the discussion and analysis are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous 
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking 
Statements.” Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in or implied by the forward-looking statements. You should read the 
following discussion together with the sections entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” and “Item 6. Selected Historical Financial Data” and the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” .  

Overview  

We are a leading provider of highly-engineered components for use in Powertrain and Safety-Critical Platforms for the global light, 
commercial and industrial vehicle markets. We produce these components using complex metal-forming manufacturing technologies and 
processes for a global customer base of vehicle OEMs and Tier I suppliers. We are headquartered in Plymouth, Michigan, and our manufacturing 
is conducted in 56 production facilities located throughout North and South America, Europe and Asia.  

Our History, the Combination and the IPO  

Our business represents the reorganization of the businesses of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede.  

HHI manufactures highly-engineered components for the North American light vehicle market. These components include 
transmission components, driveline components, wheel hubs, axle ring and pinion gears, sprockets, balance shaft gears, timing drive systems, 
variable valve timing (“VVT”) components, transfer case components and wheel bearings. HHI was formed in 2005, completed the strategic 
acquisitions of Impact Forge Group, LLC and Cloyes Gear and Products, Inc. and, following a §363 U.S. Bankruptcy Court supervised sale 
process, acquired certain assets and assumed specified liabilities from FormTech LLC, Jernberg Holdings, LLC and Delphi Automotive PLC’s 
wheel bearing operations. HHI was acquired by American Securities and certain members of HHI management on October 5, 2012 (the “HHI 
Transaction”). The purchase price for the HHI Transaction, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired, was $722.2 million. The purchase price 
was funded by cash from capital contributions of $254.7 million and $505.0 million in term loan debt.  

Metaldyne manufactures highly-engineered Powertrain components for the global light vehicle markets. These components include 
connecting rods, VVT components, balance shaft systems, and engine crankshaft dampers, net formed differential gears and pinions and 
assemblies, differential assemblies, valve bodies, hollow and solid shafts, clutch modules and assembled end covers. Metaldyne was formed in 
2009 as a new entity to acquire certain assets and assume specified liabilities from Oldco M Corporation following a §363 U.S. bankruptcy court 
supervised sale process. Oldco M Corporation was previously formed in 2000 when MascoTech, Inc., a then-publicly traded company, was 
taken private and acquired Simpson Industries, Inc., another then-public company. Metaldyne was acquired by American Securities and certain 
members of Metaldyne management on December 18, 2012 (the “Metaldyne Transaction”). The purchase price for the Metaldyne Transaction, 
including contingent consideration, was $796.6 million, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired. The Metaldyne Transaction was financed 
through a $620.0 million senior secured credit facility, which included a $75.0 million revolving credit facility (of which $6.0 million was 
outstanding at December 18, 2012), by cash from capital contributions of $295.0 million and $175.0 million of Metaldyne’s existing cash at 
December 18, 2012.  

Grede manufactures highly-engineered components for the light, commercial and industrial vehicle and industrial (agriculture, 
construction, mining, rail, wind energy and oil field) vehicle and equipment end-markets. These components include turbocharger housings, 
differential carriers and cases, scrolls and covers, brake calipers and housings, knuckles, control arms, and axle components. Grede was formed 
in 2010 through a combination of the assets of the former Grede Foundries, Inc. and Citation Corporation, following a §363 U.S. bankruptcy 
court supervised sale process. Subsequently, Grede acquired Foseco-Morval Inc., GTL Precision Patterns Inc., Paxton-Mitchell Corporation, 
Virginia Castings Industries LLC, Teknik S.A. de C.V. and Novocast S.A. de C.V. and established global alliances, including with Georg 
Fischer Automotive AG (Europe / China). Grede was acquired by American Securities and certain members of Grede management on June 2, 
2014 (the “Grede Transaction”). The purchase price for the Grede Transaction was $829.7 million, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired. 
The purchase price was funded by $258.6 million in cash from capital contributions, $600.0 million in borrowings under Grede’s term loan 
credit facility and $75.0 million in borrowings under Grede’s revolving credit facility (of which $1.0 million was outstanding at June 2, 2014).  
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In this discussion and analysis, we refer to the HHI Transaction, the Metaldyne Transaction and the Grede Transaction as the 
“Transactions.”  

The Combination  

HHI, Metaldyne and Grede were reorganized on August 4, 2014 through the mergers of three separate wholly owned merger 
subsidiaries of MPG. As a result, HHI, Metaldyne and Grede became wholly owned subsidiaries of MPG. These transactions are referred to as 
the Combination. The Combination has been accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control in a manner similar to a pooling 
of interests, that is, the bases of accounting of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede were carried over to MPG. See Note 2 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  

The Refinancing  

On October 20, 2014, MPG Holdco, our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into senior credit facilities in the aggregate amount of 
$1,600.0 million (the “Senior Credit Facilities”). The Senior Credit Facilities provide for (i) the seven-year $1,350.0 million Term Loan Facility 
and (ii) the five-year $250.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Senior Credit Facilities rank guaranteed by 
MPG and substantially all of our existing and future domestic restricted subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of our and the 
guarantors’ assets on a first lien basis, subject, in each case, to certain limitations. On October 20, 2014, MPG Holdco also entered into an 
indenture pursuant to which it issued $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 7.375% senior notes due 2022 (the “Senior Notes”). The 
Senior Notes are pari passu in right of payment with the Senior Credit Facilities, but are effectively subordinated to the Senior Credit Facilities to 
the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. For further information on the Senior Credit Facilities, see “—Liquidity and 
Capital Resources.”  

The net proceeds of the Senior Notes and the borrowings under the Senior Credit Facilities, together with cash on hand, were used to 
prepay all amounts outstanding under each of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede’s existing senior secured credit facilities as described below:  
   

   

   

Collectively, we refer to the refinancing transactions described above and the payment of fees and expenses related to the foregoing 
as the “Refinancing.”  

The IPO  

On December 12, 2014, a portion of the Company’s common stock was offered for sale by affiliates of American Securities. Upon 
completion of the IPO and the underwriters’ exercise of an option to purchase additional shares, American Securities owns 78.5% of our 
outstanding common stock. As a result, American Securities is able to exert significant voting influence over fundamental and significant 
corporate matters and transactions. “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Being a Public Company, Our Capital Structure and Our 
Organizational Structure.”  

Basis of Presentation  

As a result of the Transactions and the Combination, our results of operations include:  
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  •   the HHI Credit Facilities consisting of (i) the HHI Term Loans in an original aggregate principal amount of $735.0 million 
and (ii) the $75.0 million HHI Revolver; 

  
•   the Metaldyne Credit Facilities consisting of (i) the U.S. dollar Metaldyne Term Loans in an original aggregate principal 

amount of $537.0 million, (ii) the Euro denominated Metaldyne Term Loans in an original aggregate principal amount of 
€100.0 million and (iii) the $75.0 million Metaldyne Revolver; and 

  •   the Grede Credit Facilities consisting of (i) Grede Term Loans in an original aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million 
and (ii) the $75.0 million Grede Revolver. 

  •   the results of HHI for all periods presented in this discussion and analysis; 

  •   the results of Metaldyne for the periods from December 18, 2012 through December 31, 2012, the years ended December 31, 
2013 and December 31, 2014; and 

  •   the results of Grede from June 2, 2014 through December 31, 2014. 
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Accordingly, in the following discussion and analysis:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

We operate on a 13 week fiscal quarter which ends on the Sunday nearest to March 31, June 30 or September 30, as applicable. Our 
fiscal year ends on December 31. Further, prior to the Grede Transaction, Grede operated on a 52 or 53 week fiscal year which ended on the 
Sunday nearest to December 31. After the Grede Transaction, Grede’s fiscal year end conforms to our fiscal year end.  

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Results of Operations  

As a result of a number of factors, our results of operations for the Predecessor Period are not comparable to the Successor Period, 
our historical results of operations may not be comparable to our results of operations in future periods and our results of operations may vary 
from period to period. Set forth below is a brief discussion of the key factors impacting the comparability of our results of operations.  

The Transactions and the Combination  

As a result of each of the Transactions and the Combination, our revenue and expenses have increased significantly and periods prior 
to each of the Transactions or the Combination are not comparable to periods after each of them. The main aspects of the Transactions and the 
Combination affecting comparability include:  
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  •   the results of operations for the periods from January 1, 2011 to October 5, 2012, the date of the HHI Transaction, are referred 
to as the “Predecessor Period” ; 

  •   the results of operations for the periods from October 6, 2012 to December 31, 2014 are referred to as the “Successor Period” ; 

  •   the period from January 1, 2012 to October 5, 2012 is referred to as “Predecessor Period 2012” ; 

  •   the period from October 6, 2012 to December 31, 2012 is referred to as “Successor Period 2012” ; 

  •   Predecessor Period 2012 reflects the results of HHI prior to the HHI Transaction and no results for either Metaldyne or Grede; 
and 

  •   Successor Period 2012 reflects the results of HHI for the entire period, the results of Metaldyne from December 18, 2012 to 
December 31, 2012 and no results for Grede. 

  
•   Our Historical Results Do Not Reflect All of Our Businesses. Our results for the year ended December 31, 2011 and the 352 

day period ended December 17, 2012 only include results for HHI and do not include the results for Metaldyne. In addition, 
our results for the periods prior to June 2, 2014, the date of the Grede Transaction, do not include the results of Grede. 

  

•   Transaction-Related Costs.  In connection with the HHI Transaction, the Metaldyne Transaction and the Grede Transaction, 
we incurred $23.7 million, $15.6 million and $13.0 million, respectively, of non-recurring transaction-related expenses, 
principally professional and sponsor fees. These transaction costs were included in acquisition costs for the relevant periods 
and will not recur in future periods. In addition, in connection with the Combination, we incurred additional transaction-
related expenses of $1.5 million that were recorded as transaction-related costs in the year ended December 31, 2014. 

  •   Increased Interest Expense. In connection with each of the Transactions, we assumed indebtedness and incurred additional 
indebtedness, which increased our interest expense. 

  

•   Increased Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Each of the Transactions was accounted for as a purchase. As such, the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed and non-controlling interests were measured and reported in our financial statements at 
fair value. Since and including the HHI Transaction, we (i) recorded goodwill and other net intangible assets of 
$1,690.9 million and (ii) significantly increased the value of property and equipment with the step-up to fair value in 
connection with the Transactions and our other acquisitions. We also made capital expenditures since the HHI Transaction 
associated with growth and cost reduction activities. As a result, our depreciation and amortization expenses have increased 
significantly since the HHI Transaction. 
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Operational Changes  

As a result of several factors, including our assessment of plant performance, facilities and equipment operating condition, 
availability of labor, and related operating costs, we may close or consolidate production lines or entire plants. These changes can result in the 
transfer or reduction of business, impairment losses, costs to transfer operations to a new plant and other expenses. In 2013, Grede closed three 
plants, which resulted in an impairment loss and a decrease in net sales in subsequent periods.  

Foreign Currency Fluctuations  

As a result of our global operations, we generate a significant portion of our net sales and incur a substantial portion of our expenses 
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. As a result, our net sales, cost of sales, operating expenses and certain assets and liabilities fluctuate as 
the value of such currencies fluctuate in relation to the U.S. dollar. In addition, the results of operations of some of our operating entities are 
reported in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and then translated into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange rate for inclusion in our financial 
statements. As a result, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against these other currencies generally will have a negative impact on our reported sales 
and profits while depreciation of the U.S. dollar against these other currencies will generally have a positive effect on reported sales and profits. 
Our primary currency exposure is to the Euro in addition to exposure to Mexican Peso, Korean Won and Chinese Renminbi. We have not 
entered into any significant foreign currency exchange contracts to mitigate this risk.  

Commodity Price Risk  

We maintain raw material price pass-through arrangements with our customers on substantially all of our products to reduce 
exposure to raw material price fluctuations. In instances where the risk is not covered contractually, we have generally been able to adjust 
customer prices to recover commodity cost increases. As a result, our net sales and cost of sales may increase or decrease based on fluctuations 
in prevailing commodity prices during the period.  

Additionally, we sell scrap generated from our manufacturing processes; our cost of sales will increase or decrease based on 
fluctuations in scrap prices.  

Debt Refinancings  

From time to time, we have completed several debt refinancing transactions to take advantage of favorable market conditions and 
fund the return of capital to our stockholders. These transactions have increased our indebtedness, increased our interest expense and resulted in 
debt refinancing costs.  

Interest Rate Fluctuations  

Our indebtedness contains variable interest rate provisions. As a result, our interest expense may vary from period to period due to 
variations in prevailing interest rates.  

Stock-based Compensation  

In conjunction with the Combination and the IPO and in future periods, we issued and expect to issue long-term equity incentive 
awards in the form of restricted shares or stock options to our officers, key employees and non-employees. The result will be an increase in our 
selling, general and administrative expenses in future periods as the grant-date value of the awards are recognized in expense over the vesting 
term of the awards. In connection with the Combination, we issued 1.6 million options to acquire MPG common stock with a total grant-date 
value of $17.8 million, of which $7.9 million was recognized in expense immediately and the remainder will be recognized in expense over a 
four-year vesting period. In connection with the IPO, we issued restricted stock awards and restricted stock unit awards with a total grant-date 
value of $12.7 million, which is to be recognized in expense over the vesting periods of the awards.  
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•   Stock-Based Compensation. In connection with each of the Transactions, the Combination and the IPO, we incurred 

stock-based compensation expense, which is included in selling, general and administrative expense for the relevant period. 
We will incur additional stock-based compensation expense in future periods. 

  

•   Income Taxes. In connection with each of the Transactions, significant book and tax differences were accounted for in 
deferred taxes. In addition, prior to the Grede Transaction, Grede was treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes and, accordingly, all of the earnings of Grede passed through to its members for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 
Grede was subject to tax in Mexico and certain states within the United States. In connection with the Grede Transaction, 
Grede became a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes subject to corporate level income taxes in future periods. 
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Our Segments  

We are organized in, operate and report our results of operations for three segments:  
   

   

   

We allocate the corporate costs of MPG equally among the three segments due to their similar size and nature of the costs.  

Factors Affecting our Results of Operations  

Industry Trends  

We primarily serve the global light vehicle and the North American commercial and industrial vehicle and equipment end-markets 
with a focus on Powertrain and Safety-Critical applications. Our net sales are impacted by demand in these end-markets. Demand in these end-
markets is driven by consumer preferences and regulatory requirements (particularly related to fuel economy and safety standards), and macro-
economic factors.  

Economic Conditions  

Our net sales are driven by the strength of the global light vehicle industry, particularly in North America, as well as the North 
American commercial and industrial vehicle industry, each of which tends to be highly correlated to macro-economic conditions. The level of 
demand for our products depends primarily upon the level of consumer demand for new vehicles, as well as the demand for commercial and 
industrial vehicles, that are manufactured with our products. Variations in global macro-economic conditions, particularly in North America and 
Europe that result in changes in vehicle sales and production by our customers, have impacted and will continue to impact our net sales.  

Consumer Preferences and Government Regulations  

Demand for our component parts is a function of the number of vehicles produced and trends in content per vehicle for specific 
component categories. These variables are driven by consumer preferences and regulatory requirements, particularly related to fuel economy and 
safety standards. OEMs continue to source vehicle component parts that improve fuel economy and safety in order to meet increasingly strict 
regulatory requirements around the world. These trends have impacted and will continue to impact our net sales.  

Supply Dynamics  

During 2008 and 2009, a significant amount of the automotive forging capacity was removed from the North American market. 
According to The American Foundry Society, an estimated 1 million tons, representing over 10% of iron casting capacity and 36 iron metal 
casters, exited the North American market from 2007 to 2010. In addition, the number of light vehicle Powertrain and Safety-Critical component 
suppliers declined significantly during 2008 and 2009. Capacity has not rebounded to historical levels due to the magnitude of the investment 
and the length of time required to open new facilities, acquire equipment and navigate environmental permitting processes. These trends have 
impacted and will continue to impact our net sales and gross profit.  

Globalization of Platforms  

In recent years, light vehicle OEMs have increasingly consolidated their vehicle engine and transmission Platforms with localized 
sourcing to improve supply chain efficiency, reduce unit cost and increase profitability. As a result of our global manufacturing footprint, these 
trends have impacted and may continue to impact our net sales and gross profit.  

Pricing  

Cost-cutting initiatives by vehicle OEMs, as well as ongoing value analysis/value engineering (“VA/VE”), activity result in changes 
to the pricing of our products. Many of our long-term contracts with our customers require us to reduce our prices in  
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  •   HHI segment, which is comprised of the HHI business; 

  •   Metaldyne segment, which is comprised of the Metaldyne business; and 

  •   Grede segment, which is comprised of the Grede business. 
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subsequent years and all of these contracts provide for pricing adjustments for engineering changes and other changes to specifications. We have 
historically mitigated the impact of pricing on our margins through working with our customers on VA/VE activities, which generally result in 
reduced prices in conjunction with reduced costs. We also focus on ongoing cost reductions and increases in manufacturing efficiencies 
throughout our operations. Our profitability in future periods depends, in part, on our ability to generate sufficient production cost savings, as 
well as VA/VE projects and other efficiency improvements to offset any future price reductions.  

Key Components of Results of Operations  

Net Sales  

We generate net sales primarily from the sale of Powertrain and Safety-Critical products for the global light, commercial and 
industrial vehicle markets. Our net sales reflect the impact of customer pricing allowances. Net sales are also impacted by volume, customer 
prices, product mix, material surcharges and foreign currency fluctuations. These factors all have an impact on future sales as fluctuations in 
volume, pricing, foreign currency and material prices directly impact our net sales.  

Cost of Sales  

Cost of sales consists of raw material costs, direct labor associated with the manufacture and assembly of our products and the 
overhead expense related to our manufacturing operations. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, raw material costs, direct labor 
costs and overhead expenses were approximately 48%, 7% and 45%, and 52%, 6% and 42%, respectively, of our total cost of sales.  

Our direct material costs are comprised primarily of raw materials and sub-component parts used in the production or our 
components. We maintain raw material price pass-through arrangements with our customers on substantially all of our products whereby 
increases and decreases in the cost of our raw materials are adjusted in our selling prices either through a change in selling price or a surcharge 
mechanism. These costs have generally followed the related markets for the underlying commodities that we utilize, including special bar quality 
steel, scrap steel, powder metal, pig iron and molten aluminum. The cost changes and the related changes in prices or surcharges are reflected in 
our cost of sales and our net sales.  

Our direct labor costs are comprised of the wages of our workforce that is directly associated with the production of our products. 
Where we have union agreements (see “Item 1. Business—Employees”), wage increases follow the negotiated requirements of the related 
contract. Wages for non-union employees follow local market conditions for merit increases and employment. Benefit costs are subject to 
changes in healthcare cost trends, payroll and unemployment tax rates and changes in benefit plan structure.  

Our overhead costs are comprised of variable and fixed costs related to the operation of our manufacturing facilities. These costs 
include depreciation, rent expense, maintenance, perishable tooling, indirect labor costs, including benefits, and utilities. Costs related to 
overhead are impacted by inflation, changes in production volumes and the requirements of products produced at each location.  

Gross Profit  

Gross profit (net sales less cost of sales) and gross margin (gross profit as a percentage of net sales) are impacted by a number of 
factors including, product mix, percentage of net sales from raw material price fluctuations, foreign currency fluctuations, overhead cost 
fluctuations and depreciation and amortization cost fluctuations due to changes in capital expenditures and purchase accounting adjustments. 
Gross margins on our products vary based on their composition, the complexity of the production process, the length of time that the products 
have been in production and other factors.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses consist of salaries and benefits for our sales, marketing, management and 
administrative personnel, professional fees, expenses relating to certain IT systems and amortization of certain of our intangibles. As a result of 
the IPO, we expect to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses in connection with being a public company including 
compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We also expect to see an increase in our stock-based compensation expense with the establishment of 
our new equity incentive plan associated with the Combination and related grants of equity either in the form of restricted stock or options.  

Acquisition Costs  

Acquisition costs consist of direct expenses related to the Transactions.  
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Interest Expense, Net  

Interest expense, net consists primarily of interest on borrowings, and the amortization of costs incurred to obtain long-term 
financing, partially offset by interest income on short-term cash and cash equivalents.  

Other, Net  

Other, net primarily consists of foreign currency gains and losses, debt transaction expenses and, in 2013, a $10.1 million purchase 
price adjustment related to the Metaldyne Transaction.  

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)  

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of federal, state and local taxes based on income in multiple jurisdictions. Our income tax 
expense is impacted by the pre-tax earnings in jurisdictions with varying tax rates and any related foreign tax credits that may be available to us. 
Our current and future provision for income taxes will vary from statutory rates due to the impact of valuation allowances in certain countries, 
income tax incentives and holidays, certain non-deductible expenses, withholding taxes and other discrete items. Furthermore, as a result of the 
Transactions, we have significant book and tax accounting differences which impact the amount of deferred taxes.  

Key Operating Metrics  

We evaluate the performance of our business using a variety of operating and performance metrics. Set forth below is a description 
of our key operating metrics.  

Adjusted EBITDA  

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest expense, provision for (benefit from) income taxes and 
depreciation and amortization, with further adjustments to reflect the additions and eliminations of certain income statement items, including 
(i) gains and losses on foreign currency and fixed assets and debt transaction expenses, (ii) stock-based compensation and other non-cash 
charges, (iii) sponsor management fees and other income and expense items that we consider to be not indicative of our ongoing operations, 
(iv) specified non-recurring items and (v) other adjustments.  

We believe Adjusted EBITDA is used by investors as a supplemental measure to evaluate the overall operating performance of 
companies in our industry. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA (i) as a measurement used in comparing our operating performance on a 
consistent basis, (ii) to calculate incentive compensation for our employees, (iii) for planning purposes, including the preparation of our internal 
annual operating budget, (iv) to evaluate the performance and effectiveness of our operational strategies and (v) to assess compliance with 
various metrics associated with our agreements governing our indebtedness. Accordingly, we believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful 
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating performance in the same manner as our management. For a 
reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, the most directly comparable measure determined under U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”), see “—Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year ended December 31, 2013—Adjusted EBITDA” and “—Year 
ended December 31, 2013 compared to Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012—Adjusted EBITDA.”  

Incremental Business Backlog  

Incremental business backlog, which we measure as anticipated net product sales from incremental business for the next three years 
at each year end, net of Programs being phased out and any foreign currency fluctuations, is approximately $190 million as of December 31, 
2014. We are typically awarded Programs one to three years prior to the start of production on new and replacement business. Due to the timing 
of the OEM sourcing cycle, our anticipated net product sales were measured based on contracts to be executed during 2015 through 2017. Our 
estimate of anticipated net product sales includes formally awarded new Programs, Programs which we believe are highly probable of being 
awarded to us and expected volume changes on existing Programs. Our estimate may be impacted by various assumptions, including vehicle 
production levels on new and replacement Programs, customer price reductions, scrap prices, material price indices, currency exchange rates and 
the timing of Program launches. We typically enter into agreements with our customers at the beginning of a vehicle’s life for the fulfillment of 
customers’ purchasing requirements for the entire production life of the vehicle Program. We believe incremental business backlog is useful to 
potential investors as an indication of our revenue visibility. However, this anticipated net product sales information could differ significantly 
from actual firm orders or firm commitments, and awards of business do not represent guarantees of production volumes or revenues. Therefore, 
this anticipated net product sales information could differ significantly from actual firm orders or firm commitments and awards of business do 
not represent guarantees of production volumes or revenues.  
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Results of Operations Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year ended December 31, 2013  

The following table sets forth our results of operations:  
   

Net Sales  

Net sales were $2,717.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $2,017.3 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, an increase of $699.7 million. This increase was primarily driven by the inclusion of Grede segment results of 
$572.1 million subsequent to the Grede Transaction in June 2014, higher vehicle production levels and new Program launches.  

The following table sets forth our net sales by segment:  
   

HHI segment net sales were $977.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $916.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, an increase of $61.1 million, or 6.7%. This increase was primarily attributable to increased volumes due to higher North 
American light vehicle production levels and the benefit from net new Programs. The increase in HHI segment net sales was also attributable to 
higher raw material surcharge pass-through of $13.6 million and net increases in customer prices.  

Metaldyne segment net sales were $1,177.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $1,112.0 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of $65.5 million, or 5.9%. This increase was primarily attributable to increased volumes due to 
higher North American light vehicle production levels, coupled with increased European light vehicle production and the impact of net new 
Programs. The increase in Metaldyne segment net sales was also attributable to higher raw material surcharge pass-through of $1.4 million and 
favorable currency movements of $4.4 million, partially offset by net decreases in customer prices.  

Grede segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $572.1 million. Grede segment net sales do not reflect the net 
sales of Grede prior to the Grede Transaction in June 2014.  

Cost of Sales  

Cost of sales was $2,294.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $1,708.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, an increase of $585.4 million, or 34.3%. This increase was primarily driven by the inclusion of Grede segment results of 
$487.0 million subsequent to the Grede Transaction in June 2014, higher vehicle production levels and the impact of new Program launches.  
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Year Ended  

December 31, 2014      
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013   
     (In millions)   
Net sales     $ 2,717.0       $ 2,017.3    

Cost of sales       2,294.1         1,708.7    
                      

Gross profit    422.9      308.6    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    194.6      123.2    
Acquisition costs    13.0      —     
Goodwill impairment    11.8      —     

                      

Operating income    203.5      185.4    
Interest expense, net    99.9      74.7    
Loss on debt extinguishment    60.7      —     
Other, net    (11.3 )    17.8    

         
  

         
  

Income before taxes    54.2      92.9    
Income tax expense (benefit)    (19.1 )    35.0    

                      

Net income    73.3      57.9    
Income attributable to noncontrolling interests    0.4      0.3    

                      

Net income attributable to stockholders  $ 72.9    $ 57.6    
         

  

         

  

     
Year Ended  

December 31, 2014      
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013   
     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 977.6       $ 916.5    
Metaldyne segment       1,177.5         1,112.0    
Grede segment       572.1         —     
Eliminations       (10.2 )       (11.2 )  

                      

Total  $ 2,717.0    $ 2,017.3    
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The following table sets forth our cost of sales by segment:  
   

HHI segment cost of sales was $813.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, or 83.2% of HHI segment net sales for the 
same period, as compared to $765.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, or 83.5% of HHI segment net sales for the same period, an 
increase of $47.6 million, or 6.2%. This increase was primarily driven by increased volumes, higher raw material surcharge pass-through from 
suppliers of $14.3 million, higher depreciation expense of $4.9 million primarily due to capital expenditures, and net manufacturing cost 
increases of $3.1 million primarily due to labor, benefits and new program launch costs. These increases in cost of sales were partially offset by 
favorable product mix driven by new Programs and increased sales of manufacturing scrap.  

Metaldyne segment cost of sales was $1,004.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, or 85.3% of Metaldyne segment net 
sales for the same period, as compared to $954.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, or 85.8% of Metaldyne segment net sales for the 
same period, an increase of $49.8 million, or 5.2%. The increase in cost of sales was primarily attributable to foreign currency movements of 
$2.4 million, higher volumes and unfavorable product mix, and higher depreciation expense of $0.9 million. These increases in cost of sales 
were partially offset by net manufacturing cost decreases of $4.2 million.  

Grede segment cost of sales was $487.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, or 85.1% of Grede segment net sales for the 
same period. Grede segment cost of sales does not reflect the cost of sales of Grede prior to the Grede Transaction in June 2014.  

Gross Profit  

Gross profit was $422.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $308.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, an increase of $114.3 million, or 37.0%. This increase was primarily driven by the inclusion of Grede segment results of 
$85.1 million subsequent to the Grede Transaction in June 2014 and higher vehicle production levels.  

The following table sets forth our gross profit by segment:  
   

HHI segment gross profit was $164.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, or 16.8% of HHI segment net sales for the same 
period, as compared to $151.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, or 16.5% of HHI segment net sales for the same period, an 
increase of $13.4 million, or 8.9%. This increase was primarily attributable to higher volumes, favorable product mix, and net price increases. 
These increases to HHI segment gross profit were partially offset by higher depreciation expense of $4.9 million primarily due to capital 
expenditures, along with net manufacturing cost increases of $3.1 million primarily due to labor, benefits and new program launch costs.  

Metaldyne segment gross profit was $173.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, or 14.7% of Metaldyne segment net sales 
for the same period, as compared to $157.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, or 14.2% of Metaldyne segment net sales for the 
same period, an increase of $15.8 million, or 10.0%. This increase was primarily attributable to higher volumes, net manufacturing cost 
decreases of $4.2 million, and foreign currency movements of $2.0 million. The increase in Metaldyne segment gross profit was partially offset 
by unfavorable product mix, net decreases in customer prices, and higher depreciation expense of $0.9 million.  
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Year Ended  

December 31, 2014      
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013   
     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 813.1       $ 765.5    
Metaldyne segment       1,004.2         954.4    
Grede segment       487.0         —     
Eliminations       (10.2 )       (11.2 )  

                      

Total  $ 2,294.1    $ 1,708.7    
         

  

         

  

     
Year Ended  

December 31, 2014      
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013   
     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 164.4       $ 151.0    
Metaldyne segment       173.4         157.6    
Grede segment       85.1         —     

                      

Total  $ 422.9    $ 308.6    
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Grede segment gross profit was $85.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, or 14.9% of Grede segment net sales for the 
same period. Grede segment gross profit does not reflect the gross profit of Grede prior to the Grede Transaction in June 2014.  

Operating Income  

Operating income was $203.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $185.4 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, an increase of $18.1 million, or 9.8%. This increase was primarily driven by higher gross profit of $114.3 million partially 
offset by goodwill impairment of $11.8 million at the Company’s KBI wheel bearing reporting unit, increased stock-based compensation 
expense and higher professional fees. Additionally, the inclusion of Grede segment results subsequent to the Grede Transaction in June 2014 
reflects transaction-related costs and accounting related adjustments resulting from the Grede Transaction, including $13.0 million of acquisition 
related costs.  

The following table sets forth our operating income by segment:  
   

HHI segment operating income was $86.9 million, or 8.9% of HHI segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 2014, as 
compared to $96.4 million, or 10.5% of HHI segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $9.5 million, or 9.9%. The 
decrease in HHI segment operating income was primarily attributable to goodwill impairment of $11.8 million at the Company’s KBI wheel 
bearing reporting unit and increased stock-based compensation expense of $9.7 million in SG&A related to the issuance of new stock options, 
partially offset by the increase in the HHI segment gross profit of $13.4 million.  

Metaldyne segment operating income was $100.7 million, or 8.6% of Metaldyne segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 
2014, as compared to $89.0 million, or 8.0% of Metaldyne segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of 
$11.7 million, or 13.1%. The increase was primarily due to the increase in gross profit of $15.8 million, partially offset by higher employee costs 
and professional fees.  

Grede segment operating income was $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, or 2.8% of Grede segment net sales for 
the same period. Grede segment operating income does not reflect the operating income of Grede prior to the Grede Transaction in June 2014. 
The operating income in our Grede segment was impacted by acquisition costs of $13.0 million and additional costs related to the Grede 
Transaction. In addition, Grede’s operating income reflected stock-based compensation expense of $1.9 million in SG&A related to the issuance 
of new stock options.  

Interest Expense, Net  

Interest expense, net was $99.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to $74.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, an increase of $25.2 million. The increase in interest expense, net reflected higher average outstanding borrowings 
including the additional debt associated with the Grede Transaction in June 2014 and increased indebtedness used to fund the return of capital to 
our stockholders prior to Combination. The increase is also attributable to an increase in the average interest rate due to the Senior Notes as part 
of the Refinancing.  

Loss on Debt Extinguishment  

The Company fully paid the outstanding term debt of each segment as part of the Refinancing, which occurred on October 20, 2014. 
Included in loss on debt extinguishment is $60.4 million recognized related to the write-off of unamortized debt fees, expenses and original issue 
discounts from the prior credit facilities for the Refinancing.  

Other, Net  

Other, net was $11.3 million of income for the year ended December 31, 2014 and $17.8 million of expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2013. Other, net primarily consists of foreign currency transaction gains and losses, debt transaction expenses and, in 2013, a 
$10.1 million purchase price adjustment related to the Metaldyne Transaction. See Note 5 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional discussion of the $10.1 million purchase price 
adjustment related to the Metaldyne Transaction.  
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Year Ended  

December 31, 2014      
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013   
     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 86.9       $ 96.4    
Metaldyne segment       100.7         89.0    
Grede segment       15.9         —     

                      

Total  $ 203.5    $ 185.4    
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Income Taxes  

Income taxes were a benefit of $19.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and expense of $35.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013. Our effective tax rate was (35.2)% for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 37.7% for the year ended December 31, 2013. 
The decrease in our effective tax rate was primarily attributable to a change in the assertion that the earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries 
within the Metaldyne segment are indefinitely reinvested, resulting in a $31.6 million deferred tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2014. 
In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2014 the Company recorded a research and experimentation credit of $3.0 million, reducing its 
U.S. federal income tax provision, and recognized a net reduction in its unrecognized tax benefits of $2.2 million, primarily resulting from the 
settlement of a tax audit at the Company’s German subsidiary and from foreign exchange rate fluctuations. These favorable impacts were offset 
by effective tax rate increases resulting from a goodwill impairment charge in our HHI segment and changes in prior year estimates.  

Net Income Attributable to Stockholders  

Net income attributable to stockholders was $72.9 million, or 2.7% of net sales for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared 
to $57.6 million, or 2.9% of net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of $15.3 million, or 26.6%. The increase was primarily 
attributable to the factors discussed above.  
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Adjusted EBITDA  

Management’s assessment of performance includes an evaluation of Adjusted EBITDA. The following table sets forth Adjusted 
EBITDA by segment and Adjusted Free Cash Flow.  
   

The following table sets a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, the most directly comparable GAAP measure:  
   

EBITDA is calculated as net income before interest expense, income tax expense (benefit) and depreciation and amortization. 
Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA adjusted for:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Adjusted EBITDA eliminates the effects of items that we do not consider indicative of our core operating performance. Adjusted 
EBITDA is a supplemental measure of operating performance that does not represent and should not be considered as alternatives to net income, 
as determined under GAAP, and our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to those reported by other companies.  

Management believes the inclusion of the adjustments to Adjusted EBITDA are appropriate to provide additional information to 
investors about certain material non-cash items and about unusual items that we do not expect to continue at the same level in the future. By 
providing this non-GAAP financial measure, together with a reconciliation to GAAP results, we believe we are  
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Year Ended  

December 31, 2014      
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013   
     (In millions)   
Adjusted EBITDA        

HHI segment     $ 193.5       $ 175.0    
Metaldyne segment       202.3         188.1    
Grede segment       82.8         —     

                      

Total  $ 478.6    $ 363.1    
         

  

         

  

     
Year Ended  

December 31, 2014      
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013   
     (In millions)   
Adjusted EBITDA     $ 478.6       $ 363.1    

Interest expense       (99.9 )       (74.7 )  
Income tax expense       19.1         (35.0 )  
Depreciation and amortization       (210.8 )       (163.4 )  
Loss on debt extinguishment       (60.7 )       —     
(Gain) loss on foreign currency       15.7         (2.3 )  
(Gain) loss on fixed assets       (2.1 )       (1.4 )  
Debt transaction expenses       (3.0 )       (6.0 )  
Stock-based compensation       (17.3 )       (6.2 )  
Sponsor management fee       (5.1 )       (4.0 )  
Non-recurring acquisition and purchase 

accounting related items       (23.0 )       (10.5 )  
Non-recurring operational items       (18.2 )       (1.7 )  

                      

Net income  $ 73.3    $ 57.9    
         

  

         

  

  •   (gain) loss on foreign currency; 

  •   (gain) loss on fixed assets; 

  •   debt transaction expenses; 

  •   stock-based compensation; 

  •   sponsor management fee; 

  •   non-recurring acquisition and purchase accounting related items; and 

  •   non-recurring operational items. 
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enhancing investors’ understanding of our business and our results of operations, as well as assisting investors in evaluating how well we are 
executing strategic initiatives. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is used by investors as supplemental measures to evaluate the overall operating 
performance of companies in our industry.  

Management uses Adjusted EBITDA or comparable metrics:  
   

   

   

   

   

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of 
our results as reported under GAAP. Some of the limitations are:  
   

   

   

   

   

To address these limitations, we reconcile Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, net income. Further, 
we also review GAAP measures and evaluate individual measures that are not included in Adjusted EBITDA.  
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  •   as a measurement used in comparing our operating performance on a consistent basis; 

  •   to calculate incentive compensation for our employees; 

  •   for planning purposes, including the preparation of our internal annual operating budget; 

  •   to evaluate the performance and effectiveness of our operational strategies; and 

  •   to assess compliance with various metrics associated with our agreements governing our indebtedness. 

  •   Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or 
principal payments, on our debt; 

  •   Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect all GAAP non-cash and non-recurring adjustments; 

  •   although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be 
replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the cash requirements for such replacements; 

  •   Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our tax expense or the cash requirements to pay our taxes; and 

  •   Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the non-cash component of employee compensation. 
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Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012  

The following table sets forth results of operations:  
   

Net Sales  

Net sales were $2,017.3 million, $205.3 million and $680.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 
and Predecessor Period 2012, respectively. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected the results of Metaldyne for the full year as 
a result of the Metaldyne Transaction.  

The following table sets forth our net sales by segment:  
   

HHI segment net sales were $916.5 million, $186.4 million and $680.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor 
Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012, respectively. HHI segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected higher volumes 
from positive trends in North American light vehicle production as well the impact of net new Program launches in 2013. Net sales also reflected 
net increases in customer prices, partially offset by lower steel surcharge pass-through of $3.8 million.  

Metaldyne segment net sales were $1,112.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and $18.9 million for Successor Period 
2012. Predecessor Period 2012 does not reflect any Metaldyne segment net sales. Metaldyne segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 
2013 reflected higher volumes resulting from overall market increases in North America, stabilizing European volume and new Program 
launches as well as the favorable impact of foreign currency fluctuations, partially offset by lower raw material surcharge pass-through.  
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     Successor            Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor  
Period 2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
Net sales     $ 2,017.3       $ 205.3            $ 680.5    

Cost of sales       1,708.7         199.5              559.0    
                                      

Gross profit    308.6      5.8        121.5    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    123.2      14.4        116.6    
Acquisition costs    —       25.9        13.4    

                                      

Operating income (loss)    185.4      (34.5 )      (8.5 )  
Interest expense, net    74.7      11.1        25.8    
Other, net    17.8      1.5        2.4    

                                      

Income (loss) before taxes    92.9      (47.1 )      (36.7 )  
Income tax provision (benefit)    35.0      (15.2 )      (11.1 )  

         
  

         
  

              
  

Net income (loss)    57.9      (31.9 )      (25.6 )  
Income attributable to noncontrolling interests    0.3      —         0.2    

                                      

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 57.6    $ (31.9 )    $ (25.8 )  
         

  

         

  

              

  

     Successor            Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 916.5       $ 186.4            $ 680.5    
Metaldyne segment       1,112.0         18.9              —     
Grede segment       —          —               —     
Eliminations       (11.2 )       —               —     

                                      

Total  $ 2,017.3    $ 205.3      $ 680.5    
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Our net sales do not reflect any Grede net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 or Predecessor Period 
2012.  

Cost of Sales  

Cost of sales was $1,708.7 million, $199.5 million and $559.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 
and Predecessor Period 2012, respectively. Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected the results of Metaldyne for the full 
year as a result of the Metaldyne Transaction. The following table sets forth our cost of sales by segment:  
   

HHI segment cost of sales was $765.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to $173.3 million for Successor 
Period 2012 and $559.0 million for Predecessor Period 2012. Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected the higher volumes 
mentioned above, and increased salaries, wages, and benefits of $3.8 million. These increases were partially offset by manufacturing cost 
improvements, positive product mix, and lower steel surcharge pass-through from suppliers of $2.5 million. Purchase accounting adjustments 
related to the HHI Transaction in October 2012 also increased cost of sales by $24.9 million related to higher depreciation from the revaluation 
of fixed assets, partially offset by $11.1 million for the step-up to fair market value and consequent charge for inventory in the Successor Period 
2012.  

Metaldyne segment cost of sales was $954.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and $26.2 million for Successor Period 
2012. Predecessor Period 2012 does not reflect any Metaldyne segment cost of sales. Metaldyne segment cost of sales for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, which represents a full year of results as compared to fourteen days for Successor Period 2012, reflected higher volumes, 
higher depreciation resulting from the Metaldyne Transaction purchase accounting and increased labor and overhead costs.  

Our cost of sales does not reflect any Grede cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 or 
Predecessor Period 2012.  

Gross Profit  

Gross profit was $308.6 million, $5.8 million and $121.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 and 
Predecessor Period 2012, respectively. Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected the results of Metaldyne for the full year as a 
result of the Metaldyne Transaction. The following table sets forth our gross profit (loss) by segment:  
   

HHI segment gross profit was $151.0 million, or 16.5% of HHI segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013 as 
compared to $13.1 million, or 7.0% of HHI segment net sales for Successor Period 2012 and $121.5 million, or 17.9% of HHI segment net sales 
for Predecessor Period 2012. HHI segment gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected the higher volumes, manufacturing cost 
improvements, positive product mix, net customer price increases, partially offset by increases to salaries, wages, and benefits of $3.8 million, 
and the impact of purchase accounting adjustments. Purchase accounting adjustments  
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     Successor            Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 765.5       $ 173.3            $ 559.0    
Metaldyne segment       954.4         26.2              —     
Grede segment       —          —               —     
Less: intersegment sales       (11.2 )       —               —     

                                      

Total  $ 1,708.7    $ 199.5      $ 559.0    
         

  

         

  

              

  

     Successor            Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 151.0       $ 13.1            $ 121.5    
Metaldyne segment       157.6         (7.3 )            —     
Grede segment       —          —               —     

                                      

Total  $ 308.6    $ 5.8      $ 121.5    
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related to the HHI Transaction in October 2012 also decreased gross profit by $24.9 million related to higher depreciation from the revaluation 
of fixed assets, partially offset by $11.1 million for the step-up to fair market value and consequent charge for inventory in the Successor Period 
2012.  

Metaldyne segment gross profit (loss) was $157.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and $(7.3) million Successor Period 
2012. Predecessor Period 2012 does not reflect any Metaldyne segment gross profit. Metaldyne segment gross profit for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, which represents a full year of results as compared to fourteen days for Successor Period 2012, reflected higher volumes, 
higher depreciation resulting from the Metaldyne Transaction purchase accounting and increased labor and overhead costs.  

Our gross profit does not reflect any Grede gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 or Predecessor 
Period 2012.  

Operating Income (Loss)  

Operating income (loss) was $185.4 million, $(34.5) million and $(8.5) million for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor 
Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012, respectively. Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected the results of 
Metaldyne for the full year as a result of the Metaldyne Transaction.  

The following table sets forth our operating income (loss) by segment:  
   

HHI segment operating income was $96.4 million, or 10.5% of HHI segment net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013, as 
compared to HHI segment operating loss of $8.7 million, or (4.7)% of HHI segment net sales for Successor Period 2012, and HHI segment 
operating loss of $8.5 million, or (1.2)% of HHI segment net sales, for Predecessor Period 2012. HHI segment operating income for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 was primarily driven by higher gross profit. Operating income was also unfavorably impacted by intangible asset 
amortization of $34.0 million, primarily resulting from purchase accounting for the HHI Transaction. HHI segment operating income included 
acquisition costs related to the HHI transaction of $10.3 million in Successor Period 2012 and $13.4 million in Predecessor Period 2012 and 
transaction-related compensation costs of $89.8 million in Predecessor Period 2012.  

Metaldyne segment operating income (loss) was $89.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and $(25.8) million for 
Successor Period 2012, which represented a fourteen-day period. Predecessor period 2012 does not reflect any Metaldyne operating income 
(loss). Metaldyne Segment operating income for Successor period 2012 reflected $15.6 million of acquisition costs related to the Metaldyne 
Transaction.  

Our operating income (loss) does not reflect any Grede operating income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor 
Period 2012 or Predecessor Period 2012.  

Interest Expense, Net  

Interest expense, net was $74.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to $11.1 million for Successor Period 
2012 and $25.8 million for Predecessor Period 2012, which reflected the inclusion of interest expense, net for Metaldyne subsequent to the 
Metaldyne Transaction.  

Other, Net  

Other, net was $17.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to $1.5 million for Successor Period 2012 and 
$2.4 million for Predecessor Period 2012. Other, net for the year ended December 31, 2013 included a $10.1 million purchase price adjustment 
related to the Metaldyne Transaction, foreign currency losses of $2.3 million, and debt transaction expenses of $6.0 million. See Note 5 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional discussion 
of the $10.1 million purchase price adjustment related to the Metaldyne Transaction.  
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     Successor            Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
HHI segment     $ 96.4       $ (8.7 )          $ (8.5 )  
Metaldyne segment       89.0         (25.8 )            —     
Grede segment       —          —               —     

                                      

Total  $ 185.4    $ (34.5 )    $ (8.5 )  
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Income Taxes  

The income tax provision (benefit) for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012 was 
$35.0 million, $(15.2) million and $(11.1) million, respectively, on income (loss) before income tax provision of $92.8 million, $(47.1) million 
and $(36.7) million, respectively. Our effective tax rates for the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 
2012 were 37.7%, 32.3% and 30.2% respectively. The variance in effective rates was due to the impact of acquisition costs associated with the 
HHI Transaction and the Metaldyne Transaction in 2012 and the mix of domestic and foreign earnings with varying tax rates.  

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Stockholders  

Net income attributable to stockholders was $57.6 million, or 2.9% of net sales for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared 
to net loss attributable to stockholders of $31.9 million, or (15.5)% of net sales, for Successor Period 2012, and net loss attributable to 
stockholders of $25.8 million, or (3.8)% of net sales, for Predecessor Period 2012. Net income for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflected 
the results of Metaldyne for the full year in 2013 as a result of the Metaldyne Transaction.  

Adjusted EBITDA  

Management’s assessment of performance includes an evaluation of Adjusted EBITDA. The following table sets forth Adjusted 
EBITDA by segment.  
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     Successor            Predecessor   

     
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
Adjusted EBITDA                

HHI segment     $ 175.0       $ 28.5            $ 113.8    
Metaldyne segment       188.1         0.9              —     
Grede segment       —          —               —     

                                      

Total  $ 363.1    $ 29.4      $ 113.8    
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, the most directly comparable GAAP measure.  
   

See “—Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year ended December 31, 2013—Adjusted EBITDA” for a description of the 
calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and a discussion of the use of this measure.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Our primary cash requirements include the payment of our suppliers and operating expenses, interest and principal payments on our 
debt and capital expenditures. We have also used cash to return capital to our stockholders through the payment of dividends primarily through 
cash provided by operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facilities. As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cash equivalents of 
$156.5 million and total indebtedness, inclusive of capitalized lease obligations, of $1,961.8 million. We also have access to additional liquidity 
pursuant to the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility.  

Our capital expenditures have been related to the acquisition of machinery and equipment to support our overall business growth as 
well as increase the efficiency of our manufacturing processes. Our capital expenditures were $156.4 million, $122.3 million $10.4 million, and 
$32.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012, and Predecessor Period 2012, 
respectively.  

We believe that our cash flow from operations, available cash and cash equivalents and available borrowings under the Senior Credit 
Facilities will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for the next twelve months and beyond. We anticipate that to the extent that we require 
additional liquidity, it will be funded through the incurrence of other indebtedness, equity financings or a combination. We cannot assure you 
that we will be able to obtain this additional liquidity on reasonable terms, or at all. Additionally, our liquidity and our ability to meet our 
obligations and fund our capital requirements are also dependent on our future financial performance, which is subject to general economic, 
financial and other factors that are beyond our control. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow 
from operations or that future borrowings will be available under our credit facilities or otherwise to meet our liquidity needs. Although we have 
no specific current plans to do so, if we decide to pursue one or more significant acquisitions, we may incur additional debt or sell additional 
equity to finance such acquisitions.  

Our Indebtedness  

Senior Credit Facilities  

On October 20, 2014, MPG Holdco I Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary (“MPG Holdco”) entered into the $250.0 million 
the Revolving Credit Facility. Interest accrues at a rate equal to the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR’) rate plus an applicable margin of 
3.25% or a base rate that is the higher of the Federal Funds Rate (plus 0.50%), the U.S. prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal, or 
LIBOR (plus 1.00%), plus an applicable margin of 2.25%, at MPG Holdco’s option. The applicable margin is based on a leverage ratio grid and 
was .25% higher prior to the IPO. The Revolving Credit Facility is a five-year facility that matures in 2019. As of December 31, 2014, there was 
no balance outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility. Total available under this facility was $234.4 million after giving effect to letters of 
credit of $15.6 million.  
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     Successor            Predecessor   

     
Year Ended  

December 31, 2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
Adjusted EBITDA     $ 363.1       $ 29.4            $ 113.8    

Interest expense       (74.7 )       (11.1 )            (25.8 )  
Income tax (expense) benefit       (35.0 )       15.2              11.1    
Depreciation and amortization       (163.4 )       (18.7 )            (20.0 )  
(Gain) loss on foreign currency       (2.3 )       (1.5 )            —     
(Gain) loss on fixed assets       (1.4 )       —               1.1    
Debt transaction expenses       (6.0 )       —               (2.4 )  
Stock-based compensation       (6.2 )       (0.1 )            —     
Sponsor management fee       (4.0 )       (0.6 )            (0.7 )  
Non-recurring acquisition and purchase accounting 

related items       (10.5 )       (43.3 )            (103.4 )  
Non-recurring operational items       (1.7 )       (1.2 )            0.7    

                                      

Net income (loss)  $ 57.9    $ (31.9 )    $ (25.6 )  
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MPG Holdco pays fees with respect to the Revolving Credit Facility, including (i) an unused commitment fee of 0.50% or 0.375% 
based on a leverage ratio and (ii) fixed fees with respect to letters of credit of 3.25% per annum on the stated amount of each letter of credit 
outstanding during each month and customary administrative fees.  

On October 20, 2014, MPG Holdco entered into the $1,350.0 million a term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”). Interest is 
accrued at a rate equal to the LIBOR rate (bearing a LIBOR floor of 1.00%) plus an applicable margin of 3.25% or a base rate that is the higher 
of the Federal Funds Rate (plus 0.50%), the U.S. prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal, or LIBOR (plus 1.00%), plus an applicable 
margin of 2.25%, at MPG Holdco’s option. Prior to the IPO, the applicable margin was 3.50% for LIBOR rate loans and 2.50% for base rate 
loans. The Term Loan Facility matures in 2021 and is payable in quarterly installments of $3.375 million beginning in March 2015. In December 
2014, the Company made a voluntary prepayment of $10.0 million on the principal balance of the Term Loan Facility.  

The Term Loan Facility is subject to customary mandatory prepayments, including an excess cash flow sweep based on leverage 
ratio step downs and a mandatory prepayment for certain asset sales. Beginning in 2016, we are required to prepay a portion of our Term Loan 
Facility in an amount equal to a percentage of the preceding fiscal year’s excess cash flow, as defined, with such percentage based on our 
leverage ratio, as defined.  

The Senior Credit Facilities, subject to certain exceptions, are guaranteed by the Company and all of MPG Holdco’s direct and 
indirect existing and future domestic subsidiaries.  

The agreement governing the Senior Credit Facilities contains certain covenants that, among other things, require MPG Holdco to 
maintain a leverage ratio once revolver borrowings and letters of credit exceed 35% of aggregate revolving credit commitments as defined under 
the terms of the Senior Credit Facilities and to comply with customary affirmative and negative covenants. The Senior Credit Facilities also 
restrict the payment of dividends subject to certain customary exceptions including the ability (i) to pay taxes attributable to MPG Holdco and its 
subsidiaries, (ii) to pay legal, accounting, and reporting expenses, (iii) to pay general and administrative costs and expenses, and reasonable 
directors fees and expenses, (iv) to repurchase stock owned by employees subject to certain limitations, (v) to pay management or similar fees 
subject to certain limitations, (vi) to pay franchise or similar taxes and fees to maintain organizational existence, and (vii) to pay dividends up to 
$30 million.  

MPG Holdco Senior Notes  

On October 20, 2014, MPG Holdco issued $600.0 million of aggregate principal amount notes. The Senior Notes mature on 
October 15, 2022 and bear interest at a rate of 7.375%, payable semiannually on April 15th and October 15th of each year. The Senior Notes are 
guaranteed by the Company and all of MPG Holdco’s direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries that guarantee the Senior Credit Facilities.  

The indenture governing the Senior Notes contains certain covenants, including a covenant that restricts the payment of dividends, 
subject to certain customary exceptions including the ability (i) to pay taxes attributable to MPG Holdco and its subsidiaries, (ii) to pay legal, 
accounting, and reporting expenses, (iii) to pay general and administrative costs and expenses, and reasonable directors fees and expenses, (iv) to 
repurchase stock owned by employees subject to certain limitations, (v) to pay management or similar fees subject to certain limitations, (vi) to 
pay franchise or similar taxes and fees to maintain organizational existence, and (vii) to pay dividends up to $30 million per year.  

The proceeds from the Term Loan Facility and Senior Notes were used to prepay the existing debt of Metaldyne, HHI, and Grede, as 
well as, fees and expenses associated with the Refinancing. Prepayment of the existing debt of Metaldyne, HHI and Grede resulted in the 
elimination of the restrictions on the ability of each to pay dividends to MPG.  

Other Liquidity and Capital Resource Items  

As of December 31, 2014, $94.1 million of cash and cash equivalents were held by certain foreign subsidiaries whose earnings are 
reinvested indefinitely. We make this assertion based on the operational and investing needs of the foreign locations and our ability to fund our 
U.S. operations and obligations from domestic cash flow and capital resources. Based on this assertion, no provision has been made for U.S. 
income taxes, which would be assessed upon repatriation of the foreign earnings.  
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Contractual Commitments  

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2014:  
   

Cash Flows  

Cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities were as follows:  
   

Cash Flows From Operating Activities  

Cash flows from operating activities were a net inflow of $305.4 million for the year ended December 2014, $234.3 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2013, a net outflow of $1.8 million for Successor Period 2012 and a net inflow of $64.7 million for Predecessor Period 
2012. For the year ended December 31, 2014, cash flows from operating activities reflected results of operations exclusive of non-cash income 
and expenses, primarily depreciation and amortization, deferred income taxes, losses on debt extinguishments, stock-based compensation, and 
goodwill impairment, less gains on foreign currency transactions and an increase in working capital. For the year ended December 31, 2013, 
cash flows from operating activities reflected results of operations exclusive of non-cash income and expenses, primarily depreciation and 
amortization and the write-down of a purchase price receivable from the Metaldyne Transaction less the change in deferred income taxes, 
partially offset by an increase in working capital. For the Successor Period 2012, cash flows from operating activities reflected a decrease in 
working capital less results of operations exclusive of non-cash income and expenses, primarily depreciation and amortization less the change in 
deferred income taxes. For the Predecessor Period 2012, cash flows from operating activities reflected an increase in working capital less results 
of operations exclusive of non-cash income and expenses, primarily depreciation and amortization.  

Cash Flows From Investing Activities  

Cash flows from investing activities were net outflows of $984.9 million, $116.7 million, $1,515.0 million and $31.3 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2014, the year ended December 31, 2013, Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012, respectively. For the 
year ended December 31, 2014, cash flows from investing activities primarily reflected consideration paid for the Grede Transaction, $829.7 
million, and capital expenditures. For the year ended December 31, 2013, cash  
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     Payments Due by Period   
     Total      2015      2016 - 2017      2018 - 2019      Thereafter   
     (In millions)   
Long-term debt     $ 1,940.6       $ 13.7       $ 27.4       $ 27.0       $ 1,872.5    
Interest on long-term debt (1)       745.4         100.3         203.4         200.7         241.0    
Capital lease obligations (2)       90.9         6.7         9.2         8.2         66.8    
Operating lease obligations       68.9         10.9         15.5         11.3         31.2    
Capital expenditure purchase obligations       57.6         57.6         —          —          —     
Other purchase obligations       19.1         18.4         0.7         —          —     
Other long-term liabilities (2)       5.0         4.0         0.3         0.2         0.5    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total (3)  $ 2,927.5    $ 211.6    $ 256.5    $ 247.4    $ 2,212.0    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

  
(1) Includes interest on the Term Loan Facility calculated using an average interest rate of 4.25%. 
(2) Includes interest totaling $64.7 million. 
(3) Due to the high degree of uncertainty regarding the timing of future cash outflows associated with unrecognized tax benefits, we are unable 

to make a reasonable estimate of the year in which cash settlements may occur with applicable tax authorities. As a result, unrecognized 
tax benefits of $7.4 million as of December 31, 2014 are not reflected in this contractual obligations table. 

     Successor            Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2014      

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor  
Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
Cash flows from operating activities     $ 305.4       $ 234.3       $ (1.8 )         $ 64.7    
Cash flows from investing activities       (984.9 )       (116.7 )       (1,515.0 )           (31.3 )  
Cash flows from financing activities       776.7         (91.1 )       1,557.1             (27.3 )  
Effect of exchange rates on cash       (8.9 )       1.4         —               0.3    

                                                 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 88.3    $ 27.9    $ 40.3     $ 6.4    
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flows from investing activities primarily reflected capital expenditures. For Successor Period 2012, cash flows from investing activities primarily 
reflected consideration paid for the HHI Transaction, $722.2 million, and consideration paid for the Metaldyne Transaction, $782.2 million, and 
capital expenditures. For the Predecessor Period 2012, cash flows from investing activities primarily reflected capital expenditures.  

Cash Flows From Financing Activities  

Cash flows from financing activities were a net inflow of $776.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, a net outflow of 
$91.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, a net inflow of $1,557.1 million for Successor Period 2012 and a net outflow of 
$27.3 million for Predecessor Period 2012 as detailed in the following table.  
   

Critical Accounting Estimates  

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have 
been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Certain of our accounting policies require the application of significant 
judgment by management in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates. By their nature, these judgments are 
subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. These judgments are based on our historical experience, terms of existing contracts, our evaluation 
of trends in the industry, information provided by our customers and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. Our actual 
results may differ from these estimates. The accounting policies that we believe to be the most critical to an understanding of our financial 
condition and results of operations and that require the most complex and subjective management judgments are discussed below.  

Acquisitions  

The recording of an acquisition entails the allocation of the purchase price of an acquired business to its identifiable assets and 
liabilities based on their fair value. Any excess amount of the purchase price over the allocated amounts is recognized as goodwill.  

Determination of identifiable assets and liabilities and their fair values requires us to make significant judgments and estimates. Fair 
value of assets and liabilities is estimated based upon quoted market prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted 
valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. Other estimates used in determining fair value include, but 
are not limited to, future cash flows or income related to intangibles, market rate assumptions, actuarial assumptions for benefit plans and 
appropriate discount rates. These estimates and assumptions are subject to a considerable degree of uncertainty.  
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     Successor            Predecessor   

     

Year ended  
December 31, 

 
2014      

Year ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012            

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In millions)   
Cash dividends     $ (111.3 )     $ (256.9 )     $ —             $ (70.0 )  
Other stock activity       (2.4 )       0.6         —               —     
Proceeds from stock issuance       260.5         —          546.0              —     
Borrowings of short-term debt       388.8         545.6         6.0              38.9    
Repayments of short-term debt       (407.4 )       (533.2 )       —               (38.9 )  
Proceeds of long-term debt       2,658.2         240.0         1,040.3              49.9    
Principal payments of long-term debt       (1,952.0 )       (59.9 )       —               (2.8 )  
Payment of debt issue costs       (45.4 )       (14.9 )       (34.9 )            (2.5 )  
Proceeds of other debt       1.0         1.4         —               —     
Principal payments of other debt       (7.7 )       (3.8 )       (0.3 )            (1.9 )  
Payment of offering related costs       (5.6 )       —          —               —     
Payment of contingent consideration for the Metaldyne 

Transaction       —          (10.0 )       —               —     
                                                 

Total  $ 776.7    $ (91.1 )  $ 1,557.1      $ (27.3 )  
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The following table describes the methods used to estimate the significant fair values recognized in the accounting for the HHI 
Transaction, the Metaldyne Transaction and the Grede Transaction for the categories most subject to a considerable degree of uncertainty:  
   

Goodwill  

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually or more often if a triggering even occurs between annual tests. The annual tests are 
performed in the fourth quarter.  

For each reporting unit to which goodwill has been assigned, the evaluation for impairment entails a quantitative analysis of the fair 
value of the reporting unit compared to the carrying value of the reporting unit or the Company may opt to perform a qualitative assessment to 
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount prior to performing the 
quantitative assessment.  

Determination of our reporting units, impairment indicators and fair value requires us to make significant judgments and estimates, 
including the extent and timing of future cash flows. As part of the determination of future cash flows, we need to make assumptions on future 
general economic conditions, business projections, growth rates and discount rates. These assumptions are subject to a considerable degree of 
uncertainty and different assumptions could materially affect our conclusions on this matter. During 2014, we performed our annual evaluations 
as of the fourth quarter. See Note 9 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data” for a discussion of the impairment loss recognized in the fourth quarter of 2014.  

Long-lived Assets  

Long-lived assets other than goodwill are evaluated for impairment if adverse events or changes in circumstances indicate the assets 
are potentially impaired. For each asset group affected by such impairment indicators, the recoverability of the carrying value of that asset group 
is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted cash flows related to that asset group to the asset group’s carrying value.  

Determination of our asset groups, impairment indicators and future cash flows requires us to make significant judgments and 
estimates. As part of the determination of future cash flows, we need to make assumptions on future general economic conditions, business 
projections, growth rates and discount rates. These assumptions are subject to a considerable degree of uncertainty. During 2014, there were no 
indicators of potential impairment; therefore, no evaluation of long-lived assets for impairment was performed.  

Stock-based Compensation  

Stock-based compensation awards to employees and members of our boards of directors are accounted for based upon their grant 
date calculated value and recognized as expense over the requisite service period. The determination of calculated value differs from fair value in 
that the volatility assumption used in determining the value of the awards is based on the volatility of comparable companies rather than a 
volatility assumption for the issuing entity. Use of calculated value is necessary as the issuing entities are non-public entities and, therefore, 
sufficient information to estimate entity level volatility is unavailable.  
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Category     Valuation Method and Inputs  

Property and equipment     

Personal property  

   

Valued using a market approach, which relied upon selling and asking prices for 
similar assets in the used market, and using a cost approach, which relied on 
estimated replacement cost new. 

Real property  
   

Valued primarily using a market approach, which relied upon an analysis of the cost 
per square foot of gross building area from comparable sales. 

   
Estimated remaining useful lives for property and equipment ranged from 1 year to 
30 years exclusive of land. 

Amortizable intangible assets    

Customer relationships and platforms  

   

Valued using an income approach, the multi-period excess earnings method 
(“MEEM”). In applying the MEEM, we estimated the future cash flows attributable 
to the customer relationships and platforms discounted at a risk-adjusted rate. The 
future cash flows were projected over the typical platform life-cycle of 
approximately 15 years for HHI and Metaldyne and 10 years for Grede. 
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The following table sets forth the weighted average inputs used to value the MPG stock options converted and granted in 2014 using 
the Black-Scholes Pricing Model:  
   

Income Taxes  

In determining the provision for income taxes for financial statement purposes, we make estimates and judgments which affect our 
evaluation of the carrying value of our deferred tax assets as well as our calculation of certain tax liabilities. We evaluate the carrying value of 
our deferred tax assets considering all available positive and negative evidence. Such evidence includes historical operating results, the existence 
of cumulative losses in the most recent fiscal years, expectations for future pretax operating income, the time period over which our temporary 
differences will reverse and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation 
allowance if, based on the weight of this evidence, it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be 
realized in future periods.  

In addition, the calculation of our tax benefits and liabilities includes uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in a 
multitude of jurisdictions across our global operations. We recognize tax benefits and liabilities based on our estimate of whether, and the extent 
to which, additional taxes will be due. We adjust these liabilities based on changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the complexity of 
some of these uncertainties and the impact of any tax audits, the ultimate resolutions may be materially different from our estimated liabilities. 
For further information related to income taxes, See Note 17 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”.  

Pension Benefits  

We have obligations for retiree benefits for certain employees under defined benefit pension plans and a cash balance retirement 
plan. For a description of these plans, See Note 18 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data”.  

We use actuarial estimated and related actuarial methods to calculate our obligation and expense. We are required to select certain 
actuarial assumptions, which are determined based on current market conditions, historical information and consultation with and input from our 
actuaries and asset managers. The key factors which impact our estimates are discount rates, asset return assumptions, compensation increase 
assumptions and actuarial assumptions such as retirement age and mortality which are determined as of the current year measurement date. We 
review our actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and make modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when 
appropriate. These estimates and assumptions are subject to a considerable degree of uncertainty.  

For the defined benefit pension plans, the obligation as of December 31, 2014 was determined using an assumed discount rate of 
3.77% for the U.S. Plans and 3.08% for Non-U.S. plans. Pension costs for 2014 were determined using a discount rate of 4.04% for the U.S. 
Plans and 4.26% for the Non-U.S. plans and long-term asset return assumption of 7.25% for the U.S. Plans and 6.77% for the Non-U.S. plans. 
The following table presents the sensitivity of the obligation and expense to a hypothetical change in the discount rate assumptions:  

     

Converted 
 

Options     
Granted  
Options   

Weighted-average per share fair market value of the underlying stock (1)     $ 20.00      $ 20.00    
Weighted-average exercise price       7.54        20.00    
Expected term of the option (2)       6 years        6 years    
Annual risk-free interest rate over the option’s expected term (3)       1.8 %      1.8 %  
Expected annual dividend yield on the underlying stock over the option’s expected 

term (4)       0.0 %      0.0 %  
Expected stock price volatility over the option’s expected term (5)       65.0 %      65.0 %  
Grant-date calculated value     $ 15.94      $ 11.48    

  
(1) Based on the estimated fair value of MPG common stock on conversion or grant date. 
(2) Determined based on the assumption that the employee will exercise options evenly over the period when the options are vested, ending on 

the date when the options would expire. 
(3) Based on U.S. Treasury yield curves. If a security matching the expected term of the option was not available, a blended rate was derived 

from the yield curve of securities with similar terms. 
(4) As no dividend policy was established for MPG as of the conversion or grant date, the dividend assumption was 0%. 
(5) Based on historical volatility of comparable companies within our industry. 
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Change in discount rate:    25 Basis Point Increase      25 Basis Point Decrease   
     U.S. Plans      Non-U.S. Plans      U.S. Plans      Non-U.S. Plans   
     (In millions)   
Resulting change in obligation     $ (1.3 )     $ (2.4 )     $ 1.4       $ 2.5    
Resulting change in 2014 cost       *         *         *         *    

  
* Increase/decrease is less than $0.1 million. 
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A hypothetical 50 basis point decrease in the asset return assumption would increase the annual cost of benefits by $0.3 million.  

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  

See Note 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data.”  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements.  

   

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices for products we use in our 
manufacturing and sellable scrap we generate from manufacturing. To reduce our exposure to these risks, we maintain risk management controls 
to monitor these risks and take appropriate actions to attempt to mitigate such forms of market risks. We do not hold financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes.  

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk  

As a result of our global operations, we generate a significant portion of our sales and incur a substantial portion of our expenses in 
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. To the extent that we have significantly more costs than sales generated in a currency other than the U.S. 
dollar, we are subject to risk if the currency in which our costs are paid appreciates against the currency in which we generate sales because the 
appreciation effectively increases our cost in that country. We may selectively employ derivative instruments to reduce our foreign currency 
exchange risk. As of December 31, 2014, we had no material derivative instruments in place.  

The financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of some of our operating entities are reported in currencies other than 
the U.S. dollar and then translated into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange rate for inclusion in our financial statements. As a result, 
appreciation of the U.S. dollar against these other currencies generally will have a negative impact on our reported sales and profits while 
depreciation of the U.S. dollar against these other currencies will generally have a positive effect on reported sales and profits. Our primary 
exposure is to fluctuations in the Euro exchange rate, and we also have exposure to fluctuations in the Mexican Peso, Korean Won and Chinese 
Renminbi exchange rates.  
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS OF M ARKET RISK 
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The following table sets forth a sensitivity analysis of the effect a hypothetical change in the U.S. dollar to Euro exchange rate would 
have on our net sales for the year ended December 31, 2014:  
   

Interest Rate Risk  

We are subject to interest rate market risk in connection on our Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility (together our 
“Credit Facilities”). As of December 31, 2014, our Credit Facilities provided for variable rate borrowings of up to $1,574.4 million including 
$234.4 million under our Revolving Credit Facilities, net of $15.6 million of letters of credit. The variable interest rate on our Term Loan 
Facility is subject to a LIBOR floor. Our Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a variable rate based on LIBOR or a base rate plus an 
applicable margin. Due to the LIBOR floor, an assumed 25 basis point change in interest rates would have no impact on our annual interest 
expense from our Term Loan Facility. However, an assumed 25 basis point change in interest rates would change interest expense on our 
Revolving Credit Facility by $0.6 million if fully drawn and outstanding for the entire year.  

Commodity Price Risk  

We do not use derivative contracts to manage commodity price risk. We maintain raw material price pass-through arrangements with 
our customers on substantially all of our products to reduce exposure to raw material price fluctuations. In instances where the risk is not covered 
contractually, we have generally been able to adjust customer prices to recover commodity cost increases.  
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Change in exchange rate:    

10% increase in  
U.S. dollar to Euro 

 
exchange rate      

10% decrease in  
U.S. dollar to Euro 

 
exchange rate   

     (In millions)   
Resulting change in net sales     $ (27.7 )     $ 33.9    
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 
and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for 
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the period from October 6, 2012 through December 31, 2012. In connection with our audits of 
the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (the financial statement schedule) 
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the period from October 6, 2012 to December 31, 2012. These consolidated financial 
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial statements and financial statement schedule of ASP 
HHI Holdings, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, which financial statements reflect total assets constituting 45% as of December 31, 2013 and net 
sales constituting 45% and 91% for the year ended December 31, 2013 and the period from October 6, 2012 through December 31, 2012, 
respectively, of the consolidated totals. Those financial statements and financial statement schedule were audited by other auditors whose report 
has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for ASP HHI Holdings, Inc., is based solely on the report 
of the other auditors.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the period from October 6, 2012 through 
December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, based on our audits and the report of 
other auditors, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a 
whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Detroit, Michigan  
March 16, 2015  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.  
Plymouth, MI  

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”), a subsidiary of and 
predecessor to Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. (“MPG”), as of December 31, 2013 (successor) and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2013 (successor), the 
period from October 6, 2012 through December 31, 2012 (successor), and the period from January 1, 2012 through October 5, 2012 
(predecessor). Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial 
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. The Company’s financial statements and financial statement schedule for the 
successor periods are not presented separately herein, while the Company’s financial statements and financial statement schedule for the 
predecessor period are presented as the predecessor entity in the MPG consolidated financial statements.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion . An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of ASP HHI Holdings, 
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 (successor) and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 (successor), the period from October 6, 2012 through December 31, 2012 (successor), and the period from January 1, 2012 
through October 5, 2012 (predecessor), in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our 
opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the Company’s basic consolidated financial statements taken as a 
whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP  

Detroit, MI  
August 22, 2014 (except for Note 24, as to which the date is March 16, 2015)  
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METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(In thousands except per share data)  
   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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     December 31,   
     2014     2013   

Assets      
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 156,498        68,224    
Receivables, net:       

Trade       312,943        222,304    
Other       31,943        26,605    

                     

Total receivables, net    344,886      248,909    
Inventories    204,789      154,800    
Deferred income taxes    12,435      10,378    
Prepaid expenses    13,004      10,750    
Other assets    14,524      16,121    

                     

Total current assets    746,136      509,182    
Property and equipment, net    750,181      539,504    
Goodwill    907,716      657,991    
Amortizable intangible assets, net    778,457      463,956    
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent    1,359      2,785    
Other assets    40,763      43,398    

                     

Total assets  $ 3,224,612      2,216,816    
         

  

        

  

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 
Current liabilities:  

Accounts payable  $ 285,468      180,581    
Accrued compensation    50,952      40,079    
Accrued liabilities    79,934      54,911    
Deferred income taxes    —       16,959    
Short-term debt    1,572      20,378    
Current maturities, long-term debt and capital lease obligations    16,497      24,143    

                     

Total current liabilities    434,423      337,051    
Long-term debt, less current maturities    1,920,310      1,209,588    
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities    23,425      25,937    
Deferred income taxes    260,703      287,960    
Other long-term liabilities    60,789      31,100    

                     

Total liabilities    2,699,650      1,891,636    
                     

Stockholders’  equity:  
Common Stock: par $0.001, 400,000 authorized, 67,075 issued and outstanding    67      67    
Paid-in capital    827,307      557,548    
Deficit    (269,663 )    (231,231 )  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (35,248 )    (3,299 )  

         
  

        
  

Total equity attributable to stockholders    522,463      323,085    
Noncontrolling interest    2,499      2,095    

                     

Total stockholders’  equity    524,962      325,180    
                     

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity  $ 3,224,612      2,216,816    
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METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(In thousands except per share amounts)  
   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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     Successor           Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2014     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012           

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

Net sales     $ 2,717,001        2,017,281         205,313           $ 680,514    
Cost of sales       2,294,108        1,708,673         199,514             558,992    

                                               

Gross profit    422,893      308,608      5,799        121,522    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    194,590      123,239      14,354        116,645    
Acquisition costs    13,046      —       25,921        13,421    
Goodwill impairment    11,803      —       —         —     

                                               

Operating profit (loss)    203,454      185,369      (34,476 )      (8,544 )  
Interest expense, net    99,894      74,667      11,148        25,766    
Loss on debt extinguishment    60,713      —       —         —     
Other, net    (11,332 )    17,872      1,510        2,455    

                                               

Other expense, net    149,275      92,539      12,658        28,221    
                                               

Income (loss) before tax    54,179      92,830      (47,134 )      (36,765 )  
Income tax expense (benefit)    (19,082 )    34,969      (15,247 )      (11,123 )  

                                               

Net income (loss)    73,261      57,861      (31,887 )      (25,642 )  
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    434      293      45        136    

                                               

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 72,827      57,568      (31,932 )    $ (25,778 )  
         

  

        

  

         

  

             

  

Weighted average shares outstanding    67,075      67,075      67,075        17,694    
  

Net income (loss) per share attributable to stockholders    
Basic  $ 1.09      0.86      (0.48 )    $ (1.46 )  
Diluted    1.06      0.86      (0.48 )      (1.46 )  
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METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)  

(In thousands)  
   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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     Successor           Predecessor   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2014     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013     

Successor 
 

Period  
2012           

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

Net income (loss)     $ 73,261        57,861        (31,887 )         $ (25,642 )  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:                

Foreign currency translation       (23,984 )      (3,481 )      (397 )           296    
Net actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans  

(net of tax of $1,624, $(101), $(4), and $—, respectively)       (7,995 )      462        6             —     
                                              

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    (31,979 )    (3,019 )    (391 )      296    
                                              

Comprehensive income (loss)    41,282      54,842      (32,278 )      (25,346 )  
Less comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest    404      191      36        139    

                                              

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 40,878      54,651      (32,314 )    $ (25,485 )  
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METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DE FICIT)  

(In thousands)  
   

   
   
   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Membership 
 

Interests     Deficit     

Accumulated  
other  

comprehensive 
 

income (loss)     

Noncontrolling 
 

interest      

Total  
stockholders’

 
equity  

(deficit)   
Predecessor             

Predecessor balance, December 31, 2011     $ 94,553        (185,599 )      (1,285 )      597         (91,734 )  
Purchase of treasury stock                —     
Stock-based compensation expense reversal       (2,561 )             (2,561 )  
Dividends, net of $1,323 of tax benefits on restricted 

stock units         (68,677 )           (68,677 )  
Net income (loss)         (25,778 )        136         (25,642 )  
Other comprehensive income           293        3         296    

                                                    

Balance, October 5, 2012  $ 91,992      (280,054 )    (992 )    736      (188,318 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

         

  

     

Common 
 

stock      
Paid-in  
capital     Deficit     

Accumulated  
other  

comprehensive 
 

loss     

Noncontrolling 
 

interest     

Total  
stockholders’

 
equity  

(deficit)   
Successor               

Balance, October 6, 2012     $ —          —         —         —         —         —     
Retrospective recognition of the Combination and 

stock split       67                 67    
Other          625              625    
Recognition of the HHI Transaction          254,734            956        255,690    
Recognition of the Metaldyne Transaction          295,387            912        296,299    
Stock-based compensation expense          100              100    
Net income (loss)            (31,932 )        45        (31,887 )  
Other comprehensive loss              (382 )      (9 )      (391 )  

                                                              

Balance, December 31, 2012    67      550,846      (31,932 )    (382 )    1,904      520,503    
Dividends    (256,867 )    (256,867 )  
Other    527      527    
Stock-based compensation expense    6,175      6,175    
Net income    57,568      293      57,861    
Other comprehensive loss    (2,917 )    (102 )    (3,019 )  

                                                              

Balance, December 31, 2013    67      557,548      (231,231 )    (3,299 )    2,095      325,180    
Recognition of the Grede Transaction    258,553      258,553    
Pre-combination issuance of additional Grede 

membership interests    1,920      1,920    
Dividends    (111,259 )    (111,259 )  
Other    (2,450 )    (2,450 )  
Stock-based compensation expense    17,319      17,319    
Offering related costs    (5,583 )    (5,583 )  
Net income    72,827      434      73,261    
Other comprehensive loss    (31,949 )    (30 )    (31,979 )  

                                                              

Balance, December 31, 2014  $ 67      827,307      (269,663 )    (35,248 )    2,499      524,962    
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METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(In thousands)  
   

     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2014     

Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2013     

Successor  
Period  
2012           

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

Cash flows from operating activities:                
Net income (loss)     $ 73,261        57,861        (31,887 )         $ (25,642 )  
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by (used for) 

operating activities:                
Depreciation and amortization       210,807        163,382        18,692             20,001    
Debt fee amortization       6,341        7,628        944             2,677    
Loss on debt extinguishment       60,713        —         —              —     
Goodwill impairment       11,803        —         —              —     
(Gain) loss on fixed asset dispositions       2,125        1,419        —              (1,052 )  
Deferred income taxes       (88,431 )      (9,216 )      (17,364 )           5,130    
Recognition of deferred gain       —         —         —              (729 )  
Recognition of deferred revenue       (950 )      (1,343 )      (573 )           (1,644 )  
Noncash interest expense       928        966        25             —     
Write-down of purchase price receivable       —         10,121        —              —     
Stock-based compensation expense       17,319        6,175        100             —     
Foreign currency adjustment       (12,743 )      2,204        1,793             —     
Other       3,837        3,706        56             2,687    
Changes in assets and liabilities:                

Receivables, net       20,236        (14,631 )      19,696             (8,858 )  
Inventories       (15,571 )      (1,962 )      12,109             (1,139 )  
Prepaid expenses and other assets       (1,001 )      28,550        6,202             (31,756 )  
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and accrued compensation       22,602        (14,988 )      (10,797 )           106,010    
Long-term assets and liabilities, other       (5,855 )      (5,614 )      (807 )           (982 )  

                                              

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities    305,421      234,258      (1,811 )      64,703    
                                              

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Capital expenditures    (156,390 )    (122,256 )    (10,430 )      (32,592 )  
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets    1,420      1,068      —         1,513    
Capitalized patent costs    (243 )    (352 )    (114 )      (222 )  
Grede Transaction, net of cash acquired    (829,656 )    —       —         —     
HHI Transaction, net of cash acquired    —       —       (722,248 )      —     
Metaldyne Transaction, net of cash acquired    —       —       (782,165 )      —     
Release of escrow from the Metaldyne Transaction    —       4,807      —         —     

                                              

Net cash used for investing activities    (984,869 )    (116,733 )    (1,514,957 )      (31,301 )  
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Cash dividends    (111,259 )    (256,867 )    —         (70,000 )  
Other stock activity    (2,444 )    579      —         —     
Proceeds from stock issuance    260,474      —       545,993        —     
Borrowings of short-term debt    388,773      545,621      6,000        38,900    
Repayments of short-term debt    (407,357 )    (533,182 )    —         (38,903 )  
Proceeds of long-term debt    2,658,250      240,000      1,040,252        49,875    
Principal payments of long-term debt    (1,952,041 )    (59,904 )    —         (2,814 )  
Payment of debt issue costs    (45,427 )    (14,956 )    (34,851 )      (2,455 )  
Proceeds of other debt    998      1,390      —         —     
Principal payments of other debt    (7,703 )    (3,756 )    (250 )      (1,947 )  
Payment of offering related costs    (5,583 )    —       —         —     
Payment of contingent consideration for the Metaldyne Transaction    —       (10,000 )    —         —     

                                              

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities    776,681      (91,075 )    1,557,144        (27,344 )  
Effect of exchange rates on cash    (8,959 )    1,443      (45 )      344    

                                              

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 88,274      27,893      40,331      $ 6,402    
         

  

        

  

        

  

             

  

Cash and cash equivalents:    
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  $ 68,224      40,331      —       $ 4,203    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    88,274      27,893      40,331        6,402    

                                              

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 156,498      68,224      40,331      $ 10,605    
         

  

        

  

        

  

             

  

Supplementary cash flow information:    



See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Cash paid for income taxes, net  $ 63,921      46,889      324      $ 15,549    
Cash paid for interest    74,624      77,881      5,217        22,004    
Noncash transactions:    

Capital expenditures in accounts payables    36,192      15,378      18,213        2,410    
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METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

(1) Description of the Business  

Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. is a leading provider of components for use in engine, transmission and driveline (“Powertrain”) 
and chassis, suspension, steering and brake component (“Safety-Critical”) Platforms for the global light, commercial and industrial vehicle 
markets. We produce these components using complex metal-forming manufacturing technologies and processes for a global customer base of 
vehicle original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and tier I suppliers (“Tier I suppliers”). Our components help OEMs meet fuel economy, 
performance and safety standards. Our metal-forming manufacturing technologies and processes include aluminum casting (“Aluminum Die 
Casting”), cold, warm or hot forging (“Forging”), iron casting (“Iron Casting”), and powder metal forming (“Powder Metal Forming”), as well 
as value-added precision machining and assembly (“Advanced Machining and Assembly”). These technologies and processes are used to create 
a wide range of customized Powertrain and Safety-Critical components that address requirements for power density (increased component 
strength to weight ratio), power generation, power / torque transfer, strength and Noise, Vibration and Harshness (“NVH”). Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. is organized and operated as three operating segments: the HHI segment, the Metaldyne segment and the Grede 
segment.  

(2) Basis of Presentation and Consolidation  

Basis of Presentation  

Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. was formed through the reorganization of ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, 
“HHI”), ASP MD Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Metaldyne”) and ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC (together with its 
subsidiaries, “Grede”) on August 4, 2014 (the “Combination”). The Combination occurred through mergers with three separate wholly owned 
merger subsidiaries of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. (“MPG,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” and similar terms refer to Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. and all of its subsidiaries, including HHI, Metaldyne and Grede). In connection with the Combination, 13.4 million 
shares of MPG common stock were issued in exchange for the outstanding shares of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede. On November 18, 2014, the 
outstanding shares of MPG common stock were split at a 5-to-1 ratio (the “Stock Split”). After the Stock Split, 67.1 million shares were 
outstanding. The number of authorized shares was increased to 400.0 million.  

These financial statements present HHI, as the predecessor to MPG. HHI Group Holdings, Inc. (the “Predecessor Company”) was 
acquired by an affiliate of American Securities LLC (together with its affiliates, “American Securities”) on October 5, 2012. Metaldyne was 
acquired by a subsidiary of American Securities on December 18, 2012. Grede was acquired by American Securities on June 2, 2014.  

The period from January 1, 2012 to October 5, 2012 is referred to as the Predecessor Period and the period from October 6, 2012 to 
December 31, 2014 as the Successor Period. The period from October 6, 2012 to December 31, 2012 is referred to as Successor Period 2012 and 
the period from January 1, 2012 to October 5, 2012 is referred to as Predecessor Period 2012.  

Consolidation  

The Combination has been accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control in a manner similar to a pooling of 
interests, that is, the bases of accounting of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede were carried over to MPG. These financial statements reflect the 
retrospective application of the MPG capital structure and the Stock Split for all successor periods. These financial statements reflect the 
accounts of HHI for all periods, Metaldyne from December 18, 2012 forward and Grede from June 2, 2014 forward.  

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

(3) Significant Accounting Policies  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”) as 
defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) within the FASB Accounting Standards Codification.  
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Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts reported therein. Use of significant estimates and judgments are inherent in the accounting for acquisitions, stock-based 
compensation, income taxes and employee benefit plans, as well as in the testing of goodwill and long-lived assets for potential impairment. Due 
to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods may be based upon amounts that differ from 
these estimates.  

Revenue Recognition  

Revenue is recognized when there is evidence of a sale, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the sales price is fixed 
or determinable and the collectability of receivables is reasonably assured. The Company has ongoing adjustments to its pricing arrangements 
with customers based on the related content and cost of its products. These adjustments are accrued as products are shipped to customers. Such 
pricing accruals are adjusted periodically and as they are settled with the customers. The Company has agreements allowing the pass-through of 
changes in the prices of raw materials referred to as material surcharges. Material surcharges are recognized as revenue when an agreement is 
reached, delivery of the goods has occurred and the amount of the material surcharge is determinable.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

All highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less are considered to be cash and cash equivalents. A cash 
pooling strategy is in place with certain foreign operations. Checks issued but not presented to banks may result in book overdraft balances for 
accounting purposes and such book overdrafts are classified within accounts payable and the change as a component of operating cash flows.  

Receivables  

Accounts receivable are stated at amounts estimated by management to be the net realizable value. An allowance for doubtful 
accounts is recorded when it is probable that amounts will not be collected based on specific identification of customer circumstances, age of the 
receivable and other pertinent information. Account balances are charged against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted 
and the potential for recovery is considered remote. Valuation allowances for doubtful accounts, pricing accruals and anticipated customer 
deductions and returns are recorded based upon current information.  

Agreements are in place with international factoring companies to sell customer accounts receivable from locations in France, 
Germany, the Czech Republic, and the United Kingdom (“U.K.”) on a nonrecourse basis. The Company collects payment and remits such 
collections to the factoring companies for a portion of the sold receivables. The Company has no continuing involvement with all other sold 
receivables. A commission is paid to the factoring company plus interest calculated from the date the receivables are sold to either the 
customer’s due date or a specified number of days thereafter or until the receivable is deemed uncollectible.  

Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method for over 90% of our 
inventories. Cost includes the cost of materials, direct labor and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead. To the extent management 
determines it is holding excess or obsolete inventory, the inventory is written down to its net realizable value.  

Pre-production Costs on Long-term Supply Arrangements  

Pre-production engineering, research and development costs related to products made for customers under long-term supply 
agreements are expensed as incurred. Pre-production tooling costs related to products made for customers under long-term supply agreements 
are expensed when reimbursement is not contractually guaranteed by the customer or where the customer has not provided a noncancelable right 
to use the tooling.  

Long-lived assets  

Long-lived assets other than goodwill are evaluated for impairment if adverse events or changes in circumstances indicate it is more 
likely than not that the assets are impaired. For each asset group affected by such impairment indicators, the recoverability of the carrying value 
of that asset group is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted cash flows related to that asset group to the asset group’s carrying 
value.  
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Property and equipment, net: Property and equipment additions, including significant improvements, are recorded at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation. Upon retirement or disposal of property and equipment, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
accounts and any gain or loss is included in cost of sales. Repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.  

Depreciation is provided for using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Assets held under 
capital lease are included in property and equipment, net and the depreciation of these assets is included in accumulated depreciation. Capital 
lease assets are depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or their useful lives.  

Amortizable intangible assets, net: The useful lives of intangible assets are determined based on consideration of multiple factors 
including the Company’s expected use of the assets, the expected useful life of related assets and other external factors that may limit the useful 
life. Amortization is provided for using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives for intangible assets with definite useful lives.  

Goodwill Impairment Testing  

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually or more often if a triggering event occurs between annual tests. The annual tests are 
performed in the fourth quarter.  

For each reporting unit to which goodwill has been assigned, the evaluation for impairment entails a quantitative analysis of the fair 
value of the reporting unit compared to the carrying value of the reporting unit. The Company may opt to perform a qualitative assessment to 
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount prior to performing the 
quantitative assessment.  

Foreign Currency Translation  

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars at end-of-period exchange rates for assets and liabilities 
and an average monthly exchange rate for revenues and expenses. Translation adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) within equity. Transaction gains and losses arising from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on 
transactions denominated in currencies other than a subsidiary’s functional currency are recognized in other expense, net .  

Stock-based Compensation  

Stock-based compensation is measured based on the grant-date calculated value or grant-date fair value of the award, and is 
recognized as expense over the requisite service period. The determination of calculated value differs from fair value in that the volatility 
assumption used in determining the value of the awards is based on the volatility of comparable companies rather than a volatility assumption for 
the issuing entity. Calculated value is used to measure compensation cost when specific entity level volatility information is insufficient or 
unavailable. To measure compensation cost of stock options, we determined calculated value using a Black-Scholes or binomial option pricing 
model. To measure compensation cost of restricted stock awards, we use the market value of the Company’s common stock as of the grant date.  

Employee Benefit Plans  

Annual net periodic benefit expense and benefit liabilities under defined benefit pension plans and statutory retirement benefits are 
determined on an actuarial basis. Assumptions used in the actuarial calculations have a significant impact on plan obligations and expense. 
Pensions and other postretirement employee benefit costs and related liabilities and assets are dependent upon assumptions used in calculating 
such amounts. These assumptions include discount rates, expected returns on plan assets, health care cost trends, compensation and other factors. 
Each year end, actual experience is compared to the more significant assumptions used and the assumptions are adjusted, if warranted. Discount 
rates are based upon an expected benefit payments duration analysis and the equivalent average yield rate for high quality fixed income 
investments. Certain pension benefits are funded through investment held with trustees and the expected long-term rate of return on fund assets 
is based on actual historical returns modified for known changes in the market and any expected change in investment policy. Actual results that 
differ from the assumptions used are accumulated and amortized over future periods and, accordingly, generally affect recognized expense in 
future periods.  

Income Taxes  

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and tax loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using  
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enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. 
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 
The effect of income tax positions are recognized only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax 
positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are 
reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recorded in income 
tax expense.  

Noncontrolling Interests  

The accumulated amount of noncontrolling interests is classified in the consolidated balance sheets as a component of total 
stockholders’ equity and noncontrolling interests are reflected in the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive 
income (loss).  

Fair Value Measurements  

The fair values of assets and liabilities disclosed are categorized based on a fair value hierarchy giving the highest priority to the 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities and lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The various levels of the fair value 
hierarchy are described as follows:  
   

(4) Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted  

In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-08, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) 
and Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity . 
This ASU changes the criteria for reporting and requires expanded disclosures about discontinued operations. The guidance is effective for fiscal 
years beginning on or after December 15, 2014 and should be applied prospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU is 
not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.  

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) . This guidance will supersede 
most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The underlying principle is that an entity will recognize 
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods 
or services. The guidance provides a five-step analysis of transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized. Other major provisions 
include capitalization of certain contract costs, consideration of time value of money in the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable 
consideration to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The guidance also requires enhanced disclosures 
regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. The guidance 
is effective for the interim and annual periods beginning on or after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted. The guidance permits 
the use of either a retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. We have not yet selected a transition method and are currently evaluating 
the impact of the amended guidance on the consolidated financial statements.  

(5) Acquisitions  

Grede Transaction  

On June 2, 2014 (the “Acquisition Date”), a subsidiary of American Securities, ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC (together 
with its subsidiaries, “Grede”), purchased 97.1% of the membership interests in Grede Holdings LLC (the “Grede Transaction”). Management 
and outside investors purchased the remaining membership interests. Upon completion of the Combination, 100% of Grede is owned by the 
Company.  
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Level 1 Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on quoted market prices for identical assets and liabilities in an 
active market that the Company has the ability to access. 

Level 2 Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that 
are observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3 Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both 
unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. 
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Purchase Accounting  

The Grede Transaction was a cash purchase and was accounted for under the acquisition method. The accounting for the acquisition 
has been pushed-down to the financial statements of the Company. All assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded in the financial 
statements at estimated fair value.  

The purchase price for the acquisition, net of cash and cash equivalents, was $829.7 million. The acquisition was funded by cash 
from capital contributions ($251.1 million from affiliates of American Securities, $6.5 million from certain members of the Grede management 
team and $1.0 million from outside investors) and the issuance of term loan debt.  

The Grede Transaction was recorded, as revised for updated valuation information, in the accounts of the Company as follows:  
   

The valuation method used to estimate the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed entailed a cost approach, a market 
approach, an income approach or a combination of those approaches based on the nature of the asset or liability being valued. The estimated 
value of property and equipment was determined using a cost approach, relying on estimated replacement costs. Within amortizable intangible 
assets, customer relationships and platforms were valued using an income approach, relying on estimated multi-period excess earnings 
attributable to the relationship or platform.  
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June 2,  
2014   

     (In thousands)   
Fair value of consideration     $ 829,656    
Assets acquired:     

Receivables       120,232    
Inventories       40,121    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       11,360    
Property and equipment       208,525    
Amortizable intangible assets       369,100    
Other assets       9,107    

           

Total assets acquired    758,445    
Liabilities assumed:  

Accounts payable    94,658    
Accrued liabilities    25,734    
Deferred tax liabilities    47,496    
Short-term debt    1,752    
Other long-term liabilities    20,677    

           

Total liabilities assumed    190,317    
         

  

Net identifiable assets acquired, net of cash and cash equivalents    568,128    
           

Goodwill  $ 261,528    
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Goodwill recognized was primarily attributable to potential operational synergies related to overhead cost reductions and the 
assembled workforce. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.  

Additional details of the assets recognized were as follows:  
   

The estimated fair value of inventories was $4.4 million higher than the carrying value at the time of the acquisition. The entire 
amount of this step-up in value was expensed in cost of sales during 2014 based on an analysis of Grede’s inventory turns.  

Grede has estimated a remaining useful life of 10 years for the customer relationships and platforms due to the strong and 
longstanding relationships with our customers, which include many of the leading global OEMs and Tier 1 Suppliers. Grede has estimated a 
remaining useful life of 15 years for the trade names based on the nature of the industry, the length of time it has been in business and the 
relative strength of the name in the marketplace.  

Included within other long-term liabilities are obligations for noncontributory defined benefit plans maintained by Grede for certain 
employees covered by collective bargaining agreements. The obligations for these plans were measured as of the acquisition date.  

The funded status as of the Acquisition Date was as follows:  
   

A weighted average discount rate of 4.04% was used to determine the projected benefit obligation. The rate of compensation increase 
is not applicable due to the fact that the plans’ benefits are based on credited years of service. The plans’ assets  
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June 2,  
2014            

     (In thousands)            
Inventories          

Raw materials     $ 11,937         
Work in process       12,545         
Finished goods       15,639         

                

Total inventories  $ 40,121    
         

  

     

     
June 2,  
2014        

Estimated  
Useful Lives   

     (In thousands)        (In years)   
Property and equipment          

Land     $ 12,220           —     
Buildings       31,839           5 - 29    
Machinery and equipment       148,827           1 – 20    
Assets not yet placed in service       15,639           —     

                

Total property and equipment  $ 208,525    
         

  

     

     
June 2,  
2014        

Amortization 
 

Period   
     (In thousands)        (In years)   
Amortizable intangible assets          

Customer relationships and platforms     $ 338,700           10    
Other: trade names       30,400           15    

                

Total amortizable intangible assets  $ 369,100    
         

  

     

     
June 2,  
2014   

     (In thousands)   
Projected benefit obligation     $ 33,864    
Fair value of plan assets       27,615    

           

Funded Status  $ (6,249 )  
         

  



Table of Contents  

are composed primarily of pooled separate accounts in which the underlying securities are primarily publicly traded domestic equities and 
government debt securities. The amount of Grede revenues and earnings included in the consolidated statements of operations subsequent to the 
Grede Transaction was as follows:  
   

Grede Transaction-related expenses incurred in 2014 were $13.0 million, which were recorded within acquisition costs , of which 
$8.3 million was paid to related parties.  

Metaldyne Transaction  

The acquisition of Metaldyne by American Securities (the “Metaldyne Transaction”) on December 17, 2012 was accounted for under 
the acquisition method. As such, all assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. 
The accounting for the acquisition has been pushed-down to the financial statements of the Company.  

The purchase price of the Metaldyne Transaction, including contingent consideration was $833.7 million. The Metaldyne 
Transaction was financed through a $620 million Senior Secured Credit Facility which included a $75 million revolving credit facility (of which 
$6 million was outstanding as of December 18, 2012), $295 million in cash and equity (of which $290 million was paid by affiliates of American 
Securities and $0.5 million was paid and $4.8 million of equity was converted by certain members of the Metaldyne management team) and 
$175 million of Metaldyne’s cash as of December 18, 2012. After the Metaldyne Transaction and prior to the Combination, affiliates of 
American Securities owned 98.2% and certain members of Metaldyne management owned 1.8% of Metaldyne.  

The purchase price of the Metaldyne Transaction reflected a reduction of $14.9 million for a purchase price adjustment recorded 
under the terms of the Metaldyne Transaction agreement. During 2013, the former stockholders disputed the calculation of the purchase price 
adjustment. The dispute was ultimately resolved through an arbitration process resulting in a reduction of the purchase price adjustment in favor 
of the former stockholders of $10.1 million. This amount was recorded in other expense, net in during 2013. The remaining purchase price 
adjustment of $4.8 million was received in cash in 2013.  

Metaldyne Transaction-related expenses of $15.6 million were incurred and recorded within acquisition costs in Successor Period 
2012, of which $8.2 million was paid to related parties.  

The amount of Metaldyne revenues and earnings included in the consolidated statements of operations subsequent to the Metaldyne 
Transaction was as follows:  
   

HHI Transaction  

The acquisition of HHI by American Securities (the “HHI Transaction”) on October 5, 2012 was accounted for under the acquisition 
method. As such, all assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The accounting 
for the acquisition has been pushed-down to the financial statements of the Company.  

The HHI Transaction was a cash purchase. The purchase price for the HHI Transaction, net of cash and cash equivalents, was 
$722.2 million. The acquisition was funded by cash from capital contributions ($235.0 million from affiliates of American Securities and $19.7 
million from certain members of the HHI management team) and the issuance of term loan debt. After the HHI Transaction and prior to the 
Combination, affiliates of American Securities owned 92.3% and certain members of HHI management owned 7.7% of HHI. Sale proceeds of 
$77.3 million were placed into an escrow account to be released upon the finalization of various true-up calculations and once certain 
representations and warranties have settled. As of December 31, 2013, $32.3 million of the escrow had been released to the sellers, $33.8 million 
was released in April 2014 and the final release is expected in November 2015, provided the related representations and warranties have settled.  
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     2014   
     (In thousands)   
Revenues: Net sales     $ 572,126    
Earnings: Loss before income taxes       (19,224 )  

     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
Revenues: Net sales     $ 1,176,367         1,110,765         18,897    
Earnings: Income (loss) before income taxes       65,960         35,796         (28,748 )  
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HHI Transaction-related expenses of $10.3 million were incurred and recorded within acquisition costs in Successor Period 2012, of 
which $7.5 million was paid to related parties. HHI Transaction-related expenses of $13.4 million were incurred and recorded within acquisition 
costs in Predecessor Period 2012.  

The amount of HHI revenues and earnings included in the statements of operations subsequent to the HHI Transaction was as 
follows:  
   

Supplemental Pro Forma Information (Unaudited)  

The following table presents the revenues and earnings of MPG on a pro forma basis as if the Grede Transaction had occurred on 
January 1, 2013:  
   

These results do not purport to be indicative of the results of operations which actually would have resulted had the Grede 
Transaction occurred on January 1, 2013, or of the future results of operations of the Company.  

The following table presents the revenues and earnings of MPG on a pro forma basis as if the HHI Transaction and the Metaldyne 
Transaction had occurred on January 1, 2011:  
   

These results do not purport to be indicative of the results of operations which actually would have resulted had the HHI Transaction 
and the Metaldyne Transaction occurred on January 1, 2011, or of the future results of operations of the Company.  

(6) Receivables  

Receivables as of December 31 were stated net of the following allowances:  
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     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
Revenues: Net sales     $ 968,508         906,516         186,416    
Earnings: Income (loss) before income taxes       29,721         57,034         (18,386 )  

     Pro Forma   
     2014      2013   
     (In thousands)   
Revenues: Net sales.     $ 3,144,000         3,052,900    
Earnings: Income before income taxes       93,300         103,400    

     
Pro Forma  

2012   
     (In thousands)   
Revenues: Net sales     $ 1,917,600    
Earnings: Income before income taxes       80,000    

     2014      2013   
     (In thousands)   
Doubtful accounts     $ 1,488         1,147    
Pricing accruals and anticipated customer deductions       4,781         7,955    
Returns       1,753         —     

                      

$ 8,022      9,102    
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Receivables available for sale and sold under agreements with international factoring companies as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

(7) Inventories  

Inventories as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

(8) Property and Equipment  

The carrying amount, accumulated depreciation and useful lives of property and equipment as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

Property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis. Depreciation expense was $155.0 million for 2014, $126.9 million 
for 2013, $14.4 million for Successor Period 2012 and $19.7 million for Predecessor Period 2012.  

Included in machinery and equipment are gross carrying values for assets under capital lease of $13.9 million and $15.3 million as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; related accumulated depreciation was $6.8 million and $4.0 million as of December 31, 2014 and 
2013, respectively.  
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     2014      2013   
     (In thousands)   
Available for sale     $ 51,865         56,067    
Sold       43,844         28,915    

     2014      2013   
     (In thousands)   
Raw materials     $ 67,812         49,459    
Work in process       69,929         55,197    
Finished goods       67,048         50,144    

                      

Total inventories  $ 204,789      154,800    
         

  

         

  

     
Estimated  

Useful Lives      2014      2013   
            (In thousands)   
Land and land improvements       1 - 30       $ 28,324         16,680    
Buildings and improvements       1 - 30         94,050         54,260    
Machinery and equipment       1 - 20         797,284         537,195    
Assets not yet placed in service          114,053         69,749    

                         

  1,033,711      677,884    
Accumulated depreciation    (283,529 )    (138,380 )  

                         

Property and equipment, net  $ 750,181      539,504    
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(9) Goodwill  

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill by segment were as follows:  
   

In conjunction with our annual impairment test, the Company concluded that the goodwill assigned to a reportable unit within the 
HHI segment (the “Unit”) was no longer recoverable. The Unit manufactures wheel bearings for a large OEM customer at our facility in 
Sandusky, Ohio (the “Sandusky facility”). Under the terms of our contract with this customer, labor costs at the Sandusky facility are subsidized 
by the customer. In our assessment of the recoverability of the Unit’s goodwill, the Company estimated the fair value of the Unit using an 
income method based on discounted cash flows, which resulted in a fair value below the carrying value. Key factors impacting a lower fair value 
included the scheduled attrition of programs for the OEM customer and the expiration of labor subsidies in September 2015. An impairment loss 
of $11.8 million was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2014, representing the full amount of goodwill assigned to the Unit.  

(10) Amortizable Intangible Assets  

The carrying amount and accumulated amortization of intangible assets as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

   

Amortization expense was $54.8 million for 2014, $34.0 million for 2013, $4.3 million for Successor Period 2012, and $0.3 million 
for Predecessor Period 2012. As of December 31, 2014, the weighted-average useful life of customer relationships and platforms was 13 years.  

Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is $70.1 million for 2015, $70.1 million for 2016, $70.0 million for 2017, 
$68.5 million for 2018 and $68.5 million for 2019.  
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HHI  

Segment      

Metaldyne 
 

Segment      
Grede  

Segment      Total   
     (In thousands)   
Balance December 31, 2012     $ 309,399         348,592         —          657,991    

                                            

Balance December 31, 2013    309,399      348,592      —       657,991    
Goodwill resulting from Grede Transaction    —       —       261,528      261,528    
Impairment    (11,803 )    —       —       (11,803 )  

                                            

Balance December 31, 2014  $ 297,596      348,592      261,528      907,716    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     2014   

     

Gross  
Carrying  
Amount      

Accumulated 
 

Amortization      

Net  
Carrying 
Amount   

     (In thousands)   
Customer relationships and platforms     $ 745,200         (76,514 )       668,686    
Other       126,360         (16,589 )       109,771    

                                 

Total  $ 871,560      (93,103 )    778,457    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     2013   

     

Gross  
Carrying  
Amount      

Accumulated 
 

Amortization      

Net  
Carrying 
Amount   

     (In thousands)   
Customer relationships and platforms     $ 406,500         (30,293 )       376,207    
Other       95,717         (7,968 )       87,749    

                                 

Total  $ 502,217      (38,261 )    463,956    
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(11) Debt  

The carrying value of debt as of December 31 was as follows:  
   

Credit Facilities  

In October 2014, MPG Holdco I Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary (“Holdco”) entered into a senior secured credit 
facility (the “Senior Credit Facilities”) consisting of a $1,350.0 million term loan (“Term Loan Facility”) and a $250.0 million revolving credit 
facility (“Revolving Credit Facility”).  

Interest on the Term Loan Facility is accrued at a rate equal to the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) rate (bearing a LIBOR 
floor of 1.00%) plus an applicable margin of 3.25% or a base rate that is the higher of the Federal Funds Rate (plus 0.50%), the U.S. prime rate 
as published in the Wall Street Journal, or LIBOR (plus 1.00%), plus an applicable margin of 2.25%, at Holdco’s option. Prior to the Company’s 
initial public offering on December 12, 2014, the applicable margin was 3.50% for LIBOR rate loans and 2.50% for base rate loans. The interest 
rate in effect as of December 31, 2014 was 4.25%. The Term Loan Facility matures in 2021 and is payable in quarterly installments of 
$3.375 million beginning in March 2015. In December 2014, the Company made a prepayment of $10.0 million on the Term Loan Facility.  

Interest on the Revolving Credit Facility is accrued at a rate equal to the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin of 3.25% or a base 
rate that is the higher of the Federal Funds Rate (plus 0.50%), the U.S. prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal, or LIBOR (plus 
1.00%), plus an applicable margin of 2.25%, at Holdco’s option. The applicable margin is based on a leverage ratio grid and was 0.25% higher 
prior to the Company’s initial public offering on December 12, 2014. The Revolving Credit Facility is a five-year facility that matures in 2019. 
As of December 31, 2014, zero was outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and $234.4 million was available after giving effect to 
outstanding letters of credit.  

Holdco pays fees with respect to the Revolving Credit Facility, including (i) an unused commitment fee of 0.50% or 0.375% based 
on a leverage ratio, (ii) fixed fees with respect to letters of credit of 3.25% per annum on the stated amount of each letter of credit outstanding 
during each month and (iii) customary administrative fees.  

The agreement governing the Senior Credit Facilities contains certain covenants that, among other things, require MPG Holdco to 
maintain a leverage ratio once revolver borrowings and letters of credit exceed 35% of aggregate revolving credit commitments as defined under 
the terms of the Senior Credit Facilities and to comply with customary affirmative and negative covenants. In addition to scheduled maturities, 
the Term Loan Facility is subject to customary mandatory prepayments, including an excess cash flow sweep based on leverage ratio step downs 
and a mandatory prepayment for certain asset sales. Beginning in 2016, we are required to prepay a portion of the Term Loan Facility in an 
amount equal to a percentage of the preceding fiscal year’s excess cash flow, as defined, with such percentage based on our leverage ratio, as 
defined.  
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     2014      2013   
     (In thousands)   
Short-term debt:        
Revolving lines of credit     $ —          19,039    
Other short-term debt       1,572         1,339    

         
  

         
  

Total short-term debt  $ 1,572      20,378    
         

  

         

  

Long-term debt:  
Term loans  

Term Loan Facility  $ 1,340,000      —     
HHI Term Loans    —       565,894    
Metaldyne USD Term Loan    —       535,535    
Metaldyne Euro Term Loan    —       136,303    

Senior Notes    600,000      —     
Other long-term debt (various interest rates)    589      368    

                      

Total    1,940,589      1,238,100    
Unamortized discount on term loans    (6,579 )    (8,088 )  
Current maturities    (13,700 )    (20,424 )  

                      

Total long-term debt  $ 1,920,310      1,209,588    
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The agreements governing the Senior Credit Facilities and the Senior Notes restrict the payment of dividends except (i) to pay 
reasonable estimated amount of taxes as long as not prohibited by applicable laws, (ii) to pay legal, accounting, and reporting expenses, (iii) to 
pay general administrative costs and expenses, and reasonable directors fees, and expenses; (iv) to repurchase stock owned by employees, (v) for 
management or similar fees, (vi) to pay franchise or similar taxes to maintain corporate existence, (vii) permitted tax distributions, and (viii) to 
pay dividends up to $30.0 million or 6% of the net cash proceeds from an underwritten public offering of our common stock.  

The Senior Credit Facilities are guaranteed by MPG and certain of its direct and indirect existing and future domestic subsidiaries 
and are secured on a first priority basis by all or substantially all of our assets, the assets of Holdco and each guarantor’s assets, including a 
pledge of capital stock of our U.S. subsidiaries that hold domestic assets and a portion of the capital stock of the first tier foreign subsidiaries of 
MPG and each guarantor. The Senior Notes are guaranteed by MPG and certain of its direct and indirect existing and future domestic 
subsidiaries. The Senior Notes are pari passu in right of payment with the Senior Credit Facilities, but are effectively subordinated to the Senior 
Credit Facilities to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness.  

Notes  

In October 2014, Holdco issued $600.0 million of senior notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes mature in 2022, and bear interest 
at a rate of 7.375%, payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 per the terms of the indenture governing the Senior Notes.  

The indenture governing the Senior Notes contains certain covenants, including a covenant that restricts the payment of dividends 
except (i) to pay reasonable estimated amount of taxes as long as not prohibited by applicable laws, (ii) to pay legal, accounting, and reporting 
expenses, (iii) to pay general and administrative costs and expenses, and reasonable directors fees, and expenses, (iv) to repurchase stock owned 
by employees, (v) for management or similar fees, (vi) to pay franchise or similar taxes to maintain corporate existence and (vii) to pay 
dividends up to $30.0 million or 6% of the net cash proceeds from an underwritten public offering of our common stock.  

The Company has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to register notes having substantially identical terms to the Senior 
Notes with the Securities and Exchange Commission by June 9, 2015.  

Extinguished Debt  

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had outstanding a combined total of $1,101.4 million in U.S. dollar denominated term loans 
(the “USD Term Loans”) and €99 million in a Euro denominated term loan (the “Euro Term Loan”). The USD Term Loans bore interest at a 
variable rate of LIBOR plus 3.75% or a base rate plus 2.75%. LIBOR was subject to a floor of 1.25% and the base rate was subject to a floor of 
2.25%. The Euro Term Loan bore interest at a variable rate of Euro InterBank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) plus 5.25%. EURIBOR was subject 
to a floor of 1.25%.  

The proceeds from the Term Loan Facility and Senior Notes were used to prepay the existing debt of Metaldyne, HHI, and Grede 
(collectively the “Extinguished Debt”), as well as, fees and expenses associated with the Term Loan Facility and Senior Notes (proceeds, 
prepayment and related fees and expenses collectively the “Refinancing”). In addition to the term loans outstanding at December 31, 2013, 
included in the Extinguished Debt was a seven-year $600.0 million term loan agreement maturing in 2021, which Grede entered into in June 
2014, an incremental term loan of $115 million, which HHI entered into in May 2014. Prepayment of this debt resulted in the expensing of 
unamortized debt fees, expenses and original issue discount on the Extinguished Debt totaling $60.7 million within loss on debt extinguishment .  

Prepayment of the Extinguished Debt of Metaldyne, HHI and Grede resulted in the elimination of the restrictions on the ability of 
each to pay dividends to MPG.  

Scheduled Maturities of Long-term Debt  

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s scheduled principal payments of long-term debt for the five succeeding years were 
$13.7 million for 2015, $13.6 million for 2016, $13.8 million for 2017, $13.5 million for 2018 and $13.5 million for 2019. The scheduled 
principal payments are exclusive of potential required prepayments.  
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(12) Lease Commitments  

The Company leases certain property and equipment under capital and operating lease arrangements that expire at various dates 
through 2036. Most of the operating leases provide the option, after the initial lease term, either to purchase the property or renew its lease at the 
then fair value.  

Future minimum lease payments by the Company under capital and operating leases that have initial or remaining noncancelable 
terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2014 are as follows:  
   

Rental expense for operating leases was $12.4 million for 2014, $11.5 million for 2013, $1.6 million for Successor Period 2012 and 
$5.3 million for Predecessor Period 2012.  

(13) Equity, Dividends and Change in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income  

Equity  

On August 4, 2014, in connection with the Combination, the issued and outstanding shares of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede were 
converted to shares of MPG. The number of MPG shares issued upon conversion was determined based on the relative fair value of each entity 
to the overall fair value of MPG at the time of the Combination. Upon completion of the Combination, 13.4 million shares of MPG common 
stock were issued and outstanding.  

On November 18, 2014, MPG common stock was split at a 5-to-1 ratio, with each stockholder receiving four additional shares for 
each share held. Upon completion of the Stock Split, 67.1 million shares were outstanding. The number of authorized shares was increased to 
400 million.  

The Combination and the Stock Split have been retrospectively applied to the Successor Period financial statements.  

On December 12, 2014, American Securities sold 10,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under an initial public offering 
(the “IPO”), for which no proceeds were received by the Company. The Company recognized costs directly attributable to the IPO of 
$5.6 million within paid-in capital .  

Dividends  

HHI paid dividends to HHI stockholders totaling $111.3 million and $131.9 million on May 2, 2014 and September 20, 2013, 
respectively. The dividends paid by HHI were primarily funded by incremental term loans. Metaldyne paid a dividend to Metaldyne stockholders 
totaling $125.0 million on October 31, 2013. The dividend paid by Metaldyne was funded by an incremental term loan. The Predecessor 
Company paid dividends totaling $70.0 million in Predecessor Period 2012.  
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Capital  
Leases      

Operating 
 

Leases   
     (In thousands)   
Company minimum lease payments:        

2015     $ 6,711       $ 10,908    
2016       5,100         8,753    
2017       4,037         6,769    
2018       4,098         5,778    
2019       4,144         5,546    
Thereafter       66,811         31,163    

                      

Total minimum payments    90,901    $ 68,917    
            

  

Amount representing interest    (64,679 )  
         

  
   

Obligations under capital leases    26,222    
Obligations due within one year    (2,797 )  

              

Long-term obligations under capital leases  $ 23,425    
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Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax  
   

(14) Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to Stockholders (“EPS”)  

The Company’s basic and diluted EPS were calculated as follows:  
   

For 2014 and 2013 and Successor Period 2012, the weighted average shares outstanding were retrospectively adjusted to reflect MPG 
common stock outstanding upon completion of the Combination and the Stock Split; the equivalent shares for outstanding stock-based 
compensation awards were retrospectively adjusted to reflect the conversion of those awards into options to purchase shares of Common Stock 
of MPG and the Stock Split. For Predecessor Period 2012, the weighted average shares outstanding reflect the capital structure of HHI prior to 
the HHI Transaction.  

The number of equivalent shares excluded from the calculation as they were anti-dilutive was 0.8 million for 2014, 3.5 million for 
2013, 0.5 million for Successor Period 2012 and zero for the Predecessor Period 2012.  
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Foreign Currency 
 

Items      

Defined Benefit 
 

Items      Total   
     (In thousands)   

Predecessor                      
Balance, December 31, 2011     $ (626 )       (659 )       (1,285 )  

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications       293         —          293    
         

  
         

  
         

  

Balance, October 5, 2012  $ (333 )    (659 )    (992 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

    

Successor                      
Balance, October 6, 2012     $ —          —          —     

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications       (388 )       6         (382 )  
                                 

Balance, December 31, 2012    (388 )    6      (382 )  
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications    (3,379 )    462      (2,917 )  

                                 

Balance, December 31, 2013    (3,767 )    468      (3,299 )  
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications    (23,954 )    (8,239 )    (32,193 )  
Reclassifications    —       244      244    

                                 

Balance, December 31, 2014  $ (27,721 )    (7,527 )    (35,248 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

     Successor              Predecessor   

     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012              

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands, except per share data)   
Weighted-average shares outstanding                  

Basic       67,075         67,075         67,075             17,694    
Equivalent shares for outstanding stock-based compensation awards       1,400         —          —              —     

                                                

Diluted    68,475      67,075      67,075      17,694    
         

  

         

  

         

  

             

  

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 72,827      57,568      (31,932 )  $ (25,778 )  
EPS  

Basic  $ 1.09      0.86      (0.48 )  $ (1.46 )  
Diluted    1.06      0.86      (0.48 )    (1.46 )  
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(15) Other Income (Expense)  
   

(16) Stock-based Compensation  

In August 2014, the Board of Directors of MPG approved an equity incentive plan (the “MPG Plan”) for officers, key employees and non-
employees. The MPG Plan permits the grant of equity awards to purchase up to 5.9 million shares of MPG common stock. All awards granted 
on or after August 4, 2014 were issued under the MPG Plan.  

Restricted Shares  

In December 2014, the Company granted restricted stock awards and restricted stock unit awards to certain members of management 
(collectively the “Restricted Shares”).  

The following table summarizes the terms of the Restricted Shares:  
   

The Restricted Shares are being expensed based on their grant-date fair values on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for 
the entire award. The grant-date fair values were determined using the fair value of the Company’s common stock as of the grant date.  

Changes in the number of Restricted Shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2014 were as follows:  
   

Options  

In August 2014, in conjunction with the Combination, all outstanding stock-based compensation awards were converted (the 
“Conversion”) to options to acquire MPG common stock (the “Converted Options”) and new options to acquire MPG common stock were 
granted (the “New Options” and collectively with the Converted Options, the “MPG Options”).  
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     Successor               Predecessor   

     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012               

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
Investment income     $ 114         85         11             $ —      
Foreign currency gains (losses)       15,723         (2,295 )       (1,548 )             —      
Accounts receivable factoring commission       (918 )       (995 )       (15 )             —      
Debt transaction expenses       (2,836 )       (6,014 )       —                 (2,455 )  
Other       (751 )       (8,653 )       42               —      

                                                  

Total other, net  $ 11,332      (17,872 )    (1,510 )    $ (2,455 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

               

  

Vesting Terms    
Number of  

Shares      

Grant-date 
 

Fair Value   
     (In thousands)          
1/4 th on the 1st grant date anniversary and 3/4 th on the  

2nd grant-date anniversary       567       $ 15.00    
1/3 rd  per year on grant-date anniversary       280         15.00    

              

  847    
         

  

   

     
Number of  

Shares      

Grant-date 
 

Fair Value   
     (In thousands)          
Balance, December 31, 2013       —         

Granted       847       $ 15.00    
Forfeited       —         

              

Balance, December 31, 2014 Total minimum payments    847    
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New Options  

The following table summarizes the weighted average terms of the New Options:  
   

The New Options are being expensed based on their grant-date calculated values on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period 
for the entire award.  

Grant-date calculated values for the New Options were determined using a Black-Scholes valuation model based on the following 
weighted average assumptions:  
   

The risk-free rate was determined based on U.S. Treasury yield curves of securities matching the expected term of the awards or a blend of 
securities with similar terms. The expected term was determined using the simplified method as the Company did not have sufficient historical 
exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. Expected volatility was estimated based on historical volatility 
of comparable companies within our industry. As no dividend policy was established for MPG as of the grant date, the dividend yield 
assumption was 0%. Market value of MPG common stock was estimated to be $20.00 per share primarily through the use of an income approach 
based on the discounted cash flow method.  

Converted Options  

The Conversion was accounted for as a modification resulting from an equity restructuring. The terms of the original awards were 
modified to eliminate performance-based vesting with time-based vesting remaining as set forth in the original option agreements. The 
modification, which affected fifty-nine option holders, resulted in no incremental compensation cost to the Company. The number of options 
issued upon conversion and the exercise price of those options were determined based on the relative fair value of the underlying stock (HHI, 
Metaldyne or Grede) of the original awards to the overall fair value of MPG at the time of the Combination. In 2014, 970,395 awards were 
issued by Grede, in 2013, 39,885 awards were issued by HHI and 1,991,305 awards were issued by Metaldyne, and in 2012, 1,888,450 awards 
were issued under HHI’s plan.  

The following table summarizes the weighted average terms of the Converted Options:  
   

The Converted Options are being expensed based on their grant-date calculated values on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period for the entire award.  
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Vesting Terms    
Number of  

Options      

Exercise 
 

Price      

Contractual 
 

Terms   
     (In thousands)             (In years)   
100% upon grant       635       $ 20.00         10    
1/3 rd per year on grant-date anniversary       560         20.00         10    
1/5 th upon grant and 1/5th on December 6 of following 4 years       357         20.00         10    

                 

  1,552    
         

  

      

Grant-date calculated value (per share)  $  11.48    
Exercise price  $ 20.00    
Expected term    6 years    
Risk-free rate    1.8 %  
Expected volatility    65.0 %  
Expected dividend yield    0.0 %  

Vesting Terms    
Number of  

Options      

Exercise 
 

Price      

Contractual 
 

Terms   
     (In thousands)             (In years)   
1/5 th  per year on the anniversary of the original grant date       4,890       $ 7.54         10    
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Calculated values were determined using a Black-Scholes valuation model based on the following weighted average assumptions:  
   

Options Outstanding  

Changes in the number of Options outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2014 were as follows:  
   

Predecessor Company  

The Predecessor Company issued awards to certain key executives. The Predecessor Company primarily had two types of awards. 
One was based on service (“Timing RSUs”). The other was based upon a change in control of HHI (“Exit RSUs”). The Timing RSUs generally 
vested ratably over a three-year period from the grant date. The Exit RSUs were not previously recorded in the Predecessor Company’s financial 
statements, as they only vested once a change in control occurred.  

Based on the HHI Transaction, all outstanding awards vested on October 5, 2012. Prior to the transaction, the Timing RSUs and Exit 
RSUs were accounted for as equity-based awards and the value was determined at the grant date. Equity-based awards with exit features such as 
a change in control provision are required to be recorded as liability-based awards once the change in control is deemed probable. A sale is 
probable once the transaction is consummated. As such, the awards were accounted for as fully vested liability awards on October 5, 2012 and 
recorded at fair value in Predecessor Period 2012. This resulted in recognizing a liability of $88.6 million, additional compensation expense of 
$86.0 million and a reversal of $2.6 million previously recorded in equity. Compensation expense was included within selling, general and 
administrative expense .  

The Predecessor Company recognized additional compensation expense of $13.1 million, as part of the $86.0 million discussed 
above, for the 859,427 shares of Timing RSUs outstanding at the time of the HHI Transaction, when taking into consideration the $2.6 million of 
compensation expense previously recorded. All Timing RSUs were previously vested and the full grant-date fair value had been expensed during 
the vesting period, which was prior to 2011. Therefore, there was no compensation expense recognized in 2012 prior to the HHI Transaction.  

The Exit RSUs did not vest until there was a change in control of HHI, therefore they became fully vested at the transaction date. The 
number and amount of vesting for each of the Exit RSUs was based upon return on investment at the time of the change in control of the 
Predecessor Company’s former parent (“KPS”) and, therefore, the number of Exit RSUs could not previously be computed until there was a 
change in control. Based on the transaction value, the Exit RSUs received the maximum value of 9.14%. As such, the total number of 
outstanding Exit RSUs as of the transaction date was 1,780,224 shares. As mentioned above, the HHI Transaction triggered a change in 
accounting for the awards from equity-based to liability-based. Therefore, the full fair value of the awards was expensed in Predecessor Period 
2012, and a liability established, as no previous compensation expense was recorded. There was also a management catch-up provision to 
provide for the lost value of the Exit RSUs from the prior dividends taken by KPS. The total amount of compensation expense related to the Exit 
RSUs was $72.9 million, as part of the $86.0 million discussed above, which was recorded within selling, general and administrative expense .  
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     Original Grant Year   
     2014     2013     2012   
Grant-date calculated value (per share)     $ 12.66      $ 16.05      $ 17.50    
Exercise price     $ 18.66      $ 6.17      $ 3.31    
Expected term       7 years        6 years        6 years    
Risk-free rate       2.0 %      1.8 %      1.8 %  
Expected volatility       65.0 %      65.0 %      65.0 %  
Expected dividend yield       0.0 %      0.0 %      0.0 %  

     
Number of  

Options      

Weighted Average 
 

Exercise Price      

Weighted Average 
 

Remaining  
Contractual Term      

Aggregate  
Intrinsic  

Value   
     (In thousands)             (In years)      (In millions)   
Balance, December 31, 2013       3,920       $ 4.79          

Granted       2,522         19.48          
Exercised       —           —            
Forfeited       —           —            

                            

Balance, December 31, 2014    6,442    $ 10.54      8.5    $ 49.2    
         

  

         

  

      

Options exercisable, December 31, 2014    1,938    $ 10.60      8.2    $ 15.2    
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Stock-based Compensation Expense  
   

Compensation expense associated with the outstanding stock-based awards was recognized within selling, general and 
administrative expense . Total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested awards as of December 31, 2014 was approximately 
$37.6 million, which is expected to be recognized ratably over the remaining vesting terms.  

(17) Income Taxes  
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     Successor               Predecessor   

     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012               

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
Restricted shares     $ 309         —           —               $ 86,025    
Options       17,010         6,175         100               —      

                                                  

Total  $ 17,319      6,175      100      $ 86,025    
         

  

         

  

         

  

               

  

Tax benefit  $ 5,429      2,270      38      $ 33,123    

     Successor              Predecessor   

     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012              

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
Income (loss) before income taxes:                  

Domestic     $ (8,841 )       45,101         (47,304 )         $ (37,719 )  
Foreign       63,020         47,729         170             954    

                                                

$ 54,179      92,830      (47,134 )  $ (36,765 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

             

  

Provision (benefit) for income taxes:  
Currently payable:  

Federal  $ 43,789      23,609      2,283    $ (16,545 )  
Foreign    18,847      17,872      (151 )    292    
State and local    7,026      2,849      —        —      

                                                

  69,662      44,330      2,132      (16,253 )  
                                                

Deferred:  
Federal    (81,533 )    (6,086 )    (15,374 )    8,183    
Foreign    (420 )    (3,496 )    (151 )    —      
State and local    (6,791 )    221      (1,854 )    (3,053 )  

                                                

  (88,744 )    (9,361 )    (17,379 )    5,130    
                                                

Total income tax expense (benefit)  $ (19,082 )    34,969      (15,247 )  $ (11,123 )  
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The components of deferred taxes as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

The balance sheet presentation of net deferred tax liability follows:  
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     2014      2013   
     (In thousands)   
Deferred tax assets:        

Inventories     $ 2,221         2,836    
Property and equipment       4,025         4,405    
Accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities       16,586         8,422    
Net operating losses       11,857         10,612    
Capitalized transactions costs       2,469         5,041    
Other       17,104         14,446    

                      

  54,262      45,762    
Valuation allowance    (11,923 )    (7,055 )  

                      

  42,339      38,707    

Deferred tax liabilities:  
Property and equipment    83,574      96,395    
Intangible assets    160,547      177,637    
Investments in foreign subsidiaries    5,157      38,873    
Investment in U.S. partnership    33,938      —      
Debt issuance costs    —        14,663    
Other    6,032      2,895    

                      

  289,248      330,463    
                      

Net deferred tax liability  $ 246,909      291,756    
         

  

         

  

     2014      2013   
     (In thousands)   
Assets:        

Deferred income taxes, current     $ 12,435         10,378    
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent       1,359         2,785    

Liabilities:        
Deferred income taxes, current       —           16,959    
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent       260,703         287,960    

                      

Net deferred tax liability  $ 246,909      291,756    
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The following is a reconciliation of tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes allocated to 
income from continuing operations:  
   

The Company’s domestic deferred tax liabilities, net of reversing domestic tax assets, are attributable primarily to the basis 
difference of its domestic fixed assets and intangible assets.  

In the fourth quarter of 2014, MPG made the assertion that the earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries within the Metaldyne segment 
are indefinitely reinvested. This determination resulted from the Refinancing in October 2014 and the IPO in December 2014, which added 
significant flexibility to the Company’s capital structure. The assertion is also supported by the operational and investing needs of the 
Company’s foreign locations. As a result of this change, the Company recorded a $31.6 million deferred tax benefit for the year ended 
December 31, 2014 to derecognize a portion of the deferred tax liabilities previously recorded.  

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $97.2 million of foreign earnings attributed to the foreign subsidiaries 
that are indefinitely reinvested for which no U.S. income tax provision or deferred tax liabilities are recorded. If a U.S. deferred tax liability were 
to be recorded on those foreign earnings, the estimated tax liability would approximate $19.0 million. For those wholly owned foreign 
subsidiaries where basis differentials are not indefinitely reinvested, the Company provides deferred income taxes on the foreign earnings. As of 
December 31, 2014, this deferred income tax liability totaled $5.2 million. As of December 31, 2013, prior to the change in the indefinite 
reinvestment assertion, this amount was $38.9 million.  

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had state income tax NOL carryforwards of $8.3 million and $12.3 million, 
respectively. Of the December 31, 2014 balance, state NOL carryforwards totaling $7.6 million expire in 2015 and the remaining $0.7 million 
expire in 2024.  

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, certain foreign subsidiaries have NOL carryforward balances totaling $37.9 million and 
$33.9 million, respectively. Of the December 31, 2014 balance, foreign NOL carryforwards totaling $4.3 million will expire in various years 
ranging from 2018 through 2031, while the remaining balance of $33.6 million has no expiration date.  

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, a valuation allowance of $10.7 million and $7.1 million has been recorded for the tax effect on 
$42.5 million and $32.0 million of NOL carryforwards, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a 
valuation allowance against loss carryforwards of its Brazilian and French subsidiaries for a total of $3.9 million. Due to the history of losses at 
these entities, the Company concluded the negative evidence outweighed the positive evidence and it was no longer more likely than not that the 
net deferred tax assets would be realized. In addition to these NOL valuation allowances, the Company also recorded a valuation allowance of 
$1.3 million against its foreign tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2014. The Company believes that its foreign tax credits will not be 
utilized within the 10 year expiration period.  

For its U.S. federal income tax provision, the Company has recorded a $3.0 million research and experimentation tax credit for the 
year ended December 31, 2014. In addition, the Company’s subsidiary located in Korea has a tax holiday, which reduced tax expense 
approximately $0.4 million, $1.1 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and Successor Period 2012, 
respectively. The Korean tax holiday will expire at the end of 2015.  
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     Successor              Predecessor   

     2014     2013     

Successor 
 

Period  
2012              

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
U.S. federal statutory rate       35 %      35 %      35 %           35 %  
Tax at U.S. federal statutory rate     $ 18,963        32,491        (16,497 )         $ (12,868 )  
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit       (1,439 )      1,628        (1,534 )           (1,288 )  
Lower effective foreign tax rate       (6,048 )      (6,098 )      (492 )           —      
Non-taxable income       (2,870 )      (2,666 )      (91 )           —      
Deferred tax on outside basis of foreign shares       (31,619 )      5,031        470             —      
Goodwill impairment       4,301        —          —               —      
Nondeductible transaction/other expenses       3,655        3,438        2,961             1,353    
Change in valuation allowance       4,868        (3,030 )      11             —      
Changes in unrecognized tax benefits       (2,222 )      5,566        —               —      
Changes in prior-year estimates       2,599        (386 )      —               —      
Tax holidays, credits and incentives       (4,741 )      (1,543 )      —               —      
Domestic production activities deduction       (2,321 )      (2,368 )      (205 )           1,681    
Other, net       (2,208 )      2,906        130             (1 )  

                                              

Income taxes  $ (19,082 )    34,969      (15,247 )  $ (11,123 )  
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A reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the year 
ended December 31, 2012 (inclusive of Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012) follows:  
   

The reserve for unrecognized tax benefits totaled $4.4 million and $6.3 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. This 
reserve primarily consists of foreign tax contingencies related to ongoing tax audits. Additionally, deferred tax assets related to net operating 
losses have been reduced by $3.0 million and $3.3 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. All of the Company’s unrecognized 
tax benefits would, if recognized, reduce its effective tax rate. In connection with the Metaldyne Transaction, the former owner’s stockholders 
have indemnified Metaldyne for all pre-closing taxes for a period of three years following the Metaldyne Transaction. An indemnification asset 
of $8.3 million and $7.3 million related to the foreign tax contingencies is recorded in receivables, net as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively.  

The Company recognizes both interest and penalties accrued with respect to an underpayment of income taxes as income tax 
expense. Related to the unrecognized tax benefits noted above, the amount of interest and penalty expense was $0.2 million, $0.5 million, 
$0.2 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, Successor Period 2012 and Predecessor Period 2012, 
respectively.  

The Company has open tax years from 2004 to 2014 with varying taxing jurisdictions where taxes remain subject to examination 
including, but not limited to, the United States of America, Spain, France, Germany, and India. All necessary adjustments for the anticipated 
outcomes of ongoing examinations have been properly addressed or accrued. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, since existing examinations 
remain pending, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the expected change to the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits over the next 
twelve months.  

(18) Employee Benefit Plans  

The Company sponsors employee benefit plans for certain of its employees.  

Defined Benefit Pension Plans  

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans, including certain unfunded supplemental retirement plans, covering certain 
active and retired employees for its operations in the U.S., U.K., Germany, Mexico, France and Korea (the “Defined Benefit Pension Plans”).  

The straight-line method is used to amortize prior service amounts and unrecognized net actuarial (gains) losses.  
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     2014      2013      2012   
     (In thousands)   
Beginning balance      $9,606         4,040         3,703    

Additions to tax positions related to the current period       295         —           170    
Additions to tax positions related to the prior period       305         5,372         —      
Reductions in tax positions resulting from settlements with taxing authorities       (1,281 )       —           —      
Reductions in tax positions resulting from a lapse of the statute of limitations       (202 )       —           —      
Other       (1,339 )       194         167    

                                 

Ending balance   $7,384      9,606      4,040    
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Changes in projected benefit obligations and plan assets for the years ended December 31 were as follows:  
   

Amounts recognized on the balance sheets as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

The current portion of the above retirement benefit liabilities is recognized in accrued liabilities and the noncurrent portion is 
recognized in other long-term liabilities.  

Changes in accumulated comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 were as follows:  
   

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income that are expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit 
cost in 2015 are de minimis for the U.S. plans and $0.2 million for the non-U.S. plans.  
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     2014      2013   
     U.S.      Non-U.S.      U.S.      Non-U.S.   
     (In thousands)   
Accumulated benefit obligation at the end of the year     $ 36,642         55,049         —          49,809    

Change in projected benefit obligation:              
Beginning projected benefit obligation     $ —          51,349         —          49,547    

Obligations recognized with the Grede Transaction       33,864         —          —        
Service cost       97         1,222         —          1,200    
Interest cost       765         2,112         —          2,030    
Actuarial (gain) loss       2,968         8,824         —          (1,363 )  
Benefits paid       (778 )       (1,590 )       —          (1,555 )  
Effect of settlements       (274 )       —          —          —     
Exchange rate changes       —          (5,138 )       —          1,490    

                                            

Ending projected benefit obligation  $ 36,642      56,779      —       51,349    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Change in plan assets:  
Beginning fair value of plan assets  $ —       27,736      —       25,906    

Plan assets recognized with the Grede Transaction    27,615      —       —       —     
Actual return on plan assets    434      3,425      —       1,295    
Employer contributions    341      1,562      —       1,466    
Benefits paid    (778 )    (1,590 )    —       (1,555 )  
Effect of settlements    (274 )    —       —       —     
Exchange rate changes    —       (1,930 )    —       624    

                                            

Ending fair value of plan assets  $ 27,338      29,203      —       27,736    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     2014      2013   
     U.S.      Non-U.S.      U.S.      Non-U.S.   
     (In thousands)   
Amounts recognized in liabilities:              

Current liabilities     $ —          (215 )       —          (401 )  
Noncurrent liabilities       (9,304 )       (27,361 )       —          (23,212 )  

                                            

Funded status    (9,304 )    (27,576 )    —       (23,613 )  
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income:  

Net actuarial (gain) loss    3,471      5,743      —       (1,016 )  
                                            

Total recognized on the balance sheets  $ (5,833 )    (21,833 )    —       (24,629 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     2014      2013   
     U.S.      Non-U.S.      U.S.      Non-U.S.   
     (In thousands)   
Beginning accumulated other comprehensive income     $ —          (1,016 )       —          —     

Current period (gain) loss       3,471         7,280         —          (965 )  
Exchange rate changes       —          (521 )       —          (51 )  

                                            

Ending accumulated other comprehensive income  $ 3,471      5,743      —       (1,016 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  



Table of Contents  

Weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the periods ended of December 31 were as follows:  
   

The discount rate used was determined based upon available yields for high quality corporate and government bonds of the plan 
countries, utilizing similar durations/terms and currencies of the plan liabilities. The non-U.S. country specific rates are weighted by projected 
benefit obligation to arrive at a single weighted average rate.  

The expected long-term rate of return for the plans’ total assets is based on the expected return of each of the below asset categories, 
weighted based on the target allocation for each class. Equity securities and growth assets are expected to return 7% to 9% over the long-term, 
while debt securities and liability matching assets are expected to return between 3% and 5%.  

The rate of compensation increase for the U.S. plans is not applicable as the plans’ benefits are based upon credited years of service.  

Net periodic benefit cost for the periods ended of December 31 was as follows:  
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     2014     2013   
     U.S.     Non-U.S.     U.S.      Non-U.S.   
Discount rate       3.77 %      3.08 %      —          4.26 %  
Rate of compensation increase       Not applicable        4.74        —          4.80    

     2014     2013     Successor 2012   
     U.S.     Non-U.S.     U.S.      Non-U.S.     U.S.      Non-U.S.   
Discount rate       4.04 %      4.26 %      —          4.23 %      —          4.23 %  
Expected long-term return of plan assets       7.25        6.77        —          6.77        —          6.77    
Rate of compensation increase       Not applicable        4.80        —          4.85        —          4.86    

     2014      2013      Successor 2012   
     U.S.      Non-U.S.      U.S.      Non-U.S.      U.S.      Non-U.S.   
     (In thousands)   
Service cost     $ 97         1,222         —          1,200         —          38    
Interest cost       765         2,112         —          2,030         —          82    
Expected return on plan assets       (959 )       (1,868 )       —          (1,693 )       —          (62 )  
Amortization of net actuarial gain       —          (12 )       —          —          —          —     
Effect of settlement       22         17         —          —          —          —     

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Net periodic benefit cost  $ (75 )    1,471      —       1,537      —       58    
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The weighted average asset allocations as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

Certain policies are established to provide for growth of capital with a moderate level of volatility by investing assets per the target 
allocations. The plans’ asset allocation percentages at December 31, 2014 and 2013 approximated the target asset allocation ranges. The targeted 
asset allocations and the investment policies are reviewed periodically to determine if the policies should be changed.  

Fair value measurements for plan assets as of December 31, 2014 were as follows:  
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     2014     2013   
     U.S.     Non-U.S.     U.S.      Non-U.S.   
Asset category:            

Equity securities       49 %      70 %      —          76 %  
Debt securities       41        25        —          19    
Real estate       10        —         —          —     
Cash       —         4        —          3    
Other       —         1        —          2    

                                          

Total    100 %    100 %    —       100 %  
         

  

        

  

        

  

         

  

     Total      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3   
     (In thousands)   
Asset category:              

U.S. Plans              
Mutual funds:              

Equity securities     $ 13,379         —          13,379         —     
Fixed income securities       11,279         —          11,279         —     

Real estate       2,680         —          —          2,680    
                                            

Total  $ 27,338      —       24,658      2,680    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Non-U.S. Plans  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 770      770      —       —     
Mutual funds (non-U.S.):  

Equity securities    20,369      —       20,369      —     
Fixed income securities    6,660      —       6,660      —     
Mixed asset mutual funds (equity/fixed income)    1,404      —       1,404      —     

                                            

Total  $ 29,203      770      28,433      —     
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Fair value measurements as of December 31, 2013 were as follows:  
   

Level 1 assets include cash and cash equivalents and are valued at cost. Level 2 assets include investments in mutual funds and are 
valued using observable market inputs. Level 3 assets include investments in real estate and are valued using unobservable inputs that are 
significant to the overall fair value measurement.  

The following table summarizes the changes in Level 3 assets:  
   

Contributions to the U.S. plans and the non-U.S. plans in 2015 are estimated to be $0.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively. 
Contributions are expected to meet or exceed the minimum funding requirements of the relevant governmental authorities. Contributions may be 
made in excess of the minimum funding requirements in response to the plans’ investment performance, to achieve funding levels required by 
defined benefit plan arrangements or when deemed to be financially advantageous to do so based on their other cash requirements.  

The following payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid by the plans:  
   

Defined Contribution Plans  

The Company sponsors a number of qualified defined contribution personal savings plans for U.S. hourly and salaried employees. 
These plans allow eligible employees to contribute a portion of their compensation into the plans and generally provide employer matching 
contributions. In addition to the employer match, for certain of the plans, a contribution is made for each participant based on a dollar amount per 
hour worked. Contributions were $6.7 million for 2014, $4.9 million for 2013, and $3.0 million for 2012, inclusive of the Predecessor and 
Successor Periods.  
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     Total      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3   
     (In thousands)   
Non-U.S. Plans              

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 815         815         —           —      
Mutual funds (non-U.S.):              

Equity securities       20,174         —           20,174         —      
Fixed income securities       4,651         —           4,651         —      
Mixed asset mutual funds (equity/fixed income)       2,096         —           2,096         —      

                                            

Total  $ 27,736      815      26,921      —      
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     (In thousands)   
Balance as of December 31, 2013     $ —     

Fair value of plan assets from Grede Transaction       2,839    
Return on plan assets       62    
Purchases       39    
Sales       (260 )  

           

Balance as of December 31, 2014  $ 2,680    
         

  

     U.S.      Non-U.S.   
     (In thousands)   
December 31:        

2015     $ 1,600         1,310    
2016       1,757         1,594    
2017       1,677         1,693    
2018       2,020         1,788    
2019       1,789         1,854    
2020–2024       10,900         11,438    
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(19) Fair Value Measurements  

The carrying value and fair value of the notes and term loans as of December 31 were as follows:  
   

The fair values of the Senior Notes and Term Loan were estimated using quoted market prices. As the markets for these loans are not 
active, the loans are categorized as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of the HHI Term Loan were estimated using a 
discounted cash flow analysis based on inputs consisting of internal forecasts and projections and have, therefore, been categorized as Level 3 
within the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of the Metaldyne Term Loans were estimated using quoted market prices. As the markets for 
these loans are not active, the loans are categorized as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy.  

The fair value of the Company’s other financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents, revolving lines of credit and other long-term 
debt, are estimated to equal their carrying values due to their nature.  

(20) Commitments and Contingencies  

Various claims, lawsuits and administrative proceedings are pending or threatened against the Company or its subsidiaries, covering 
a wide range of matters that arise in the ordinary course of the Company’s business activities, primarily with respect to commercial, 
environmental and occupational and employment matters. Commercial disputes vary in nature and have historically been resolved by 
negotiations between the parties. Although the outcome of any of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not believe 
that any of these proceedings or matters in which the Company is currently involved will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
results of operations, financial position or cash flows.  

In addition, the Company is conducting remedial actions at certain of its facilities. A reserve estimate for each environmental matter 
is established using standard engineering cost estimating techniques on an undiscounted basis. In determining such costs, consideration is given 
to the professional judgment of Company environmental engineers. The Company believes any liability that may result from the resolution of 
environmental matters for which sufficient information is available to support these cost estimates will not have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows. The Company cannot predict the effect of compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations with respect to unknown environmental matters on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows or 
the possible effect of compliance with environmental requirements imposed in the future.  

As of December 31, 2014, 38% of the Company’s worldwide labor force was subject to collective bargaining agreements. The 
Company does not have national agreements in place with any union and its facilities are represented by a variety of different labor 
organizations. Collective bargaining agreements covering 20% of the labor force expire in 2015. The remaining agreements expire in 2016 
through 2018.  

(21) Related Party Transactions  

HHI, Metaldyne and Grede were parties to management services agreement with American Securities. Advisory and management 
fees and expenses totaling $14.7 million for 2014, $4.5 million for 2013 and $16.3 million for Successor Period 2012 were paid to American 
Securities under the agreements. These agreements were terminated upon completion of the initial public offering of the Company’s common 
stock on December 12, 2014. Amounts due to American Securities totaled $0.0 million and $0.6 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively  

As of December 31, 2014, affiliates of American Securities held 80.7% of the outstanding common stock of the Company.  

Prior to the HHI Transaction, an agreement with KPS and its affiliates to provide management, investment, advisory and consulting 
services was in place. Advisory fees in connection to the HHI Transaction and management fees and expenses of $1.3 million for Predecessor 
Period 2012 were paid to KPS under the agreement.  

(22) Segment and Geographical Data  

The Company is organized and operated as three operating segments: the HHI segment, the Metaldyne segment and the Grede 
segment.  
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     2014      2013   

     
Carrying  

Value      
Fair  

Value      
Carrying 

Value      
Fair  

Value   
     (In thousands)   
Senior Notes     $ 600,000         615,000         —           —      
Term Loan       1,333,421         1,343,350         —           —      
HHI Term Loan       —           —           561,940         572,600    
Metaldyne Term Loans       —           —           667,704         677,721    
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The HHI segment manufactures highly-engineered metal-based products for the North American light vehicle market. These 
components are used in Powertrain and Safety-Critical applications, including transmission components, drive line components, wheel hubs, 
axle ring and pinion gears, sprockets, balance shaft gears, timing drive systems, variable valve timing (“VVT”) components, transfer case 
components and wheel bearings.  

The Metaldyne segment manufactures highly-engineered metal-based Powertrain products for the global light vehicle markets. These 
components include connecting rods, VVT components, balance shaft systems, and crankshaft dampers, differential gears, pinions and 
assemblies, valve bodies, hollow and solid shafts, clutch modules and assembled end covers.  

The Grede segment manufactures cast, machined and assembled components for the light, commercial and industrial (agriculture, 
construction, mining, rail, wind energy and oil field) vehicle and equipment end-markets. These components are used in Powertrain and Safety-
Critical applications, including turbocharger housings, differential carriers and cases, scrolls and covers, brake calipers and housings, knuckles, 
control arms and axle components.  

The Company evaluates the performance of its operating segments based on external sales and Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted 
EBITDA is calculated as net income (loss) before tax adjusted to exclude depreciation and amortization expense, interest expense, net and other 
income and expenses that are either non-recurring or non-cash by nature, as well as management fees paid to American Securities (“sponsor 
management fees”). Adjusted EBITDA is a primary driver of cash flows from operations and a measure of our ability to maintain and continue 
to invest in our operations and provide stockholder returns. Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by 
other companies.  

Segment information for 2014, 2013 and Successor Period 2012 was as follows:  
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     2014      

December 31, 
 

2014   

     
External  

Sales      

Intersegment 
 

Sales     
Adjusted 
EBITDA      

Capital  
Expenditures      

Depreciation/ 
 

Amortization      
Total  
Assets   

     (In thousands)   
HHI     $ 968,508         9,036        193,480         61,644         76,854       $ 944,104    
Metaldyne       1,176,367         1,173        202,353         70,484         92,504         1,216,375    
Grede       572,126         7        82,758         24,262         41,450         982,005    
Elimination and other       —           (10,216 )      —           —           —           82,128    

                                                                 

Total  $ 2,717,001      —        478,591      156,390      210,807    $ 3,224,612    
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     2013      

December 31, 
 

2013   

     
External  

Sales      

Intersegment 
 

Sales     
Adjusted 
EBITDA      

Capital  
Expenditures      

Depreciation/ 
 

Amortization      
Total  
Assets   

     (In thousands)   
HHI     $ 906,516         9,942        175,033         45,068         71,740       $ 993,512    
Metaldyne       1,110,765         1,242        188,059         77,188         91,642         1,223,984    
Elimination and other       —           (11,184 )      —           —           —           (680 )  

                                                                 

Total  $ 2,017,281      —        363,092      122,256      163,382    $ 2,216,816    
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Elimination and other above reflects the elimination of intercompany sales, payables and receivables and assets held by the parent 
company. Assets held by the parent company primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets and unamortized debt fees. For 
Predecessor Period 2012, the Company had only one segment.  

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to income (loss) before tax follows:  
   

The following table presents total assets, long-lived assets and net assets by geographic area, attributed to each subsidiary’s continent 
of domicile as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.  
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     Successor Period 2012   

     
External  

Sales      

Intersegment 
 

Sales     

Adjusted 
 

EBITDA      
Capital  

Expenditures      

Depreciation/ 
 

Amortization   
                  (In thousands)          
HHI     $ 186,416         —         28,511         8,498         15,207    
Metaldyne       18,897         13        881         1,932         3,485    
Elimination and other       —          (13 )      —          —          —     

                                                      

Total  $ 205,313      —       29,392      10,430      18,692    
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

     Successor   

     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
Adjusted EBITDA     $ 478,591         363,092         29,392    
Depreciation and amortization       (210,807 )       (163,382 )       (18,692 )  
Interest expense, net       (99,894 )       (74,667 )       (11,148 )  
Loss on debt extinguishment       (60,713 )       —          —     
Gain (loss) on foreign currency       15,723         (2,295 )       (1,548 )  
Gain (loss) on fixed assets       (2,125 )       (1,419 )       —     
Debt transaction expenses       (2,973 )       (6,014 )       —     
Stock-based compensation       (17,319 )       (6,175 )       (100 )  
Sponsor management fees       (5,078 )       (4,000 )       (555 )  
Non-recurring acquisition and purchase accounting items       (22,994 )       (10,491 )       (43,254 )  
Non-recurring operational items       (18,232 )       (1,819 )       (1,229 )  

                                 

Income (loss) before tax  $ 54,179      92,830      (47,134 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

     2014      2013   

     
Total  
assets      

Noncurrent 
assets      Net assets      

Total  
assets      

Noncurrent 
assets      Net assets   

     (In thousands)   
United States of America     $ 2,684,690         2,178,658         199,414         1,777,301         1,456,689         50,950    
Europe       308,667         187,870         196,577         308,085         203,242         194,756    
Other foreign       231,255         111,948         128,971         131,430         47,703         79,474    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total foreign    539,922      299,818      325,548      439,515      250,945      274,230    
                                                                  

Total  $ 3,224,612      2,478,476      524,962      2,216,816      1,707,634      325,180    
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The following table presents the net sales by geographic area, attributed to each subsidiary’s continent of domicile:  
   

During 2014, direct sales to two customers accounted for 16% and 10% of net sales, respectively.  

(23) Summarized Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  
   

   

(24) Guarantor  

The outstanding balances of the Senior Credit Facilities and Senior Notes, entered into and issued on October 20, 2014, are 
guaranteed by all of the Company’s existing and future domestic subsidiaries (“Guarantor Subsidiaries”). All of the Guarantor Subsidiaries are 
100% owned by Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and Holdco (together, “Parent”). The guarantee is full, unconditional, joint and several. The 
Company’s non-domestic subsidiaries have not guaranteed the Senior Credit Facilities or the Senior Notes (“Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries”).  

The accompanying supplemental condensed, consolidating financial information is presented using the equity method of accounting 
for all periods presented. Under this method, investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost and adjusted for the Company’s share in the 
subsidiaries’ cumulative results of operations, capital contributions and distributions and other changes in equity. Elimination entries relate 
primarily to the elimination of investments in subsidiaries and associated intercompany balances and transactions.  
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     Successor             Predecessor   

     2014      2013      

Successor 
 

Period  
2012             

Predecessor 
 

Period  
2012   

     (In thousands)   
United States of America     $ 2,035,941         1,487,596         193,666          $ 674,134    
Europe       403,506         384,040         4,530            —      
Other foreign       277,554         145,645         7,117            6,380    

                                               

Total foreign    681,060      529,685      11,647      6,380    
                                               

Total  $ 2,717,001      2,017,281      205,313    $ 680,514    
         

  

         

  

         

  

            

  

     2014 Quarter Ended   
     March 30      June 29      September 28      December 31      Full Year   
     (In thousands, except EPS amounts)   
Net sales     $ 540,459         641,403         772,967         762,172         2,717,001    
Gross profit       83,266         104,179         117,441         118,007         422,893    
Net income attributable to stockholders       22,602         15,384         24,600         10,241         72,827    

Basic EPS     $ 0.34         0.23         0.37         0.15         1.09    
Diluted EPS       0.33         0.22         0.36         0.15         1.06    

     2013 Quarter Ended   
     March 31      June 30      September 29      December 31      Full Year   
     (In thousands, except EPS amounts)   
Net sales     $ 497,409         513,614         494,898         511,360         2,017,281    
Gross profit       74,357         78,708         75,949         79,594         308,608    
Net income attributable to stockholders       17,596         23,949         12,042         3,981         57,568    

Basic EPS     $ 0.26         0.36         0.18         0.06         0.86    
Diluted EPS       0.26         0.36         0.18         0.06         0.86    
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet   
December 31, 2014   

(In thousands)  
     
     Parent      Guarantor     Non-Guarantor      Eliminations     Consolidated   

Assets              
Current assets:               

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 52,254         3,182        101,062         —          156,498    
Receivables, net:               

Trade       —           253,648        61,805         (2,510 )      312,943    
Other       266         55,750        19,511         (43,584 )      31,943    

                                                     

Total receivables, net    266      309,398      81,316      (46,094 )    344,886    
Inventories    —        157,379      47,410      —        204,789    
Deferred income taxes    8,560      3,875      —        12,435    
Prepaid expenses    3,370      6,986      2,648      —        13,004    
Other assets    —        6,425      8,099      —        14,524    

                                                     

Total current assets    55,890      491,930      244,410      (46,094 )    746,136    
Property and equipment, net    —        517,700      232,481      —        750,181    
Goodwill    —        673,209      234,507      —        907,716    
Amortizable intangible assets, net    —        616,313      162,144      —        778,457    
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent    —        —        1,359      —        1,359    
Other assets    24,581      15,694      13,439      (12,951 )    40,763    
Intercompany receivables    1,864,968      —        —        (1,864,968 )    —      
Investment in subsidiaries    529,838      656,504      —        (1,186,342 )    —      

                                                     

Total assets  $ 2,475,277      2,971,350      888,340      (3,110,355 )    3,224,612    
         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity 
Current liabilities:  

Accounts payable  $ 538      197,088      103,662      (15,820 )    285,468    
Accrued compensation    —        36,357      14,595      —        50,952    
Accrued liabilities    18,855      38,353      53,124      (30,398 )    79,934    
Deferred income taxes    —        —        —        —        —      
Short-term debt    —        268      1,304      —        1,572    
Current maturities, long-term debt and capital lease 

obligations    13,500      (19,034 )    22,031      —        16,497    
                                                     

Total current liabilities    32,893      253,032      194,716      (46,218 )    434,423    
Long-term debt, less current maturities    1,919,921      12,826      390      (12,827 )    1,920,310    
Capital lease obligations    —        23,384      41      —        23,425    
Deferred income taxes    254,433      6,270      —        260,703    
Other long-term liabilities    —        32,869      27,920      —        60,789    
Intercompany payable    —        1,864,968      —        (1,864,968 )    —      

         
  

         
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

Total liabilities    1,952,814      2,441,512      229,337      (1,924,013 )    2,699,650    
                                                     

Stockholders’  equity:  
Total equity attributable to stockholders    522,463      529,838      656,504      (1,186,342 )    522,463    
Noncontrolling interest    —        —        2,499      —        2,499    

                                                     

Total stockholders’  equity    522,463      529,838      659,003      (1,186,342 )    524,962    
                                                     

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity  $ 2,475,277      2,971,350      888,340      (3,110,355 )    3,224,612    
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet  
December 31, 2013  

(In thousands)  
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     Parent      Guarantor      Non-Guarantor      Eliminations     Consolidated   
Assets               

Current assets:                
Cash and cash equivalents     $ —          720         67,504         —         68,224    
Receivables, net:                

Trade       —          180,015         42,289         —         222,304    
Other       —          50,345         20,610         (44,350 )      26,605    

                                                      

Total receivables, net    —       230,360      62,899      (44,350 )    248,909    
Inventories    —       110,010      44,790      —       154,800    
Deferred income taxes    —       7,685      2,693      —       10,378    
Prepaid expenses    —       8,928      1,822      —       10,750    
Other assets    —       10,989      5,132      —       16,121    

                                                      

Total current assets    —       368,692      184,840      (44,350 )    509,182    
Property and equipment, net    —       364,700      174,804      —       539,504    
Goodwill    —       466,749      191,242      —       657,991    
Amortizable intangible assets, net    —       350,451      113,505      —       463,956    
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent    —       —       2,785      —       2,785    
Other assets    —       42,636      14,001      (13,239 )    43,398    
Investment in subsidiaries    323,085      511,751      —       (834,836 )    —     

                                                      

Total assets  $ 323,085      2,104,979      681,177      (892,425 )    2,216,816    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity 
Current liabilities:  

Accounts payable  $ —       120,967      78,323      (18,709 )    180,581    
Accrued compensation    —       28,246      11,833      —       40,079    
Accrued liabilities    —       35,645      45,319      (26,053 )    54,911    
Deferred income taxes    —       16,396      563      —       16,959    
Short-term debt    —       18,439      1,939      —       20,378    
Current maturities, long-term debt and capital lease obligations    —       24,025      118      —       24,143    

                                                      

Total current liabilities    —       243,718      138,095      (44,762 )    337,051    
Long-term debt, less current maturities    —       1,222,143      272      (12,827 )    1,209,588    
Capital lease obligations    —       25,868      69      —       25,937    
Deferred income taxes    —       282,865      5,095      —       287,960    
Other long-term liabilities    —       7,300      23,800      —       31,100    

                                                      

Total liabilities    —       1,781,894      167,331      (57,589 )    1,891,636    
                                                      

Stockholders’  equity:  
Total equity attributable to stockholders    323,085      323,085      511,751      (834,836 )    323,085    
Noncontrolling interest    —       —       2,095      —       2,095    

                                                      

Total stockholders’  equity    323,085      323,085      513,846      (834,836 )    325,180    
                                                      

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity  $ 323,085      2,104,979      681,177      (892,425 )    2,216,816    
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Successor  
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations  

(In thousands)  
   

   
91  

                                  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014    Parent     Guarantor     Non-Guarantor      Eliminations     Consolidated   
Net sales     $ —         2,109,613        723,711         (116,323 )      2,717,001    
Cost of sales       —         1,793,437        616,994         (116,323 )      2,294,108    

                                                    

Gross profit    —       316,176      106,717      —       422,893    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    —       157,221      37,369      —       194,590    
Goodwill impairment    —       11,803      —       —       11,803    
Acquisition costs    —       13,046      —       —       13,046    

                                                    

Operating profit (loss)    —       134,106      69,348      —       203,454    
                                                    

Interest expense, net    22,279      67,395      10,220      —       99,894    
Loss on debt extinguishment    —       60,713      —       —       60,713    
Other, net    —       (16,356 )    5,024      —       (11,332 )  

                                                    

Other expense, net    22,279      111,752      15,244      —       149,275    
                                                    

Income (loss) before tax    (22,279 )    22,354      54,104      —       54,179    
Income tax expense (benefit)    (8,822 )    (26,811 )    16,551      —       (19,082 )  

                                                    

Income (loss) before from equity in subsidiaries    (13,457 )    49,165      37,553      —       73,261    
Earnings (loss) from equity in subsidiaries    86,284      37,119      —       (123,403 )    —     

                                                    

Net income (loss)    72,827      86,284      37,553      (123,403 )    73,261    
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —       —       434      —       434    

                                                    

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 72,827      86,284      37,119      (123,403 )    72,827    
         

  

        

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013    Parent     Guarantor     Non-Guarantor      Eliminations     Consolidated   
Net sales     $ —         1,508,294        617,991         (109,004 )      2,017,281    
Cost of sales       —         1,290,448        527,229         (109,004 )      1,708,673    

                                                    

Gross profit    —       217,846      90,762      —       308,608    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    —       92,782      30,457      —       123,239    

                                                    

Operating profit (loss)    —       125,064      60,305      —       185,369    
                                                    

Interest expense, net    —       65,978      8,689      —       74,667    
Other, net    —       3,944      13,928      —       17,872    

                                                    

Other expense, net    —       69,922      22,617      —       92,539    
                                                    

Income (loss) before tax    —       55,142      37,688      —       92,830    
Income tax expense (benefit)    —       20,502      14,467      —       34,969    

                                                    

Income (loss) before from equity in subsidiaries    —       34,640      23,221      —       57,861    
Earnings (loss) from equity in subsidiaries    57,568      22,928      —       (80,496 )    —     

         
  

        
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

Net income (loss)    57,568      57,568      23,221      (80,496 )    57,861    
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —       —       293      —       293    

                                                    

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 57,568      57,568      22,928      (80,496 )    57,568    
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations  
(In thousands)  
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For Successor Period 2012    Parent     Guarantor     Non-Guarantor     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Net sales     $ —          194,467        13,944        (3,098 )      205,313    
Cost of sales       —          184,814        17,798        (3,098 )      199,514    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit    —        9,653      (3,854 )    —        5,799    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    —        13,580      774      —        14,354    
Acquisition costs    —        25,921      —        —        25,921    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Operating profit (loss)    —        (29,848 )    (4,628 )    —        (34,476 )  
                                                   

Interest expense, net    —        10,884      264      —        11,148    
Other, net    —        1,888      (378 )    —        1,510    

                                                   

Other expense, net    —        12,772      (114 )    —        12,658    
                                                   

Income (loss) before tax    —        (42,620 )    (4,514 )    —        (47,134 )  
Income tax expense (benefit)    —        (14,919 )    (328 )    —        (15,247 )  

                                                   

Income (loss) before from equity in subsidiaries    —        (27,701 )    (4,186 )    —        (31,887 )  
Earnings (loss) from equity in subsidiaries    (31,932 )    (4,231 )    —        36,163      —      

                                                   

Net income (loss)    (31,932 )    (31,932 )    (4,186 )    36,163      (31,887 )  
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —        —        45      —        45    

                                                   

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ (31,932 )    (31,932 )    (4,231 )    36,163      (31,932 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

                                           

For Predecessor Period 2012    Parent     Guarantor     Non-Guarantor     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Net sales     $ —          675,141        6,380        (1,007 )      680,514    
Cost of sales       —          554,376        5,623        (1,007 )      558,992    

                                                   

Gross profit    —        120,765      757      —        121,522    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    —        116,645      —        —        116,645    
Acquisition costs    —        13,421      —        —        13,421    

                                                   

Operating profit (loss)    —        (9,301 )    757      —        (8,544 )  
                                                   

Interest expense, net    —        25,766      —        —        25,766    
Other, net    —        2,652      (197 )    —        2,455    

                                                   

Other expense, net    —        28,418      (197 )    —        28,221    
                                                   

Income (loss) before tax    —        (37,719 )    954      —        (36,765 )  
Income tax expense (benefit)    —        (11,415 )    292      —        (11,123 )  

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Income (loss) before equity in subsidiaries    —        (26,304 )    662      —        (25,642 )  
Earnings (loss) from equity in subsidiaries    —        —        —        —        —      

                                                   

Net income (loss)    —        (26,304 )    662      —        (25,642 )  
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —        —        136      —        136    

                                                   

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ —        (26,304 )    526      —        (25,778 )  
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)   
(In thousands)   

     Parent     Guarantor     Non-Guarantor     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Successor: For the year ended December 31, 2014             

Net income (loss)     $ 72,827        86,284        37,553        (123,403 )      73,261    
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:             

Foreign currency translation       (23,984 )      (23,552 )      (22,184 )      45,736        (23,984 )  
Net actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans       (7,995 )      (7,995 )      (4,730 )      12,725        (7,995 )  

                                                   

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    (31,979 )    (31,547 )    (26,914 )    58,461      (31,979 )  
                                                   

Comprehensive income (loss)    40,848      54,737      10,639      (64,942 )    41,282    
Less comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —        —        404      —        404    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 40,848      54,737      10,235      (64,942 )    40,878    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Successor: For the year ended December 31, 2013  

Net income (loss)  $ 57,568      57,568      23,221      (80,496 )    57,861    
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:  

Foreign currency translation    (3,481 )    (3,481 )    (1,866 )    5,347      (3,481 )  
Net actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans    462      462      708      (1,170 )    462    

                                                   

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    (3,019 )    (3,019 )    (1,158 )    4,177      (3,019 )  
         

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Comprehensive income (loss)    54,549      54,549      22,063      (76,319 )    54,842    
Less comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —        —        191      —        191    

                                                   

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 54,549      54,549      21,872      (76,319 )    54,651    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Successor: For Successor Period 2012  

Net income (loss)  $ (31,932 )    (31,932 )    (4,186 )    36,163      (31,887 )  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:  

Foreign currency translation    (397 )    (397 )    (790 )    1,187      (397 )  
Net actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans    6      6      —        (6 )    6    

                                                   

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    (391 )    (391 )    (790 )    1,181      (391 )  
                                                   

Comprehensive income (loss)    (32,323 )    (32,323 )    (4,976 )    37,344      (32,278 )  
Less comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —        —        36      —        36    

                                                   

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ (32,323 )    (32,323 )    (5,012 )    37,344      (32,314 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

                                           

Predecessor: For Predecessor Period 2012  
Net income (loss)  $ —       (26,304 )    662      —        (25,642 )  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:  

Foreign currency translation    —        —        296      —        296    
Net actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans    —        —        —        —        —      

                                                   

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    —        —        296      —        296    
                                                   

Comprehensive income (loss)    —        (26,304 )    958      —        (25,346 )  
Less comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest    —        —        139      —        139    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ —       (26,304 )    819      —        (25,485 )  
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows  
(In thousands)  

   
     Parent     Guarantor     Non-Guarantor     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Successor: For the year ended December 31, 2014     

Cash flows from operating activities:             
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities     $ 14,750        205,363        85,308        —          305,421    

                                                   

Cash flows from investing activities:  
Capital expenditures    —        (116,815 )    (39,575 )    —        (156,390 )  
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets    —        541      879      —        1,420    
Capitalized patent costs    —        (243 )    —        —        (243 )  
Grede Transaction, net of cash acquired    —        (812,578 )    (17,078 )    —        (829,656 )  
Intercompany activity    (1,864,968 )    —        —        1,864,968      —      

                                                   

Net cash used for investing activities    (1,864,968 )    (929,095 )    (55,774 )    1,864,968      (984,869 )  
                                                   

Cash flows from financing activities:  
Cash dividends    —        (111,259 )    —        —        (111,259 )  
Proceed from other stock activity    —        (2,444 )    —        —        (2,444 )  
Proceeds from stock issuance    1      244,805      15,668      —        260,474    
Borrowings of short-term debt    —        388,773      —        —        388,773    
Repayments of short-term debt    —        (405,057 )    (2,300 )    —        (407,357 )  
Proceeds of long-term debt    1,943,250      715,000      —        —        2,658,250    
Principal payments of long-term debt    (10,000 )    (1,942,041 )    —        —        (1,952,041 )  
Intercompany activity    —        1,864,968      —        (1,864,968 )    —      
Payment of debt issue costs    (25,196 )    (20,231 )    —        —        (45,427 )  
Proceeds of other debt    —        —        998      —        998    
Principal payments of other debt    —        (6,320 )    (1,383 )    —        (7,703 )  
Payment of offering related costs    (5,583 )    —        —        —        (5,583 )  

                                                   

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities    1,902,472      726,194      12,983      (1,864,968 )    776,681    
Effect of exchange rates on cash    —        —        (8,959 )    —        (8,959 )  

                                                   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 52,254      2,462      33,558      —        88,274    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Cash and cash equivalents:  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  $ —        720      67,504      —        68,224    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    52,254      2,462      33,558      —        88,274    

                                                   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 52,254      3,182      101,062      —        156,498    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Successor: For the year ended December 31, 2013  

Cash flows from operating activities:  
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities  $ —        166,263      67,995      —        234,258    

                                                   

Cash flows from investing activities:  
Capital expenditures    —        (89,060 )    (33,196 )    —        (122,256 )  
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets    —        1,036      32      —        1,068    
Capitalized patent costs    —        (352 )    —        —        (352 )  
Release of escrow from the Metaldyne Transaction    —        4,807      —        —        4,807    

                                                   

Net cash used for investing activities    —        (83,569 )    (33,164 )    —        (116,733 )  
                                                   

Cash flows from financing activities:  
Cash dividends    —        (256,867 )    —        —        (256,867 )  
Proceed from other stock activity    —        579      —        —        579    
Borrowings of short-term debt    —        545,621      —        —        545,621    
Repayments of short-term debt    —        (533,182 )    —        —        (533,182 )  
Proceeds of long-term debt    —        240,000      —        —        240,000    
Principal payments of long-term debt    —        (59,904 )    —        —        (59,904 )  
Payment of debt issue costs    —        (14,956 )    —        —        (14,956 )  
Proceeds of other debt    —        1,022      368      —        1,390    
Principal payments of other debt    —        (3,658 )    (98 )    —        (3,756 )  
Payment of contingent consideration for the Metaldyne Transaction    —        (10,000 )    —        —        (10,000 )  

                                                   

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities    —        (91,345 )    270      —        (91,075 )  
Effect of exchange rates on cash    —        —        1,443      —        1,443    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ —        (8,651 )    36,544      —        27,893    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Cash and cash equivalents:  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  $ —        9,371      30,960      —        40,331    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    —        (8,651 )    36,544      —        27,893    
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Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ —        720      67,504      —        68,224    
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows  
(In thousands)  

   

     Parent      Guarantor     
Non-  

Guarantor     Eliminations      Consolidated   
Successor: For Successor Period 2012     
Cash flows from operating activities:               

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities     $ —          (11,541 )      9,730        —          (1,811 )  
         

  
         

  
        

  
        

  
         

  

Cash flows from investing activities:  
Capital expenditures    —       (8,669 )    (1,761 )    —       (10,430 )  
Capitalized patent costs    —       (114 )    —       —       (114 )  
HHI Transaction, net of cash acquired    —       (717,579 )    (4,669 )    —       (722,248 )  
Metaldyne Transaction, net of cash acquired    —       (810,056 )    27,891      —       (782,165 )  
Release of escrow from the Metaldyne Transaction    —       —       —       —       —     

                                                     

Net cash used for investing activities    —       (1,536,418 )    21,461      —       (1,514,957 )  
                                                     

Cash flows from financing activities:  
Proceeds from stock issuances    —       545,993      —       —       545,993    
Borrowings of short-term debt    —       6,000      —       —       6,000    
Proceeds of long-term debt    —       1,040,252      —       —       1,040,252    
Payment of debt issue costs    —       (34,851 )    —       —       (34,851 )  
Principal payments of other debt    —       (64 )    (186 )    —       (250 )  

                                                     

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities    —       1,557,330      (186 )    —       1,557,144    
Effect of exchange rates on cash    —       —       (45 )    —       (45 )  

                                                     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ —       9,371      30,960      —       40,331    
         

  

         

  

        

  

        

  

         

  

Cash and cash equivalents:  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  $ —       —       —       —       —     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    —       9,371      30,960      —       40,331    

                                                     

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ —       9,371      30,960      —       40,331    
         

  

         

  

        

  

        

  

         

  

                                             

Predecessor: For Predecessor Period 2012  
Cash flows from operating activities:  

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities  $ —       64,315      388      —       64,703    
                                                     

Cash flows from investing activities:  
Capital expenditures    —       (32,330 )    (262 )    —       (32,592 )  
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets    —       1,513      —       —       1,513    
Capitalized patent costs    —       (222 )    —       —       (222 )  

                                                     

Net cash used for investing activities    —       (31,039 )    (262 )    —       (31,301 )  
                                                     

Cash flows from financing activities:  
Cash dividends    —       (70,000 )    —       —       (70,000 )  
Borrowings of short-term debt    —       38,900      —       —       38,900    
Repayments of short-term debt    —       (38,903 )    —       —       (38,903 )  
Proceeds of long-term debt    —       49,875      —       —       49,875    
Principal payments of long-term debt    —       (2,814 )    —       —       (2,814 )  
Payment of debt issue costs    —       (2,455 )    —       —       (2,455 )  
Principal payments of other debt    —       (1,947 )    —       —       (1,947 )  

                                                     

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities    —       (27,344 )    —       —       (27,344 )  
Effect of exchange rates on cash    —       —       344      —       344    

                                                     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ —       5,932      470      —       6,402    
         

  

         

  

        

  

        

  

         

  

Cash and cash equivalents:  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  $ —       4,203      —       —       4,203    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    —       5,932      470      —       6,402    

                                                     

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ —       10,135      470      —       10,605    
         

  

         

  

        

  

        

  

         

  



(25) Subsequent Events  

On January 15, 2015, the underwriters of the IPO exercised their option to purchase additional shares of our common stock from 
American Securities. After selling these additional shares, American Securities owned 78.5% of our common stock.  

On March 10, 2015, our board of directors declared a dividend of 9 cents per share. The dividend is payable on May 26, 2015 to 
stockholders of record as of May 12, 2015.  
   

95  



Table of Contents  

None.  

   

Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

The Company evaluated the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), to ensure information required to be disclosed in periodic reports filed under the 
Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified, and that such information is accumulated 
and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow 
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As of December 31, 2014, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at 
the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2014. We have identified a material weakness in our internal controls related to inadequate 
controls around program change, system access, computer operations, and system development for certain IT systems that management relies 
upon for preparation and review of financial information. Based on the performance of additional procedures by management designed to ensure 
the reliability of our financial reporting, we believe the consolidated financial statements included in this report as of and for the periods ended 
December 31, 2014 are fairly stated in all material respects.  

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

This Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an 
attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission for newly public companies.  

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2014 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

   

None.  
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PART III  
   

The following table sets forth the names and ages of the individuals who serve as our executive officers and members of our board of 
directors.  
   

Executive Officer and Director Biographies  

George Thanopoulos was named our Chief Executive Officer in August 2014 in connection with the Combination and has served on 
our board of directors since August 2014. Mr. Thanopoulos is the founder of HHI and serves as its President and Chief Executive Officer since 
September 2005. Prior to founding HHI, he was a group president of Oldco M Corporation (the former Metaldyne Corporation) and prior to that 
held multiple positions at MascoTech, Inc., the predecessor company to Oldco M Corporation, over a 15-year period, including engineering, 
plant management, and executive management. Mr. Thanopoulos served as a member of the board of directors of Global Brass and Copper 
Holdings, Inc., a converter, fabricator, distributor, and processor of specialized copper and brass products in North America, from 2011 to 2014. 
Mr. Thanopoulos also served as a director of JL French Automotive Castings, Inc., a supplier of die cast aluminum components and assemblies, 
from 2006 to 2012 and as a director of Chassis Brakes International, a supplier of automotive foundation brakes and brake components, from 
2012 to 2013. Mr. Thanopoulos holds a B.S. degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Michigan. Mr. Thanopoulos was chosen 
as our director because of his extensive experience in management and in the manufacturing industry.  

Mark Blaufuss was named our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in August 2014 in connection with the Combination. 
Mr. Blaufuss has also served as Metaldyne’s Chief Financial Officer since May 2011. Prior to joining Metaldyne, Mr. Blaufuss held the Chief 
Financial Officer position at United Components, Inc., an aftermarket automotive parts supplier, from September 2009 to April 2011, and at 
Axletech International, a planetary axle supplier, from April 2007 to September 2009. He also worked as director of AlixPartners, a consulting 
firm, Corporate Controller of JPE, Inc., an automotive parts supplier, and Manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr. Blaufuss acted as CFO for 
Stonebridge Industries, Inc. until 2004. Stonebridge Industries, Inc. filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy in 2005. Mr. Blaufuss holds a B.S. degree in 
Accounting from Michigan State University.  

Thomas Amato was named our Co-President in August 2014 in connection with the Combination. Mr. Amato also serves as the 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Metaldyne, LLC, which he has done since its founding in 2009. Prior to that, he held multiple positions 
at Oldco M Corporation (the former Metaldyne Corporation), including as Executive Vice President of Corporate Development and Executive 
Vice President of Commercial Operations. He was named Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Oldco M Corporation in January 
2008 and was also Co-Chief Executive Officer of Asahi Tec, a Japanese casting and forging company publicly traded on the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange. Mr. Amato also held multiple positions at MascoTech, Inc., the predecessor company to Oldco M Corporation, which he joined in 
1994, and he has served on the boards of Asahi Tec and Wolverine Tube. Mr. Amato holds a B.S. degree in Chemical Engineering from Wayne 
State University and an M.B.A. from the University of Michigan.  

Douglas Grimm was named our Co-President in August 2014 in connection with the Combination. Mr. Grimm also serves as 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Grede which he has done since February 2010. Prior to that, he served as Chief Executive Officer of 
Citation Corporation, a foundry that manufactures components for the transportation and industrial markets, from January 2008 to February 
2010. Prior to co-founding Grede Holdings LLC, Mr. Grimm served as Vice President—Global Ford, Materials Management,  
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE 

Name    Age     Position  
George Thanopoulos    51    Chief Executive Officer and Director, and President & CEO of HHI 
Mark Blaufuss    47    Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
Thomas Amato    51    Co-President, and President & CEO of Metaldyne 
Douglas Grimm    53    Co-President, and President & CEO of Grede 
Kevin Penn    53    Chairman and Director 
Nick Bhambri    51    Director 
Loren Easton    35    Director 
Michael Fisch    52    Director 
William Jackson    54    Director 
John Pearson Smith    66    Director 
Jeffrey Stafeil    44    Director 
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Powertrain Electronics & Fuel Operations of Visteon Corporation, a global automotive supplier that manufactures climate, electronics, and 
interior products for vehicle manufacturers, from 2006 to 2008. Prior to that time, Mr. Grimm spent five years at Oldco M Corporation (the 
former Metaldyne Corporation) as a Vice President in various executive positions, including commercial operations, General Manager of forging 
and casting operations, as well as having responsibility for global purchasing and quality. Before joining Oldco M Corporation in 2001, 
Mr. Grimm was with Dana Corporation, a worldwide supplier of drivetrain, sealing and thermal management components and systems in 1998 
and served as Vice President, Global Strategic Sourcing. Prior to that, Mr. Grimm spent 10 years at Chrysler Corporation in various purchasing 
management positions. Mr. Grimm is the immediate past Chairman of the Original Equipment Supplier Association (OESA), Vice-Chairman of 
the Motor & Equipment Manufacturers Association (MEMA) and a director for the Peterson American Corporation. Mr. Grimm holds a B.A. 
degree in Economics & Management from Hiram College (OH), where he is a member of the board of trustees, and an M.B.A. from the 
University of Detroit.  

Kevin Penn has served on our board of directors since June 2014. Mr. Penn is the Chairman of our board of directors. Mr. Penn is 
also a Managing Director of American Securities, having joined in 2009. Prior to joining American Securities, he founded and led ACI Capital 
Co., LLC. Prior thereto, he was Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer for a family investment office, First Spring Corporation, 
where he managed private equity, direct investment, and public investment portfolios. Earlier in his career, Mr. Penn was a principal of the 
private equity firm Adler & Shaykin and was a founding member of the Leveraged Buyout Group at Morgan Stanley & Co. He was previously 
Chairman of Metaldyne, Grede, and HHI, and is currently the Chairman of the boards of Frontier Spinning Mills and Learning Care Group. He 
is also a board member of Unified Logistics and Cornhusker Energy Lexington Holdings. He is also a member of Mount Sinai Hospital 
Department of Medicine Advisory Board, and he serves as Chairperson of the Board of Overseers of University of Pennsylvania School of 
Design and as a Governor/Overseer of Hebrew Union College. Mr. Penn holds a B.S. degree in Economics from the Wharton School of 
University of Pennsylvania and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School. Mr. Penn was chosen as our director because of his management and 
financial expertise.  

Nick Bhambri has served on our board of directors since August 2014. Mr. Bhambri also served as the President of MECS Inc., a 
DuPont company, until April 2012. Before MECS was acquired by DuPont, Mr. Bhambri served as President and Chief Executive Officer of 
MECS since 2007, having joined the company in 1992. Mr. Bhambri was previously a director of HHI. Mr. Bhambri holds a B.S. degree in 
Mechanical Engineering and an M.B.A. from Washington University in St. Louis. Mr. Bhambri was chosen as our director because of his 
experience in the manufacturing industry.  

Loren Easton has served on our board of directors since June 2014. Mr. Easton is also a Managing Director of American Securities, 
having joined in 2009. Prior to joining American Securities, Mr. Easton was a Vice President at ACI Capital Co., LLC and was an analyst at 
Lazard Frères. He was previously a director of Grede and Metaldyne and is currently a director of Frontier Spinning Mills and Unifrax. 
Mr. Easton holds a B.A. degree and an M.B.A. from the University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Easton was chosen as our director because of his 
management and financial expertise.  

Michael Fisch has served on our board of directors since August 2014. Mr. Fisch is also the President and CEO of American 
Securities, which he co-founded in 1994. Mr. Fisch was previously a director of Metaldyne, Grede, and HHI and currently serves on the boards 
of certain American Securities affiliates, including ASP Portfolio Companies. He is a Trustee of Princeton Theological Seminary; board member 
of Human Rights Watch; and member of Mount Sinai Hospital Department of Medicine Advisory Board. Mr. Fisch holds a B.A. degree from 
Dartmouth College and an M.B.A. from Stanford University. Mr. Fisch was chosen as our director because of his management and financial 
expertise.  

William Jackson has served on our board of directors since August 2014. Mr. Jackson has been an Executive Vice President of 
Corporate Development at Johnson Controls Inc. since September 2013 and served as its President of the Automotive Electronics & Interiors 
since March 2012. Mr. Jackson served as an Executive Vice President of Operations & Innovation at Johnson Controls Inc. from May 2011 to 
September 2013. Prior to Johnson Controls, he served as Senior Vice President and President of Automotive at Sears Holdings Corporation since 
March 2009 and was responsible for the oversight, leadership, and strategic growth of its automotive business, both in-store and online. Prior to 
Sears Holdings Corporation, Mr. Jackson was a Senior Partner and served in various leadership roles of Booz & Company. He served on the 
board of directors for both Booz Allen Hamilton and Booz & Company and was previously a director of Metaldyne. Mr. Jackson holds a B.S. 
degree and an M.S. degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Illinois and an M.B.A. from the University of Chicago. 
Mr. Jackson was chosen as our director because of his automotive and industrial consulting experience.  

John Pearson Smith (Jack) has served on our board of directors since August 2014. Mr. Smith is also director and co-owner of 
Silversmith Inc., a producer of metering and automated data reporting systems for natural gas, oil production and waste water disposal. Prior to 
co-founding Silversmith Inc. in 2003, Mr. Smith was President and Chief Executive Officer of Holland Neway International, a producer of 
commercial vehicle suspensions and brake systems, with prior experience in engineering management at Ford Heavy Truck Division. Mr. Smith 
was previously a director of Metaldyne, and currently serves on the board of directors of SRAM Corporation. He is also on the board of Grand 
Valley State University Foundation. Mr. Smith holds a B.S. degree and an M.S. degree in Mechanical Engineering and an M.B.A. from the 
University of Michigan. Mr. Smith was chosen as our director because of his operational leadership and automotive expertise.  
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Jeffrey Stafeil has served on our board of directors since August 2014. Mr. Stafeil has also been Chief Financial Officer at Visteon 
Corporation since October 2012 and has been its Executive Vice President since November 2012. He served as the Chief Financial Officer and 
Executive Vice President of DURA Automotive Systems, LLC (alternate name, Dura Automotive Systems Inc.) from December 2008 to 2010 
and served as its Chief Executive Officer from October 2010 to 2012. Prior to joining DURA, he served as the Chief Financial Officer and 
member of management board of Klöckner Pentaplast GmbH & Co. KG. He served as Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of 
Oldco M Corporation (the former Metaldyne Corporation) from 2001 to 2007, in addition to other management positions since joining Oldco M 
Corporation in 2001. Mr. Stafeil served as a director of DURA Automotive Systems, LLC from June 2008 to October 2012 and Meridian 
Corporation since 2006 to 2009. From 2009 to 2012, he served as a director of J.L. French Automotive Castings Inc. and was previously a 
director of HHI. He currently serves as a director of Mentor Graphics Corp. Mr. Stafeil holds a B.S. degree in Accounting from Indiana 
University and an M.B.A. from the Fuqua School of Business at Duke University. Mr. Stafeil was chosen as our director because of his 
operational leadership and financial management experience.  

Board of Directors  

Our business and affairs are managed under the direction of our board of directors. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that 
our board of directors will be composed of eight directors or such number as the board shall otherwise fix. Our executive officers and key 
employees serve at the discretion of our board of directors.  

Controlled Company Exception  

As of December 31, 2014, American Securities beneficially owns shares representing more than 50% of the voting power of our 
shares eligible to vote in the election of directors. As a result, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning of corporate governance 
standards. Under these corporate governance standards, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group 
or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance standards, including the 
requirements (1) that a majority of our board of directors consist of independent directors, (2) that our board of directors have a compensation 
committee that is comprised entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities and 
(3) that our board of directors have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is comprised entirely of independent directors with a 
written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities. The Company is currently utilizing some of these exemptions. As a 
result, although we have independent director representation on our compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees, they 
are not comprised entirely of independent directors, and only half of our board members are independent directors. Although we may transition 
to fully independent compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees prior to the time we cease to be a “controlled 
company,” for such period of time you will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of these 
corporate governance requirements. The controlled company exemption does not modify the independence requirements for the audit committee, 
and we currently comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the NYSE rules which require that our audit committee be 
composed of at least three members, a majority of whom are independent, and plan to comply with the requirement that each audit committee 
member will be independent within one year of the IPO. In the event that we cease to be a “controlled company” and our shares continue to be 
listed on the NYSE, we will be required to comply with these provisions within the applicable transition periods.  

Director Independence  

Our board of directors has affirmatively determined that Mr. Bhambri, Mr. Jackson, Mr. Smith and Mr. Stafeil are independent 
directors under the applicable rules of the NYSE and as such term is defined in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.  

Board Committees  

Our board of directors has the authority to appoint committees to perform certain management and administration functions. Our 
board of directors has three committees: the audit committee, the compensation committee and the nominating and corporate governance 
committee.  

Audit Committee  

The primary purpose of our audit committee is to assist the board’s oversight of:  
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  •   the audits and integrity of our financial statements; 

  •   our processes relating to risk management; 

  •   our processes relating the systems of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures; 
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Our audit committee will also produce the annual report of the audit committee as required by Securities and Exchange Commission rules:  
   

   

Mr. Stafeil, Mr. Bhambri, and Mr. Easton serve on the audit committee. Mr. Stafeil serves as chairman of the audit committee and 
also qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as such term has been defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission in Item 401(h)
(2) of Regulation S-K, and each audit committee member meets the financial literacy requirements of the NYSE. Our board of directors has 
affirmatively determined that Mr. Stafeil and Mr. Bhambri meet the definition of an “independent director” for the purposes of serving on the 
audit committee under applicable Securities and Exchange Commission and NYSE rules, and we intend to comply with these independence 
requirements for all members of the audit committee within the time periods specified therein. The audit committee is governed by a charter that 
complies with the rules of NYSE.  

Compensation Committee  

The primary purposes of our compensation committee are to:  
   

   

   

   

Mr. Penn, Mr. Easton and Mr. Jackson serve on the compensation committee, and Mr. Penn serves as the chairman. The 
compensation committee is governed by a charter.  

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee  

The primary purposes of our nominating and corporate governance committee are to:  
   

   

   

   

Mr. Fisch, Mr. Penn and Mr. Smith serve on the nominating and corporate governance, and Mr. Fisch serves as the chairman. The 
nominating and corporate governance committee is governed by a charter. The committee has a policy to consider properly submitted 
stockholder recommendations for candidates for membership on the board of directors. Directors may be nominated pursuant to the 
Stockholders’ Agreement dated August 4, 2014 among the Company and its stockholders. In addition, the committee will consider 
recommendations for board candidates submitted by stockholders using substantially the same criteria it applies to recommendations from the 
committee, directors, and members of management. Stockholders may submit recommendations by providing a person’s name and appropriate 
background and biographical information in writing to:  

Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.  
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  •   the qualifications, engagement, compensation, independence and performance of our independent auditor; 

  •   the auditor’s conduct of the annual audit of our financial statements and any other auditor services provided; and 

  •   the performance of our internal audit function. 

  •   our legal and regulatory compliance; and 

  •   the application of our codes of business conduct and ethics as established by management and the board. 

  •   oversee our employee compensation policies and practices; 

  •   determine and approve the compensation of our chief executive officer and other executive officers; 

  •   review and approve incentive compensation and equity compensation policies and programs; 

  •   produce the annual report of the compensation committee as required by Securities and Exchange Commission rules. 

  •   identify and screen individuals qualified to serve as directors and recommend to the board of directors candidates for 
nomination for election; 

  •   evaluate, monitor and make recommendations to the board of directors with respect to our corporate governance guidelines; 

  •   coordinate and oversee the annual self-evaluation of the board of directors and its committees and management; and 

  •   review our overall corporate governance and recommend improvements for approval by the board of directors where 
appropriate. 
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47659 Halyard Drive  
Plymouth, MI 48170-2429  
Attention: Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee  

Board and Committee Meetings  

During 2014 and subsequent to the IPO, the board of directors and the audit committee each held one meeting.  

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation  

None of our executive officers serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of the board of directors or compensation 
committee (or other committee performing equivalent functions) of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our board of 
directors or compensation committee. No interlocking relationship exists between any member of the compensation committee (or other 
committee performing equivalent functions) and any executive, member of the board of directors or member of the compensation committee (or 
other committee performing equivalent functions) and of any other company.  

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics  

We adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers, and directors, including those 
officers responsible for financial reporting. These standards are designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote honest and ethical conduct. The 
code of business conduct and ethics is available on our web site at www.mpgdriven.com . Any waiver of the code for directors or executive 
officers may be made only by our board of directors and will be promptly disclosed to our stockholders as required by applicable U.S. federal 
securities laws and the corporate governance rules of the NYSE. Amendments to the code must be approved by our board of directors and will 
be promptly disclosed (other than technical, administrative, or non-substantive changes). Any amendments to the code, or any waivers of its 
requirements, will be disclosed on our website. Any person may request a copy of the code of business conduct and ethics, at no cost, by writing 
to us at the following address:  

Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.  
47659 Halyard Drive  
Plymouth, MI 48170-2429  
Attention: Corporate Integrity Committee  

Corporate Governance Guidelines  

Our board of directors adopted corporate governance guidelines in accordance with the corporate governance rules of the NYSE, as 
applicable, that serve as a flexible framework within which our board of directors and its committees operate. These guidelines cover a number 
of areas including the size and composition of the board, board membership criteria and director qualifications, director responsibilities, board 
agenda, roles of the Chairman of the board and Chief Executive Officer, executive sessions, standing board committees, board member access to 
management and independent advisors, director communications with third parties, director compensation, director orientation and continuing 
education, evaluation of senior management and management succession planning. A copy of our corporate governance guidelines is posted on 
our website www.mpgdriven.com.  

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance  

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who 
own more than ten percent of our common stock, to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of 
changes in ownership of our common stock and other equity securities. Based solely on our review of copies of such forms received by us, or 
written representations from reporting persons that no such forms were required for those persons, we believe that our insiders complied with all 
applicable Section 16(a) filing requirements during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.  

   

The following discussion and analysis of compensation arrangements should be read with the compensation tables and related 
disclosures set forth below. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on our current plans and expectations regarding 
future compensation programs .  
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Executive Summary  

This compensation discussion and analysis provides an overview and analysis of (i) the elements comprising the compensation 
programs at HHI, Metaldyne or Grede, as applicable for our named executive officers, which we refer to in this compensation discussion and 
analysis as our named executive officers (“NEOs”), (ii) the compensation decisions made under such programs and reflected in the executive 
compensation tables that follow this compensation discussion and analysis, and (iii) the material factors considered in making those decisions. In 
addition, this compensation discussion and analysis includes a discussion of our compensation program for executive officers after the 
Combination.  

Our NEOs  

Our executive officers were executive officers at HHI, Metaldyne or Grede prior to the Combination. We determined the NEOs 
based on their position after the Combination and their compensation for the year ended December 31, 2014 from HHI, Metaldyne or Grede, as 
applicable. For the year ended December 31, 2014, our NEOs were:  
   

   

   

   

Compensation Philosophy  

In connection with the Combination, we reviewed and aligned the existing compensation programs of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede 
into our executive compensation program. Consistent with the existing programs, our overall post-Combination compensation program is 
structured to attract, motivate and retain highly qualified executives by paying them competitively, with variable components designed to pay 
them based on results that are consistent with our performance on both a short- and long-term basis and on their contribution to that success. In 
addition, this program is structured to ensure that a significant portion of compensation opportunity is related to specific, measurable factors that 
directly and indirectly influence stockholder value. Accordingly, we continue to set goals designed to link each executive officer’s compensation 
to our performance and the executive officer’s own performance.  
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•   George Thanopoulos, our Chief Executive Officer, and President & CEO of HHI. In 2014, Mr. Thanopoulos served as the 

chief executive officer of HHI through August 3, 2014. On August 4, effective with the Combination, Mr. Thanopoulos was 
named chief executive officer of MPG, in addition to his role as President & CEO of HHI. 

  
•   Mark Blaufuss, our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. In 2014, Mr. Blaufuss served as the chief financial officer of 

Metaldyne through August 3, 2014. On August 4, effective with the Combination, Mr. Blaufuss was named chief financial 
officer and treasurer of MPG. 

  
•   Thomas Amato, our Co-President, and President & CEO of Metaldyne. In 2014, Mr. Amato served as the president and chief 

executive officer of Metaldyne through August 3, 2014. On August 4, effective with the combination, Mr. Amato was named 
Co-President of MPG, in addition to his role as President & CEO Metaldyne. 

  
•   Douglas Grimm, our Co-President, and President & CEO of Grede. In 2014, Mr. Grimm served as the chairman, president 

and chief executive officer of Grede through August 3, 2014. On August 4, effective with the Combination, Mr. Grimm was 
named Co-President of MPG, in addition to his role as and President & CEO of Grede. 
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Compensation Elements  

Our compensation for our executive officers consists primarily of the elements, and their corresponding primary objectives, 
identified in the following table.  
   

Determination of Compensation Awards  

The post-Combination executive compensation program is based on the existing programs at HHI, Metaldyne and Grede and the 
existing employment agreements for our executive officers, which were revised to reflect the impact of the Combination and changes to 
responsibilities, as well as to harmonize common elements of each of the senior executive’s employment arrangements, such as severance, 
change of control and other provisions. We did not use benchmarking or a compensation consultant to establish the terms of the revised 
employment agreements. We relied upon our judgment and general industry knowledge of management and our board of directors obtained 
through years of service with comparably sized companies in our industry to determine the terms of our executive compensation program, as 
well as the relative roles of the executives and any additional responsibilities to be undertaken by the executives.  

Compensation Committee  

The compensation committee oversees our executive compensation program and determines the compensation of our executive 
officers, including our NEOs, and is charged with reviewing executive officer compensation policies and practices to ensure adherence to our 
compensation philosophies. In addition, the compensation committee is charged with ensuring that the total compensation paid to our executive 
officers is fair, reasonable and competitive, taking into account our position within our industry, including our comparative performance, and our 
NEOs’ level of expertise and experience in their positions. The compensation committee has primary responsible for (i) overseeing our executive 
compensation policies and practices; (ii) reviewing and determining the compensation of our executive officers (including our Chief Executive 
Officer and other NEOs), including (a) determining base salary and target bonus levels (representing the bonus that may be awarded expressed 
as a percentage of base salary or as a dollar amount for the year), (b) assessing the performance of the Chief Executive Officer and other NEOs 
for each applicable performance period, (c) determining the awards to be paid to our Chief Executive Officer and other NEOs under our annual 
performance-based compensation program for each year, and (d) making equity award grants under our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (defined 
below); (iii) providing oversight of our compensation policies, plans and benefit programs including reviewing, approving and administering all 
compensation and employee benefit plans, policies and programs; and (iv) producing, approving and recommending to the board of directors for 
approval reports on compensation matters required to be included in our annual proxy statement or annual report.  

In determining compensation levels for our NEOs, the compensation committee considers each NEO’s unique position and 
responsibility and relies upon the judgment and experience of its members, including their review of competitive compensation levels in our 
industry. We believe that executive officer base salaries should be competitive with the salaries of executive officers in similar positions and 
with similar responsibilities in our marketplace and adjusted for financial and operating performance, each executive’s level of experience, and 
each executive’s current and expected future contributions to our results. In this regard, each executive officer’s current and prior compensation 
is considered as a reference point against which determinations are made as to whether increases are appropriate to retain the NEO in light of 
competition or in order to provide continuing performance incentives.  
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Compensation Element   Primary Objective  
Base salary 

  
To recognize performance of job responsibilities and to attract and 
retain individuals with superior talent. 

Annual performance-based compensation 

  

To promote our near-term performance objectives across the entire 
workforce and reward individual contributions to the achievement of 
those objectives. 

Long-term equity incentive awards 

  

To emphasize our long-term performance objectives, encourage the 
maximization of stockholder value and retain key executives by 
providing an opportunity to own our stock. 

Severance and change in control benefits 
  

To encourage the continued attention and dedication of key individuals 
when considering strategic alternatives. 

Retirement savings (401(k)) plans 
  

To provide an opportunity for tax-efficient savings and long-term 
financial security. 

Other elements of compensation and perquisites 

  

To attract and retain talented executives in a cost-efficient manner by 
providing health, dental, disability and life insurance as well as other 
benefits with high perceived values at a relatively low cost to us. 
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Role of Chief Executive Officer  

To aid the compensation committee in making its determinations, the Chief Executive Officer will provide recommendations at least 
annually to the compensation committee regarding the compensation of executive officers other than him. The performance of our executive 
officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, will be reviewed at least annually by the compensation committee to determine each executive 
officer’s compensation.  

Use of Peer Group Data  

In making compensation determinations in connection with the Combination, we did not use benchmarking or compensation 
consultants, directly compare compensation levels with any other companies or refer to any specific compensation survey or other data. The 
compensation committee may use compensation consultants and peer group data in making future compensation decisions, including studies on 
compensation structure and banding as well as our long-term incentive plan in comparison to our peers. Our compensation committee has 
established the following peer group with which we compete for talent to assist with external benchmarking, and to assist the committee in 
determining total compensation for executive officers:  
   

Compensation Programs  

The 2014 compensation for each of our NEOs was determined in accordance with the terms of their respective employment 
agreements or offer letter and was overseen by the respective compensation committees or boards of directors, as applicable, of HHI, Metaldyne 
and Grede. The compensation for Mr. Thanopoulos and Mr. Blaufuss in 2014 consisted of base salary, non-equity incentive plan compensation, 
equity compensation and other compensation (including, amongst other items, 401(k) savings plan match). The compensation for Mr. Amato in 
2014 consisted of base salary, non-equity incentive plan compensation, equity compensation and other compensation (including, amongst other 
items a flexible allowance plan and 401(k) savings plan match). The compensation for Mr. Grimm in 2014 consisted of a base salary, non-equity 
compensation and other compensation (including, amongst other items, a flexible allowance plan, car allowance and 401(k) savings plan match). 
Each of the elements of the 2014 compensation for the NEOs is described below.  

Base Salary  

Each of our NEOs is party to an employment agreement that establishes a minimum base salary (as may be adjusted up but not down 
by our board of directors from time to time). Base salaries for our executive officers were generally set at levels deemed necessary to attract and 
retain individuals with superior talent, while taking into account the total compensation package provided to them in their employment 
agreements. Each year, base salaries will be adjusted, subject to the terms and conditions of their respective employment agreements, based upon 
the scope of responsibility and demonstrated proficiency of the executive officers as assessed by the compensation committee.  
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Ametek Allison Transmission American Axle 
BorgWarner Briggs & Stratton Brunswick Corp 
Cooper Standard Dana Holding Delphi Automotive 
ITT Corp Linamar Corp Snap-on Inc. 
Terex Corp Timken Co. Titan International 
TRW Automotive Valmont Industries WABCO Holdings 
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Each of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede paid base compensation commensurate with the position and responsibilities of the NEO. The 
applicable 2014 base salary for each of our NEOs was determined in accordance with their respective employment agreements and reviewed as 
part of the combination. The following table sets forth the 2014 base salaries for our NEOs.  
   

2014 Performance-based Compensation  

In 2014, each of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede had a performance-based compensation component to their executive compensation plan 
to link a portion of the executive officer’s compensation to the respective company’s performance and/or the individual’s performance. Set forth 
below is a description of performance-based compensation for each of the NEOs.  

In accordance with HHI’s performance-based compensation plan, HHI paid each of its executive officers an award based on HHI’s 
adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and various non-cash or one-time adjustments) and individual 
performance objectives. Each HHI executive officer was entitled to receive a target award based on a percentage of their base salary. 75% of the 
award was based on HHI’s adjusted EBITDA and 25% of the award was based on individual performance objectives. To receive an award, 
HHI’s adjusted EBITDA had to exceed 80% of budgeted adjusted EBITDA and/or the executive officer had to meet his or her individual 
performance objectives. To receive the target award, HHI had to meet or exceed its budgeted adjusted EBITDA, which was $186.9 million for 
2014, and the executive officer had to meet his or her individual performance objectives. In the event HHI’s adjusted EBITDA exceeded 
budgeted adjusted EBITDA and individual performance objectives were met, an executive officer would be entitled to receive an award in 
excess of his or her target award. The target award for Mr. Thanopoulos was 100% of his base salary. Since HHI’s adjusted EBITDA was 104% 
of the pre-determined target and he met his individual objectives, Mr. Thanopoulos received a cash award in the amount of $1,032,819, which 
was equal to 118% of his target award.  

In accordance with Metaldyne’s performance-based compensation plan, Metaldyne paid each of its executive officers an award based 
on Metaldyne’s adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and various non-cash or one-time adjustments) 
and Metaldyne’s operating cash flow generation (adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures plus/minus the change in operating working 
capital). Each Metaldyne executive officer was entitled to receive a target award based on a percentage of his or her base salary. 50% of the 
award was based on Metaldyne’s adjusted EBITDA and 50% of the award was based on Metaldyne’s operating cash flow generation. To receive 
an award, Metaldyne had to achieve 90% of budgeted adjusted EBITDA and 90% of budgeted operating cash flow generation. To receive the 
target award, Metaldyne had to achieve 100% of both budgeted adjusted EBITDA and budgeted operating cash flow generation which were 
$195 million and $110.5 million, respectively, for 2014. In the event Metaldyne’s adjusted EBITDA and operating cash flow generation 
exceeded the budgeted amounts, an executive officer was entitled to receive an award in excess of the target award up to a maximum of 135% of 
the target award. The target awards for Mr. Blaufuss and Mr. Amato were 60% and 100% of their base salary, respectively. Since Metaldyne’s 
budgeted adjusted EBITDA and operating cash flow generation were, respectively, 104% and 116% of the pre-determined targets, Mr. Blaufuss 
and Mr. Amato received cash awards in the amounts of $396,000 and $825,000, respectively, in each case equal to 110% of the target award.  

In accordance with Grede’s performance-based compensation plan, Grede paid each of its executive officers an award based on 
Grede’s adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and various non-cash or one-time adjustments), 
Grede’s adjusted free cash flow generation and individual performance objectives. Each executive officer was entitled to  
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Name    Principal Position     2014 Base Salary (1)   
George Thanopoulos     Chief Executive Officer, and President & CEO of HHI     $ 874,182 (2)  
Mark Blaufuss     Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer     $ 600,000 (3)  
Thomas Amato     Co-President, and President & CEO of Metaldyne     $ 750,000 (4)  
Douglas Grimm     Co-President, and President & CEO of Grede     $ 750,000 (5)  

  
(1) Represents the base salary of our NEOs, as paid by HHI, Metaldyne or Grede, as applicable, in 2014. 
(2) The base salary of Mr. Thanopoulos was $848,720 for the period from January 1, 2014 through June 30, 2014. It was increased to 

$874,182 effective as of July 1, 2014. 
(3) The base salary of Mr. Blaufuss was $337,594 for the period from January 1, 2014 through June 30, 2014. It was increased to $600,000 

effective as of July 1, 2014. 
(4) The base salary of Mr. Amato was $533,820 for the period from January 1, 2014 through June 30, 2014. It was increased to $750,000 

effective as of July 1, 2014. 
(5) The base salary of Mr. Grimm was $590,000 for the period from January 1, 2014 through June 30, 2014. It was increased to $750,000 

effective as of July 1, 2014. 
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receive a target award based on a percentage of base salary with 50% of the award was based on Grede’s adjusted EBITDA, 25% of the award 
was based on Grede’s adjusted free cash flow generation and 25% of the award was based on individual performance objectives. To receive an 
award, Grede’s adjusted EBITDA had to exceed 80% of budgeted adjusted EBITDA. To receive the target award, Grede had to meet or exceed 
its budgeted adjusted EBITDA and adjusted free cash flow, which were $159.3 million and $118 million, respectively, for 2014, and the 
executive officer had to meet his or her individual performance objectives. In the event Grede’s adjusted EBITDA and adjusted free cash flow 
exceeded budgeted adjusted EBITDA and adjusted free cash flow and individual performance objectives were met, an executive officer would 
be entitled to receive an award in excess of his or her target award up to a maximum of 200% of base salary. The target award for Mr. Grimm 
was 110% of his base salary. Since Grede’s adjusted EBITDA and adjusted free cash flow were each 94% of the pre-determined targets and he 
met his individual objectives, Mr. Grimm received a cash award in the amount of $679,196, which was equal to 82% of his target award.  

2015 Performance-based Compensation  

For 2015, the compensation committee structured our performance-based compensation program in a manner that was consistent 
with the existing programs to reward executive officers based on MPG performance and the performance of the individual executive directors 
relative to their individual performance objectives. This allows all executive officers to receive incentive bonus compensation in the event 
certain specified corporate performance measures are achieved.  

Under the MPG performance-based compensation plan effective January 1, 2015, each of our executive officers will earn an award 
based on MPG Adjusted EBITDA, MPG Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures and individual performance objectives. Each NEO will be 
entitled to receive a target award based on a percentage of his base salary in which 50% of the award will be based on MPG Adjusted EBITDA, 
25% of the award will be based on MPG Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures, and 25% of the award will be based on individual 
performance objectives. To receive an award, our Adjusted EBITDA has to meet or exceed 90% of budgeted Adjusted EBITDA. To receive the 
target award, we have to meet or exceed our budgeted Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures, and the executive 
officer has to meet their individual performance objectives. In the event our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures 
exceed the budget amounts and the NEO’s meet their performance objectives, the executive officers would be entitled to receive an award in 
excess of their target award up to a maximum of 200% of their target award. The target awards for Mr. Thanopoulos, Mr. Blaufuss, Mr. Amato 
and Mr. Grimm will be 100%, 60%, 100% and 110%, respectively, of their base salary.  

Long-Term Equity Incentive Awards  

We believe that equity ownership provides our NEOs with a strong incentive to increase our value and aligns the interests of our 
executive officers with the interests of our stockholders. While we do not have a formal policy requiring our officers and directors to own our 
stock, we may adopt one in the future. However, our NEOs, along with other key employees, were granted stock options and other equity awards 
at the time of the HHI Transaction, the Metaldyne Transaction and the Grede Transaction, as applicable, which were converted into options to 
purchase our common stock in the Combination. In addition, we granted additional options in connection with the Combination under our newly 
adopted equity incentive plan, which we refer to as the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. The 2014 Equity 
Incentive Plan is discussed in more detail under “2014 Equity Incentive Plan” below. Our executive officers will be eligible to receive additional 
awards of stock options or other equity or equity-based awards under our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan at the discretion of the compensation 
committee, including, in 2015, grants of restricted shares of our common stock in an amount equal to $750,000 in the aggregate at the date of 
grant and options to purchase our common stock in an amount equal to $750,000 in the aggregate at the date of grant, each vesting over a three-
year period from the date of grant. Mr. Thanopoulos, Mr. Blaufuss, Mr. Amato, and Mr. Grimm were each party to a letter agreement entitling 
them to a grant of restricted shares of our common stock under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, these awards were granted on December 11, 
2014, the date of the pricing of the IPO, and vests 25% upon the first anniversary of the grant date and 75% upon the second anniversary of the 
grant date. Under the agreements, Mr. Thanopoulos, Mr. Amato, and Mr. Grimm were granted restricted stock with a fair market value of $2.0 
million and Mr. Blaufuss was granted restricted stock with a fair market value of $1.25 million, in each case, based on the $15.00 offering price 
per share of MPG common stock.  

Generally, our existing stock options have vesting schedules that are designed to encourage an optionee’s continued employment and 
option prices that are designed to reward an optionee for our performance. Options generally expire ten years from the date of the grant and vest 
in three to five equal annual installments following the date of grant, subject to the optionee’s continued employment on each applicable vesting 
date.  

In connection with the Combination, we assumed the ASP MD Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Plan previously sponsored by Metaldyne 
(the “Metaldyne Plan”), the ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Plan, previously sponsored by HHI (the “HHI Plan”), and the ASP Grede 
Intermediate Holdings LLC 2014 Unit Option Plan, previously sponsored by Grede (the “Grede Plan” and, together with the Metaldyne Plan and 
the HHI Plan, the “Assumed Plans”), together with all stock options to purchase shares of common stock of Metaldyne or HHI and options to 
purchase units of Grede issued and outstanding under the Assumed Option Plans  
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as of the time of the Combination, which options were converted in accordance with the terms of the Assumed Plans and the Merger Agreement 
into options to acquire shares of our common stock (the “Assumed Options”). Following our assumption of the Assumed Plans and the Assumed 
Options, we entered into new award agreements evidencing the Assumed Options which eliminated any performance-based vesting provisions 
and such options are now solely subject to time-vesting. Prior to the Combination, Mr. Thanopoulos held options to purchase 110,948 shares of 
common stock of HHI with a strike price of $27.61 which were converted to options under the HHI Plan (split adjusted) to purchase 926,870 
shares of our common stock with a strike price of $3.31 which vested with respect to 20% of the shares subject to the option on each of 
December 6, 2013 and 2014 and shall vest in respect of another 20% on each of December 6, 2015, 2016 and 2017, subject to continued 
employment on such dates. Mr. Blaufuss held options to purchase 221,597 shares of common stock of Metaldyne with a strike price of $5.77 
which were converted to options under the Metaldyne Plan (split adjusted) to purchase 237,095 shares of our common stock with a strike price 
of $5.40 which vested with respect to 20% of the shares subject to the option on February 19, 2014 and shall vest in respect of another 20% on 
each of February 19, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, subject to continued employment on such dates. Mr. Amato held options to purchase 576,153 
shares of common stock of Metaldyne with a strike price of $5.77 and 35,000 shares of common stock of Metaldyne with a strike price of $15.77 
which were converted to options under the Metaldyne Plan (split adjusted) to purchase 616,450 shares of our common stock with a strike price 
of $5.40 and 37,445 shares of our common stock with a strike price of $14.75, both of which vested with respect to 20% of the shares subject to 
the options on February 19, 2014 and each of which shall vest in respect of another 20% on each of February 19, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, 
subject to continued employment on such dates. Mr. Grimm held options to purchase 9,049 units of Grede with a strike price of $1,000 which 
were converted to options under the Grede Plan (split adjusted) to purchase 485,205 shares of our common stock with a strike price of $18.66 
which vest with respect to 100% of the shares subject to the option on June 2, 2021, subject to continued employment.  

In connection with the Combination, we adopted the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan providing for the grant of options, restricted stock 
awards, restricted stock units, and other equity-based compensation awards. As a holder of options to acquire shares of common stock of HHI, 
Mr. Thanopoulos received an option granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (split adjusted) to acquire 424,950 shares of our common 
stock at a strike price of $20, with respect to which 253,125 of the shares subject to option were fully vested upon grant and 171,825 of the 
shares subject to option, which shall be 20% vested upon grant and shall vest in respect of another 20% on each of December 6, 2014, 2015, 
2016 and 2017, subject to continued employment on such dates. In addition, Mr. Thanopoulos, Mr. Blaufuss, Mr. Amato and Mr. Grimm were 
also granted fully vested options under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (split adjusted) to purchase 139,220, 3,935, 26,285 and 9,385 shares of 
our common stock, respectively, at an exercise price of $20 per share, which amounts were equal to 10% of the number of shares of our common 
stock owned by such individual. In addition, in connection with the Combination, Mr. Thanopoulos, Mr. Blaufuss, Mr. Amato and Mr. Grimm 
were granted options under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (split adjusted) to purchase 135,185, 23,710, 65,390 and 48,875 shares of our 
common stock, respectively, at an exercise price of $20 per share, which amounts were equal to 10% of the number of shares of our common 
stock held under option by such individual, which options vest one-third on each of August 4, 2015, 2016 and 2017.  

All of the foregoing options received by Mr. Thanopoulos, Mr. Blaufuss, Mr. Amato and Mr. Grimm provide for full vesting upon a 
“transaction” as defined in their individual award agreements and the Assumed Plans, subject to continued employment through consummation 
of the transaction. The definition of “transaction” under such agreements and plans generally means (i) the sale of all, or substantially all, of our 
consolidated assets, including, without limitation, a sale of all or substantially all of our assets or the assets of any of our subsidiaries whose 
assets constitute all or substantially all of our consolidated assets (or the sale of a majority of the outstanding shares of voting capital stock of any 
subsidiary or subsidiaries whose consolidated assets so constitute), in any single transaction or series of related transactions; (ii) the sale of 
shares of our common stock by American Securities or its affiliates, which results in American Securities and its affiliates not having the power 
to elect or appoint a majority of the members of the board; or (iii) any merger or consolidation of us with or into another corporation or entity 
unless, after giving effect to such merger or consolidation, the holders of our voting securities (on a fully-diluted basis immediately prior to the 
merger or consolidation), own voting securities (on a fully-diluted basis) of the surviving or resulting corporation or entity representing a 
majority of the outstanding voting power to elect directors of the surviving or resulting corporation or entity in substantially the same 
proportions that they held their shares prior to such merger. In addition, options granted to any employees under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan 
or the Assumed Plans are subject to full vesting upon a “transaction.” In addition, the Assumed Options received by Mr. Blaufuss and 
Mr. Amato provide that if an operating division of the Company or an affiliate is sold, our board of directors may, in its discretion, accelerate the 
vesting of some or all of such executive’s options if the executive’s employment is transferred in connection with such sale.  
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Retirement Benefits  

Each of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede offers their executive officers retirement benefits through 401(k) plans, which provide tax-
efficient retirement savings. Each of HHI, Metaldyne and Grede matches a portion of the pre-tax dollar contributions of the executive officer up 
to a pre-set limit, subject to Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) contribution limits. Matching contributions are 
immediately vested. In 2014, Mr. Thanopoulos, Mr. Blaufuss, Mr. Amato and Mr. Grimm received matching contributions of $6,120, $7,800, 
$6,697 and $5,200, respectively.  

Perquisites and Other Compensation  

We provide our executive officers, including our NEOs, with certain personal benefits and perquisites, which we do not consider to 
be a significant component of executive compensation but which we recognize are an important factor in attracting and retaining talented 
executives. Executive officers are eligible under the same plans as all other employees for medical, dental, disability and life insurance. We 
provide higher levels of long-term disability and life insurance coverages to our executive officers than is generally available to our non-
executive employees. We provide these supplemental benefits to our executive officers due to the relatively low cost of such benefits and the 
value they provide in assisting us in attracting and retaining talented executives.  

Each of Metaldyne and Grede also offers certain of its executive officers other compensation and perquisites in order to better enable 
the companies to attract and retain talented employees to key positions by providing additional benefits with high perceived values at relatively 
low cost to us. Metaldyne and Grede provided Mr. Amato and Mr. Grimm with a flexible allowance plan that provided reimbursement for 
certain designated items (including, amongst other items, supplemental life insurance, liability insurance, club membership, financial and estate 
planning and income tax preparation) as well as a tax gross up for certain reimbursements. Mr. Amato received $25,489 from Metaldyne under 
this program and Mr. Grimm received $43,483 executive flex and $9,450 for executive life from Grede under this program.  

Employment Agreements and Severance Benefits  

In connection with the Combination, we entered into new employment agreements with our NEOs. We have described the material 
terms of these agreements below. These employment agreements establish the terms and conditions of such NEO’s employment relationship 
with us. These agreements generally provide that such NEO receive a minimum base salary and be eligible to receive an annual bonus, but do 
not otherwise provide for annual salary or bonus increases or other compensation increases. In addition, these employment agreements provide 
for benefits upon termination of employment in certain circumstances.  

We entered into an employment agreement with George Thanopoulos as of August 4, 2014. Mr. Thanopoulos’ contract period is 
valid through the earliest of (i) his resignation, (ii) his death or disability and (iii) his termination by us at any time for cause or without cause. 
The agreement provides that Mr. Thanopoulos will receive an initial annualized base salary of $874,182. The board of directors has discretion to 
increase (but not reduce) the base salary from time to time. The agreement also provides for an annual cash bonus with a target level of 100% of 
his base salary, as determined by the board of directors based on performance objectives established with respect to that particular year. 
Mr. Thanopoulos is eligible to participate in one or more of our equity incentive plans pursuant to the terms and conditions of such plans. If we 
terminate Mr. Thanopoulos’ employment at any time without cause (as defined in the agreement) or Mr. Thanopoulos resigns with good reason 
(as defined in the agreement), we must provide Mr. Thanopoulos with the following, subject to his execution of a release of claims and his 
continued compliance with the restrictive covenants set forth in his employment agreement: (a) an amount equal to his monthly base salary rate 
paid monthly for a period of 24 months (or 12 months if such termination occurs on or after August 28, 2015), (b) continued group medical 
coverage, paid for by the Company, for a period of 24 months (or 12 months is such termination occurs on or after August 28, 2015), ceasing 
earlier if he ceases to be eligible for COBRA continuation coverage or obtains other employment that offers group health benefits, and (c) a pro 
rata portion of the annual bonus he otherwise would have received for the fiscal year in which he was terminated.  

We entered into an employment agreement with Mark Blaufuss as of August 4, 2014. Mr. Blaufuss’ contract period is valid through 
the earliest of (i) his resignation, (ii) his death or disability and (iii) his termination by us at any time for cause or without cause. The agreement 
provides that Mr. Blaufuss will receive an initial annualized base salary of $600,000. The board of directors has discretion to increase (but not 
reduce) the base salary from time to time. The agreement also provides for an annual cash bonus with a target level of 60% of his base salary, as 
determined by the board of directors based on performance objectives established with respect to that particular year. Mr. Blaufuss is eligible to 
participate in one or more of our equity incentive plans pursuant to the terms and conditions of such plans. If we terminate Mr. Blaufuss’ 
employment at any time without cause (as defined in the agreement) or Mr. Blaufuss resigns with good reason (as defined in the agreement) we 
must provide Mr. Blaufuss with the following, subject to his execution of a release of claims and his continued compliance with the restrictive 
covenants set forth in his employment agreement: (a) an amount equal to his monthly base salary rate paid monthly for a period of 18 months, 
(b) continued group medical coverage for a period of 18 months at the same cost as he would have paid as an active participant in the 
Company’s group health plan, ceasing earlier if he ceases to be eligible for COBRA continuation coverage or obtains other employment that 
offers group health benefits, and (c) a pro rata portion of the annual bonus he otherwise would have received for the fiscal year in which he was 
terminated.  
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We entered into an employment agreement with Thomas Amato as of August 4, 2014. Mr. Amato’s contract period is valid through 
the earliest of (i) his resignation, (ii) his death or disability and (iii) his termination by us at any time for cause or without cause. The agreement 
provides that Mr. Amato will receive an initial annualized base salary of $750,000. The board of directors has discretion to increase (but not 
reduce) the base salary from time to time. The agreement also provides for an annual cash bonus with a target level of 100% of his base salary, 
as determined by the board of directors based on performance objectives established with respect to that particular year. Mr. Amato receives an 
executive flex spending allowance and is eligible to participate in one or more of our equity incentive plans pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of such plans. If we terminate Mr. Amato’s employment at any time without cause (as defined in the agreement), we must provide Mr. Amato 
with the following, subject to his execution of a release of claims and his continued compliance with the restrictive covenants set forth in his 
employment agreement: (a) an amount equal to his monthly base salary rate paid monthly for a period of 18 months, (b) continued group 
medical coverage for a period of 18 months at the same cost as he would have paid as an active participant in the Company’s group health plan, 
ceasing earlier if he ceases to be eligible for COBRA continuation coverage or obtains other employment that offers group health benefits, and 
(c) a pro rata portion of the annual bonus he otherwise would have received for the fiscal year in which he was terminated.  

We entered into an employment agreement with Douglas Grimm as of August 4, 2014. Mr. Grimm’s contract period is valid through 
the earliest of (i) his resignation, (ii) his death or disability and (iii) his termination by us at any time for cause or without cause. The agreement 
provides that Mr. Grimm will receive an initial annualized base salary of $750,000. The board of directors has discretion to increase (but not 
reduce) the base salary from time to time. The agreement also provides for an annual cash bonus with a target level of 110% of his base salary, 
as determined by the board of directors based on performance objectives established with respect to that particular year. Mr. Grimm is provided 
with life insurance coverage carrying a death benefit at least equal to five times his annualized base salary, a cash automobile allowance of $850 
per month and an annual perquisite allowance of $25,000, and is eligible to participate in one or more of our equity incentive plans, pursuant to 
the terms of such plans. If we terminate Mr. Grimm’s employment at any time without cause (as defined in the agreement) or Mr. Grimm resigns 
with good reason (as defined in the agreement), we must provide Mr. Grimm with the following, subject to his execution of a release of claims 
and his continued compliance with the restrictive covenants set forth in his employment agreement: (a) an amount, paid in equal monthly 
installments over the 18 months following his termination, equal to the sum of (1) a prorated portion of his target annual bonus for the year of 
termination based on the number of days that have elapsed during the year of termination, plus (2) 1.5 times the sum of his annualized base 
salary rate and his target annual bonus, (b) continued group medical coverage for a period of 18 months at the same cost as he would have paid 
as an active participant in the Company’s group health plan, ceasing earlier if he ceases to be eligible for COBRA continuation coverage or 
obtains other employment that offers group health benefits, and (c) outplacement services for a period of six months in an amount not to exceed 
$40,000 in the aggregate.  

For purposes of each of the employment agreements with our NEOs, “cause” means that the executive officer has:  
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•   continually failed to perform in a material manner or was materially negligent or committed willful misconduct in the 
performance of the executive’s duties to us or our subsidiaries for a period of 30 days after written notice was delivered to the 
executive by or on behalf of our board of directors specifying the manner in which the executive failed to perform (and which 
such failure or other performance default remains uncured after such time); 

  
•   materially breached any material provisions in any written agreement between the executive and us or one of our subsidiaries 

for a period of 30 days after written notice was delivered to the executive by or on behalf of our board of directors specifying 
the manner in which the executive breached (and which breach remains uncured after such time); 

  

•   developed or pursued interests materially adverse to us or any of our subsidiaries or willfully failed to observe any of our or 
any of our subsidiaries’ material written policies applicable to the executive for a period of 30 days after written notice was 
delivered to the executive by or on behalf of our board of directors specifying the manner in which the executive failed to 
observe (and which failure remains uncured after such time); 

  •   materially breached any non-competition, non-solicitation, or confidentiality agreement or covenant with us or any applicable 
subsidiary; 

  •   engaged in theft, embezzlement, fraud, or misappropriation of any of our or any of our subsidiaries’  property; or 

  •   been convicted of or entered a guilty or no contest plea with respect to a felony (other than a vehicular felony or through 
vicarious liability not related to us or any of our affiliates) or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or fraud. 
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For purposes of each of the employment agreements with our NEOs, “good reason” means the executive’s resignation from 
employment with us as a result of one or more of the following reasons, provided, in each case, that the executive must deliver written notice of 
resignation to us within 30 days after the occurrence of any such event, and if we do not cure the breach within 30 days of receipt of such notice, 
the executive actually terminates his employment within 60 days following the expiration of such cure period:  
   

   

   

   

The options and restricted stock awards granted to each NEO fully vest upon a termination of employment with us by reason of death 
or “disability,” termination by us without “cause,” or such individual’s resignation for “good reason,” as those terms are defined in their 
individual award agreements.  

Compensation Policies and Practices as They Relate to Risk Management  

The compensation committee has evaluated the policies and practices of compensating our employees in light of the relevant factors, 
including the following:  
   

   

   

Based on such evaluation, the compensation committee has determined that our policies and practices do not incentivize taking 
unnecessary or excessive risks and are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.  

IRS Code Section 162(m)  

Section 162(m) of the Code generally disallows publicly held companies a tax deduction for compensation in excess of $1,000,000 
paid to their chief executive officer and the three other most highly compensated executive officers (other than the chief financial officer) unless 
such compensation qualifies for an exemption for certain compensation that is based on performance. Section 162(m) of the Code provides 
transition relief for privately held companies that become publicly held, pursuant to which the foregoing deduction limit does not apply to any 
remuneration paid pursuant to compensation plans or agreements in existence during the period in which the corporation was not publicly held 
if, in connection with an initial public offering, the prospectus accompanying the initial public offering discloses information concerning those 
plans or agreements that satisfies all applicable securities laws then in effect. If the transition requirements are met in connection with an initial 
public offering, the transition relief continues until the earliest of (i) the expiration of the plan or agreement, (ii) the material modification of the 
plan or agreement, (iii) the issuance of all employer stock and other compensation that has been allocated under the plan, or (iv) the first meeting 
of the stockholders at which directors are to be elected that occurs after the close of the third calendar year following the calendar year in which 
the initial public offering occurs. Our intent generally is to design and administer executive compensation programs in a manner that will 
preserve the deductibility of compensation paid to our executive officers, and we believe that a substantial portion of our current executive 
compensation program will satisfy the requirements for exemption from the $1,000,000 deduction limitation, to the extent applicable. However, 
we reserve the right to design programs that recognize a full range of performance criteria important to our success, even where the 
compensation paid under such programs may not be deductible. The compensation committee will monitor the tax and other consequences of 
our executive compensation program as part of its primary objective of ensuring that compensation paid to our executive officers is reasonable, 
performance based and consistent with our goals and the goals of our stockholders.  
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  •   we reduce the amount of the executive officer’s base salary; 

  •   we change the executive officer’s titles or reduce the executive’s responsibilities materially inconsistent with the positions the 
executive then holds; 

  
•   we change the executive officer’s place of work to a location more than 35 miles from the executive’s present place of work, 

other than any relocation to the current business headquarters of any of the Metaldyne, HHI, or Grede businesses, or to any 
location within five miles of any such headquarters; or 

  
•   a successor to substantially all of our business and/or assets does not expressly assume and agree to perform such employment 

agreement and provide the executive with the same or comparable position, duties, base salary, target annual bonus and 
benefits under such agreement. 

  •   allocation of compensation between cash and equity awards and the focus on stock-based compensation, including options 
and stock awards generally vesting over a period of years, thereby mitigating against short-term risk taking; 

  •   performance-based compensation is not based solely on our performance, but also requires achievement of individual 
performance objectives; and 

  •   financial performance targets of our performance-based compensation plan are budgeted objectives that are reviewed and 
approved by our board of directors and/or our compensation committee. 
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Compensation Committee Report  

The compensation committee of the board of directors (hereafter referred to as the “Committee”) oversees the Company’s programs 
for compensating executive officers and other key management employees, including the administration of the Company’s equity-based 
compensation plans, and approves the salaries, bonuses and other awards to executive officers. The Committee has reviewed and discussed the 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management of the Company, and, based on such review and discussion, the Committee has 
recommended to the board of directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis so stated be included in this Form 10-K.  

   
111  

   
Compensation Committee:  

   
Kevin Penn, Chairman  

   
Loren Easton  

   
William Jackson  
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Executive Compensation  

Summary Compensation Table for 2014  

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the compensation paid to our NEOs during the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2014.  
   

   

   

Name and Principal Position   Year     
Salary  

($)     

Bonus 
 

($) (5)     

Stock  
Awards  
($)(6)     

Option  
Awards  
($) (1)     

Non-equity  
Incentive Plan 

 
Compensation 

 
($) (7)     

Change in  
Pension  

Value and  
Nonqualified  

Deferred  
Compensation 

 
Earnings  

($)     

All Other  
Compensation 

 
($) (8)     

Total  
($)   

George Thanopoulos;  
Chief Executive Officer and 

President & CEO of HHI (2)    

  
 
  

2014 

2013 

   
   
  

  
 
  

857,644 

836,360 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  2,000,010    

  

  7,926,524    

  

  
 
  

1,030,970 
1,384,739 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  
 
  

639,628 
6,120 

   
   
  

  
 
  

12,454,776 

2,227,219 

   
   

Mark Blaufuss;  
Chief Financial Officer (3)  

  

  
 
  

2014 

2013 

   
   
  

  
 
  

468,797 

328,343 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  1,250,010    

  

  
 
  

327,054 
1,247,593 

   
   
  

  
 
  

396,000 
224,821 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  
 
  

7,800 
7,650 

   
   
  

  
 
  

2,449,661 
1,808,407 

   
   

Thomas Amato;  
Co-President and President & 

CEO of Metaldyne (3)    

  
 
  

2014 

2013 

   
   
  

  
 
  

658,539 

533,820 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  2,000,010    

  

  
 
  

1,072,329 

3,349,442 

   
   
  

  
 
  

825,000 
603,216 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  
 
  

32,185 
26,379 

   
   
  

  
 
  

4,588,063 
4,512,857 

   
   

Douglas Grimm;  
Co-President and President & 

CEO of Grede (4)    

  
 
  

2014 

2013 

   
   
  

  
 
  

670,004 

590,000 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  2,000,010    

  

  6,830,930    

  

  
 
  

679,196 
976,246 

   
   
  

  —      

  

  
 
  

68,333 
58,932 

   
   
  

  
 
  

10,248,473 

1,625,178 

   
   

  
(1) As required by Securities and Exchange Commission rules, amounts shown in the column “Option Awards” reflects the aggregate grant-

date fair value of option awards granted in the fiscal year in accordance with accounting rules ASC 718, Compensation—Stock 
Compensation . For a description of the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of equity awards in 2014 under ASC 718, see Note 
16 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained within “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” These 
amounts reflect our cumulative accounting expense over the vesting period and do not correspond to the actual values that may be realized 
by the NEOs. 

(2) Compensation paid by HHI. Does not include $2,485,775 received by Mr. Thanopoulos for the anti-dilution feature of his options related 
to the dividend paid by HHI during 2014. 

(3) Compensation paid by Metaldyne. 
(4) Compensation paid by Grede. Does not include $23,526,659 received by Mr. Grimm in recognition of the equity units he held related to 

the Grede Transaction. 
(5) Does not include the value of 1,016 plan units granted to Mr. Grimm, that vested in 2013, under the Equity Based Compensation Plan 

previously maintained by Grede Holdings LLC, entitling Mr. Grimm to receive a cash payment in respect of such units in an amount 
determined as if such units were membership units of Grede Holdings LLC, in a change of control transaction. As of December 31, 2013, 
the liquidity event (a change of control) was considered not probable of occurring in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation—Stock 
Compensation . 

(6) As required by Securities and Exchange Commission rules, the amounts shown in the column “stock awards” reflects the aggregate grant 
date fair value of restricted stock awards granted in the fiscal year in accordance with accounting rules ASC 718, Compensation—Stock 
Compensation . The amounts represent our cumulative accounting expense over the vesting period and do not correspond to the actual 
values that may be realized by the NEO’s. 

(7) The amounts in column “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation” reflects the 2014 plan year payout, to be paid in March 2015, as part 
of the previous HHI, Metaldyne, and Grede annual bonus plans. 

(8) The components of the column “All Other Compensation”  for 2014 are summarized in the following table. 

Name    
401(k) Match 

($)      

Car Allowance 
 

($)      

Executive Flex 
 

Allowance  
($)      

Executive Life 
 

Insurance  
($)      

Other  
Compensation 

 
($) (1)      

Total  
($)   

George Thanopoulos       6,120         —           —           —           633,508         639,628    
Mark Blaufuss       7,800         —           —           —           —           7,800    
Thomas Amato       6,697         —           25,488         —           —           32,185    
Douglas Grimm       5,200         10,200         43,483         9,450         —           68,333    
  
(1) Represents a payment of $633,508 for recognition of dividends Mr. Thanopoulos would have received for shares purchased upon the 

March 2014 escrow release. 
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards for 2014  

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the grants of plan-based awards to our NEOs during the year ended 
December 31, 2014.  
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Grant  
Date 

   

Estimated Future Payouts  
Under Non-Equity Incentive  

Plan Awards  
(1)       

All Other  
Stock  

Awards:  
Number of 

 
Shares of  
Stock or  

Units  
(#)   

   

All Other  
Option  

Awards:  
Number of 

 
Securities  

Underlying 
 

Options  
(#)   

   

Exercise 
 

or Base 
Price of 
Option  
Awards 
($/Sh)   

   

Grant  
Date Fair  
Value of  

Stock and  
Option  
Awards  
($)(2)   Name       

Threshold 
 

($)      
Target  

($)      
Maximum  

($)               
George Thanopoulos  

   

08/06/2014 
 

08/06/2014 
08/06/2014 
08/06/2014 
08/06/2014 
12/11/2014 
01/01/2014      437,091         874,182         —         

  
  
  

133,334 
   

  

   
   
      

  
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

253,125 
171,825 
136,540 

2,680 
135,185 

   
  
  

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  
  
  
  

20.00 
20.00 
20.00 
20.00 
20.00 

   
  

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  
  
  

2,793,994 

1,978,737 
1,507,129 

29,582 
1,617,083 
2,000,010 

   
   
   
   
   
   

Mark Blaufuss  

   

08/06/2014 
 

08/06/2014 
12/11/2014 
01/01/2014      180,000         360,000         486,000       

  
  
  

83,334 
   

  

   
   
      

  
 
  
  
  

3,935 
23,710 

   
  

   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  

20.00 
20.00 

   
  

   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  

43,435 
283,619 

1,250,010 
   

   
   
   
   

Thomas Amato  

   

08/06/2014 
 

08/06/2014 
12/11/2014 
01/01/2014      375,000         750,000         1,012,500       

  
  
  

133,334 
   

  

   
   
      

  
 
  
  
  

26,285 
65,390 

   
  

   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  

20.00 
20.00 

   
  

   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  

290,134 
782,195 

2,000,010 
   

   
   
   
   

Douglas Grimm  

   

06/02/2014 
 

08/06/2014 
08/06/2014 
12/11/2014 
01/01/2014      416,254         832,509         1,665,018       

  
  
  

133,334 
   

  

   
   
      

  
 
  
  
  
  

485,205 
9,385 

48,875 
   

  

   
   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  
  

18.66 
20.00 
20.00 

   
  

   
   
   
   
   

   

  
 
  
  
  
  

6,142,695 

103,592 
584,643 

2,000,010 
   

   
   
   
   
   

  
(1) The amounts shown represent the threshold, target and maximum amounts payable as part of the HHI, Metaldyne, and Grede bonus plans, 

in which each NEO participated in 2014. 
(2) As required by Securities and Exchange Commission rules, amounts shown in the column “Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option 

Awards” present the aggregate grant-date fair value of option awards granted in the fiscal year in accordance with accounting rules ASC 
718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. For a description of the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of equity awards in 2013 
under ASC 718, see the Notes to the Company’s audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. These amounts reflect 
our cumulative accounting expense over the vesting period and do not correspond to the actual values that may be realized by the NEOs. 
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2014  

The following table provides information regarding the equity awards held by the NEOs as of December 31, 2014.  
   

Options Exercised and Stock Vested during 2014  

None of the NEOs exercised options or had any stock that vested during 2014.  

Pension Benefits  

Our NEOs did not participate in any defined benefit pension plan during 2014.  

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation  

In the year ended December 31, 2014, our NEOs received no nonqualified deferred compensation and had no deferred compensation 
benefits.  
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     Option Awards    Stock Awards   

Name    

Number  
of  

Securities  
Underlying 
Unexercised 

 
Options  

(#)  
Exercisable      

Number of  
Securities  

Underlying  
Unexercised  

Options  
(#)  

Unexercisable      

Option  
Exercise 

 
Price  
($)      

Option  
Expiration  

Date    

Number of 
 

Shares or  
Units of  

Stock That 
 

Have Not  
Vested  
(#) (1)      

Market  
Value of  
Shares or  
Units of  

Stock That  
Have Not  

Vested  
($) (2)   

George Thanopoulos  

   

  
 
  
  
  
  
  

370,748 
253,125 
68,730 

136,540 
2,680 

—   

   
   
   
   
   
      

  
 
  
  
  
  
  

556,122 
—   

103,095 
—   
—   

135,185 

   
   
   
   
   
      

  
 
  
  
  
  
  

3.31 
20.00 
20.00 
20.00 
20.00 
20.00 

   
   
   
   
   
      

12/06/2022 
 

08/06/2024 
08/06/2024 
08/06/2024 
08/06/2024 
08/06/2024    

  133,334    

   

  2,314,678    

Mark Blaufuss  

   

  
 
  
  

47,419 
3,935 

—   

   
   
      

  
 
  
  

189,676 
—   

23,710 

   
   
      

  
 
  
  

5.40 
20.00 
20.00 

   
   
      

02/19/2023 
 

08/06/2024 
08/06/2024    

  83,334    

   

  1,446,678    

Thomas Amato  

   

  
 
  
  
  

123,290 
7,489 

26,285 
—   

   
  
   
      

  
 
  
  
  

493,160 
29,956 

—   
65,390 

   
   
   
      

  
 
  
  
  

5.40 
14.75 
20.00 
20.00 

   
   
   
      

02/19/2023 
 

02/19/2023 
08/06/2024 
08/06/2024    

  133,334    

   

  2,314,678    

Douglas Grimm  

   

  
 
  
  

—   
9,385 

—   

   
   
      

  
 
  
  

485,205 
—   

48,875 

   
   
      

  
 
  
  

18.66 
20.00 
20.00 

   
   
      

06/02/2024 
 

08/06/2024 
08/06/2024    

  133,334    

   

  2,314,678    

  
(1) Refers to Restricted Stock Awards, which vest 25% on the first anniversary of the grant date and 75% on the second anniversary of the 

grant date. 
(2) Market Value is determined using the number of awards multiplied by $17.36, which was the closing price of our common stock on the 

New York Stock Exchange on December 31, 2014. 
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Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control  

The table below shows the estimated value transfer to each NEO upon termination of employment without a Change in Control or in 
connection with a Change in Control. The table below assumes that such termination occurred on December 31, 2014, when the closing price of 
our stock was $17.36 and payments are made under the employment agreements then in effect. The actual amounts that would be paid to any 
NEO can only be determined at the time of an actual termination of employment and would vary from those listed below.  
   

Director Compensation  

The following table sets forth compensation received by our directors for their services as a director of the boards of HHI, 
Metaldyne, or MPG as applicable.  
   

Director Compensation Policy  

Following the Combination, each of our non-employee directors received annual cash compensation of $100,000 and will be granted 
restricted shares of our common stock in an amount equal to $50,000 at the date of grant that will vest over a three-year period from the grant 
date. Jeff Stafeil will receive an additional annual cash compensation of $25,000 for his services as the chairman of the audit committee. In 
addition, beginning January 1, 2015, our non-employee directors affiliated with American Securities will quality for the same non-employee 
director compensation due to the IPO in 2014. As such, the cash compensation paid and restricted shares of our common stock granted for each 
of our non-employee directors that are affiliated with American Securities will be paid and granted, respectively, directly to American Securities 
and not to the director individually. Directors who are our employees will not receive any compensation for their service on our board of 
directors.  

   

The following table shows information as of March 2, 2015 regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock by:  
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Termination without Cause or for Good  
Reason without a Change in Control or within  

Two Years Following a Change in Control          

Name    

Severance  
Pay  
($)      

Benefits  
($)      

Accelerated  
Equity  
Vesting  

($)      
Total  

($)   
George Thanopoulos       2,779,334         38,871         10,128,192         12,946,397    
Mark Blaufuss       1,296,000         18,000         3,715,203         5,029,203    
Thomas Amato       1,950,000         18,000         8,291,057         10,259,057    
Douglas Grimm       2,706,279         52,258         2,314,678         5,073,215    

Name    

Fees Earned  
or Paid in Cash 

 
($)   

Nick Bhambri (1)       70,833    
Jeffrey Stafeil (1)       81,250    
William Jackson (2)       70,833    
Jack Smith (2)       70,833    

  
(1) Compensation paid by HHI and MPG. 
(2) Compensation paid by Metaldyne and MPG. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND  MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDERS MATTERS 

  •   each person or group who is known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock; 

  •   each member of our board and each of our NEOs; and 

  •   all members of our board and our executive officers as a group. 
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Beneficial ownership of shares is determined under rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes any 
shares over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. Except as noted by footnote, and subject to community property 
laws where applicable, we believe based on the information provided to us that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole 
voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock shown as beneficially owned by them. Percentage of beneficial 
ownership is based on 67,075,085 shares of our common stock outstanding and beneficial ownership as of March 2, 2015. Shares of common 
stock subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the person 
holding the options for the purposes of computing the percentage of beneficial ownership of that person and any group of which that person is a 
member, but are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage of beneficial ownership for any other person. Unless 
otherwise indicated, the address for each holder listed below is 47659 Halyard Drive, Plymouth, MI 48170-2429, c/o Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc.  
   

   

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  

Set forth below is a description of certain relationships and related person transactions between us or our subsidiaries, and our 
directors, executive officers, and holders of more than 5% of our voting securities. We believe that all of the following transactions were entered 
into with terms as favorable as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties.  

     
Shares of common stock  

beneficially owned   

Name of beneficial owner    
Number  
of shares      

Percentage 
 

of shares   
5% stockholders:        
ASP MD Investco LP (1)       52,681,147         78.5 %  
Named executive officers and directors:        
George Thanopoulos       2,224,018         3.3 %  
Mark Blaufuss (2)       136,728         *    
Thomas Amato (3)       541,863         *    
Douglas Grimm       103,215         *    
Nick Bhambri       22,705         *    
Loren Easton       —           —      
Michael Fisch       —           —      
William Jackson       4,278         *    
Kevin Penn       —           —      
John Pearson Smith       4,278         *    
Jeffrey Stafeil       9,340         *    
All board of director members and executive officers as a group (11 

persons)       3,046,425         4.5 %  
  
* Less than 1% 
(1) Based on Schedule 13G filed on February 17, 2015, as of December 31, 2014 ASP MD Investco LP, a Delaware limited partnership. 

American Securities Partners VI, L.P., American Securities Partners VI(B), L.P., American Securities Partners VI(C), L.P. and American 
Securities Partners VI(D), L.P. (collectively, the “Sponsors”), are collectively owners of more than 99% of the limited partnership interests 
of ASP MD Investco LP. The following persons may be deemed having voting or investment power with respect to shares of our common 
stock beneficially owned by ASP MD Investco LP: (i) David Horing and Michael G. Fisch, in their capacities as the managing members of 
American Securities Associates VI, LLC, the general partner of each of the Sponsors, and (ii) Michael G. Fisch, in his capacity as trustee 
of The Michael G. Fisch 2006 Revocable Trust, the manager of ASCP, LLC, the managing member of American Securities LLC, which in 
turn is (A) the provider of investment advisory services to each Sponsor and (B) the owner of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 
ASP Manager Corp., the general partner of ASP MD Investco LP. Such individuals disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares of common 
stock held by ASP MD Investco, LP, except to the extent of their pecuniary interests therein. The address for ASP MD Investco LP is c/o 
American Securities LLC, 299 Park Avenue, 34th Floor, New York, NY 10171. 

(2) Does not include 1,550 shares of our common stock held in escrow in connection with the Metaldyne Transaction. 
(3) Does not include 9,700 shares of our common stock held in escrow in connection with the Metaldyne Transaction. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANACTIONS AND D IRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 



Merger Agreement  

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2014 (the “Merger Agreement”), the Combination was consummated on 
August 4, 2014 whereby HHI, Metaldyne, and Grede became wholly owned subsidiaries of MPG. In connection with the Combination (except 
for treasury shares or treasury units and certain shares or units owned by American Securities, which were cancelled for no consideration), 
(i) each issued and outstanding unit of ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC was converted into the right to receive 10.72363 shares of our 
common stock, (ii) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of ASP MD Holdings, Inc. was converted into the right to receive 
0.21399 shares of our common stock, (iii) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. was converted into 
the right to receive 1.67082 shares of our common stock, (iv) each outstanding option to purchase shares of ASP MD Holdings, Inc. was 
converted into an option to acquire a number of shares of our  
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common stock , (v) each outstanding option to purchase shares of ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. was converted into an option to acquire a number of 
shares of our common stock and (vi) each outstanding option to purchase units of ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC was converted into an 
option to acquire a number of shares of our common stock, in each case, in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Merger Agreement. In addition, following the Grede merger in the Combination, ASP Grede Holdings, LLC liquidated and distributed the shares 
of our common stock it received in the Combination to its former unit holder.  

For more information regarding the Combination, see “Item 1. Business—Company Organization and History.”  

Stockholders’ Agreement  

We entered into a Stockholders’ Agreement on August 4, 2014 (the “Stockholders’ Agreement”) that governs our relationship with 
our stockholders, and which prescribes the rights and restrictions of each stockholder party thereto. Upon completion of the IPO, the provisions 
in the Stockholders’ Agreement that provide for limitations on transfers (including, among others, the limitations on a minority investor 
transferring his or her shares, the right of first offer, tag-along rights, drag-along rights and participation rights) terminated. In addition, certain 
provisions that provide for purchase of minority shares of our common stock upon termination of employment of a minority investor also 
terminated at that time. All provisions in the Stockholders’ Agreement will terminate upon the sale of all or substantially all of the assets or 
equity interests in MPG to a third party, whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets or securities, or otherwise.  

The Stockholders’ Agreement provides demand registration rights to American Securities. In connection with any registration 
effected pursuant to the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, we are required to pay for all of the fees and expenses incurred in connection 
with such registration, including registration fees, filing fees, and printing fees. However, the underwriting discounts and selling commissions 
payable in respect of registrable securities included in any registration are to be paid by the persons including such registrable securities in any 
such registration on a pro rata basis. We have also agreed to indemnify the holders of registrable securities against all claims, losses, damages, 
and liabilities with respect to each registration effected pursuant to the Stockholders’ Agreement.  

Management Consulting Agreements  

Each of HHI, Metaldyne, and Grede entered into separate management consulting agreements (together, the “Management 
Consulting Agreements”) with American Securities in connection with the closing of the HHI Transaction, the Metaldyne Transaction and the 
Grede Transaction. Pursuant to the Management Consulting Agreements, American Securities provided management consulting services to HHI, 
Metaldyne and Grede. American Securities was also eligible to receive 1% of the value of certain corporate transactions for which they provide 
advisory services. The Management Consulting Agreements also included customary exculpation and indemnification provisions in favor of 
American Securities. The Management Consulting Agreements, and fees payable under those agreements, terminated on December 12, 2014 
pursuant to their respective terms upon consummation of the IPO.  
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Pursuant to the Management Consulting Agreements, American Securities received the following fees and expenses:  
   

Employment Agreements  

We have entered into employment agreements with each of George Thanopoulos, Thomas Amato, Douglas Grimm, and Mark Blaufuss. 
For more information regarding these agreements, see “Item 11. Executive Compensation.”  

Indemnification Agreements  

We entered into indemnification agreements with our current directors and NEOs and expect to enter in a similar agreement with any 
new directors or executive officers.  

Policies for Approval of Related Person Transactions  

We have adopted a written policy relating to the approval of related person transactions. Our audit committee will review and 
approve or ratify all relationships and related person transactions between us and (i) our directors, director nominees, executive officers, (ii) any 
5% record or beneficial owner of our common stock or (iii) any immediate family member of any person specified in (i) and (ii) above. Our 
General Counsel will be primarily responsible for the development and implementation of processes and controls to obtain information from our 
directors and executive officers with respect to related party transactions and for determining, based on the facts and circumstances, whether we 
or a related person have a direct or indirect material interest in the transaction.  

As set forth in the related person transaction policy, in the course of its review and approval or ratification of a related party 
transaction, the committee will consider:  
   

   

   

   

Any member of the audit committee who is a related person with respect to a transaction under review will not be permitted to 
participate in the discussions or approval or ratification of the transaction. However, such member of the audit committee will provide all 
material information concerning the transaction to the audit committee.  

Director Independence  

See “Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance—Director Independence”.  
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     2014      2013      

Successor Period 
 

2012   
            (In millions)          
Management fees     $ 5.1         4.0         0.5    
Transaction fees       8.3         —           15.7    
Expense reimbursements       1.4         0.5         0.1    

                                 

Total  $ 14.7      4.5      16.3    
         

  

         

  

         

  

  •   the nature of the related person’s interest in the transaction; 

  •   the availability of other sources of comparable products or services; 

  •   the material terms of the transaction, including, without limitation, the amount and type of transaction; and 

  •   the importance of the transaction to us. 
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Audit Fees  

The table below presents the fees billed by our principal auditor during the years ended December 31:  
   

Our audit committee charter, adopted on December 1, 2014, requires the audit committee to consider and, in its discretion, approve in 
advance any services (including the fees and material terms thereof) proposed to be carried out for the Company by the independent auditor or 
by any other firm proposed to be engaged by the Company as its independent auditor. All audit services provided for the years ended December 
31, 2014 and 2013 were approved by the audit committees of MPG or Metaldyne.  

   

1. Financial Statements  

Financial statements filed as part of this Form 10-K are listed under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemental Data.”  

2. Financial Statement Schedules  

Schedules Omitted  

Schedules other than Schedule II are omitted because they are not required or applicable under instructions contained in Regulation S-X or 
because the information called for is shown in the financial statements and notes thereto.  

Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

     2014      2013   
     (In millions)   
Audit fees     $ 4.4         1.0    
Audit-related fees       0.8         —      
Tax fees       0.2         0.2    
All other fees       *         *    

  
* Less than $0.1 million. Within all other fees are those incurred for trade agreement and pension advisory services, accounting research tool 

subscription and benchmarking data. 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES 

     

Balance at 
 

beginning 
 

of period      

Charged to 
 

costs and  
expenses      

Charged to  
other  

accounts (1)     Deductions     

Balance 
at end  

of period   
                   (In millions)               
Allowances on Accounts Receivable               

Year ended December 31, 2014     $ 9.0       $ 5.1       $ 2.0      $ (8.1 )    $ 8.0    
Year ended December 31, 2013       5.0         3.6         0.4        —          9.0    
Successor period ended December 31, 2012       0.3         0.3         4.4        —          5.0    
Predecessor period ended October 5, 2012       0.4         —           —          (0.1 )      0.3    

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets               
Year ended December 31, 2014     $ 7.1       $ 4.7       $ (0.1 )    $ 0.2      $ 11.9    
Year ended December 31, 2013       18.2         0.2         —          (11.3 )      7.1    
Successor period ended December 31, 2012       —           —           18.9        (0.7 )      18.2    
Predecessor period ended October 5, 2012       —           —           —          —          —      

  
(1) Includes purchase accounting adjustment to record accounts at fair value. 
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Signatures  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 16, 2015.  

METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
(Registrant)  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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By: /s/ George Thanopoulos  
George Thanopoulos, Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ George Thanopoulos  
George Thanopoulos  

Chief Executive Officer and Director  
(Principal Executive Officer)  

March 16, 2015 

/s/ Mark Blaufuss  
Mark Blaufuss  

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
(Principal Financial Officer and  
              Principal Accounting Officer)  

March 16, 2015 

/s/ Kevin Penn  
Kevin Penn  

Director March 16, 2015 

/s/ Nick Bhambri  
Nick Bhambri  

Director March 16, 2015 

/s/ Loren Easton  
Loren Easton  

Director March 16, 2015 

/s/ Michael Fisch  
Michael Fisch  

Director March 16, 2015 

/s/ William Jackson  
William Jackson  

Director March 16, 2015 

/s/ John Pearson Smith  
John Pearson Smith  

Director March 16, 2015 

/s/ Jeffrey Stafeil  
Jeffrey Stafeil  

Director March 16, 2015 
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Exhibit 
Number        Description 

  2.1 

     

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 31, 2014, by and among Metaldyne Performance Group Inc., Grede Merger Sub, 
LLC, Metaldyne Merger Sub, Inc. and HHI Merger Sub, Inc., ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC, ASP MD Holdings, Inc. 
and ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. and ASP Grede Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198316) filed August 22, 2014). 

  3.1 

     

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. (incorporated by reference 
from Exhibit 3.1 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed 
December 1, 2014). 

  3.2 
     

Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to 
the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 1, 2014). 

  4.1 
     

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 4, 2014). 

  4.2 

     

Indenture, dated as of October 20, 2014, among the MPG Holdco I Inc., Metaldyne Performance Group Inc., the subsidiary 
guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to 
the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  4.3      Form of 7.375% Note (included in Exhibit 4.2). 

*4.4 
     

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 29, 2015, between Grede LLC and Wilmington Trust National Association, as 
trustee. 

  4.5 

     

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2014, among MPG Holdco I Inc., the guarantors party thereto and 
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as 
representatives of the several initial purchasers listed therein (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to the Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed November 14, 2014). 

  10.1 

     

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2014, among MPG Holdco I Inc., as the borrower, Metaldyne Performance Group 
Inc., certain subsidiaries from time to time party thereto, as subsidiary guarantors, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative 
agent, and the other financial institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.2 

     

Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2014, by and among Metaldyne Performance Group Inc., ASP MD Investco LP, 
ASP HHI Investco LP, ASP Grede Investco LP and the minority investors identified therein (incorporated by reference from 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198316) filed 
August 22, 2014). 

  10.3 

     

Employment Agreement, effective August 4, 2014, by and between Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and George 
Thanopoulos (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on 
Form S-1 (File No. 333-198316) filed August 22, 2014). 

  10.4 

     

Employment Agreement, effective August 4, 2014, by and between Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and Mark Blaufuss 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A 
(File No. 333-198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.5 

     

Employment Agreement, effective August 4, 2014, by and between Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and Thomas Amato 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File 
No. 333-198316) filed August 22, 2014). 

  10.6 

     

Employment Agreement, effective August 4, 2014, by and between Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and Douglas Grimm 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File 
No. 333-198316) filed August 22, 2014). 

  10.7 
     

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to the Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 1, 2014). 
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Exhibit  
Number        Description 

  10.8 
     

2014 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration 
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 1, 2014). 

  10.9 
     

Annual Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration 
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 1, 2014). 

  10.10A 
     

Form of NEO Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10A to the Metaldyne Performance Group 
Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 4, 2014). 

  10.10B 
     

Form of CFO Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10B to the Metaldyne Performance Group 
Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 4, 2014). 

  10.10C 
     

Form I of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10C to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 4, 2014). 

  10.10D 
     

Form II of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10D to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed December 4, 2014). 

  10.11 
     

ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11 to the Metaldyne Performance Group 
Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.12 
     

ASP MD Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Plan Plan(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 to the Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.13 
     

ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC 2014 Unit Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 to the Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.14 

     

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Replacement Option; Tranche A), dated as of August 4, 2014, between Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. and Thomas A. Amato (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 to the Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed November 14, 2014). 

  10.15 

     

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Replacement Option; Tranche B), dated as of August 4, 2014, between Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. and Thomas A. Amato (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to the Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed November 14, 2014). 

  10.16 

     

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Replacement Option), dated as of August 4, 2014, between Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. and Mark Blaufuss (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.16 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.17 

     

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Replacement Option), dated as of August 4, 2014, between Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. and Douglas J. Grimm (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.17 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.18 

     

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Replacement Option), dated as of August 4, 2014, between Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. and George Thanopoulos (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.19 

     

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (10% Grant; Common Share Equivalent) (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 
10.19 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 
2014). 

  10.20 
     

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (10% Grant; Option Equivalent) (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.20 to 
the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.21 

     

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (HHI True-Up; Common Share Equivalent), dated as of August 4, 2014, between 
Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and George Thanopoulos Thanopoulos (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.21 to the 
Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 

  10.22 

     

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (HHI True-Up; Option Equivalent), dated as of August 4, 2014, between Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. and George Thanopoulos (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.22 to the Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 29, 2014). 
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Exhibit 
Number        Description 

  10.23 

     

Lease dated January 23, 2002 by and between Kojaian MD North Vernon, L.L.C., as landlord, and Metaldyne Sintered Components 
of Indiana, Inc., as tenant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.23 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration 
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.24 

     

Lease Agreement, dated as of December 29, 2009, between Dyne (DE) LP, as landlord, and Metaldyne Powertrain Components, 
Inc., as tenant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.24 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on 
Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.25 

     

First Amendment, dated May 31, 2012, to Lease Agreement between Dyne (DE) LP, as landlord, and Metaldyne Powertrain 
Components, Inc, as tenant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.25 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration 
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.26 

     

Lease Contract, dated September 6, 2005, between Suzhou Fangzheng Construction Development Company Ltd, as lessor, and 
Metaldyne, LLC, as lessee (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.26 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration 
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.27 

     

Commercial Lease, dated June 26, 2012, between Societe Civile Immobiliere Franklin Roosevelt, as lessor, and Metaldyne 
International France, as lessee (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.27 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration 
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.28 

     

Lease, dated August 7, 2008, 2509 Hayes LLC, as landlord, and Kyklos Bearing International, Inc., as tenant (incorporated by 
reference from Exhibit 10.28 to the Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-
198316) filed October 7, 2014). 

  10.29 

     

Security Agreement, dated as October 20, 2014, among MPG Holdco I Inc., as the borrower, the guarantors from time to time party 
thereto and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as collateral agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.29 to the Metaldyne 
Performance Group Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-198316) filed November 14, 2014). 

*14      Code of Business Ethics and Conduct. 

*21.1      Subsidiaries of the Registrant. 

*23.1      Consent of KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. 

*23.2      Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. 

*31.1      Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by Principal Executive Officer. 

*31.2      Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by Principal Financial Officer. 

*32 
     

Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  
* Filed herewith. 



EXHIBIT 4.4 

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE  

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE (this “Supplemental Indenture”) dated as of January 29, 2015, among Grede LLC (the 
“Guarantor”) and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”) under the Indenture dated as of October 20, 2014 among 
MPG Holdco I Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), the guarantors party thereto, and the Trustee (as amended, supplemented or 
otherwise modified, the “Indenture”).  

W I T N E S S E T H  

WHEREAS the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee the Indenture, providing initially for the issuance of 
$600,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 7.375% Senior Notes due 2022 (the “Notes”);  

WHEREAS Sections 4.11 and 10.07 of the Indenture provide that under certain circumstances the Company is required to cause the 
Guarantor to execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture pursuant to which the Guarantor shall unconditionally guarantee all the 
Company’s Obligations under the Notes and the Indenture pursuant to a Guarantee on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and  

WHEREAS pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Indenture, the Trustee and the Company are authorized to execute and deliver this 
Supplemental Indenture;  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the Guarantor and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders as follows:  

1. Defined Terms . As used in this Supplemental Indenture, terms defined in the Indenture or in the preamble or recital hereto are used 
herein as therein defined, except that the term “Holders” in this Guarantee shall refer to the term “Holders” as defined in the Indenture and the 
Trustee acting on behalf of and for the benefit of such Holders. The words “herein,” “hereof” and “hereby” and other words of similar import 
used in this Supplemental Indenture refer to this Supplemental Indenture as a whole and not to any particular section hereof.  

2. Guarantee . The Guarantor hereby, jointly and severally with all existing Guarantors, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees the 
Company’s Obligations under the Notes and the Indenture on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Indenture, including, but not 
limited to, Article 10 of the Indenture, and agrees to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Notes and to perform all 
of the obligations and agreements of a Guarantor under the Indenture.  

3. Releases . The Guarantee of the Guarantor shall terminate and be of no further force or effect and the Guarantor shall be deemed to be 
released from all obligations as provided in Section 10.03 of the Indenture.  

4. Notices . All notices or other communications to the Guarantor shall be given as provided in Section 11.02 of the Indenture.  

5. Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture . Except as expressly amended and supplemented hereby, the 
Indenture is in all respects ratified and confirmed and  
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the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture 
for all purposes, and every Holder of Notes heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.  

6. No Recourse Against Others . No past, present or future director, officer, employee, manager, incorporator, agent or holder of any 
Equity Interests in the Company or of the Guarantor or any direct or indirect parent corporation, as such, shall have any liability for any 
obligations of the Company and the Guarantor under the Notes, the Guarantee, the Indenture or this Supplemental Indenture or for any claim 
based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each Holder of Notes by accepting a Note waives and releases all such 
liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the Notes. The waiver may not be effective to waive liabilities under 
the federal securities laws.  

7. Governing Law . THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. THE GUARANTOR AND THE TRUSTEE HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO 
THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL 
PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, THE INDENTURE, THE NOTES OR THE 
TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.  

8. Trustee Makes No Representation . The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or sufficiency of this Supplemental Indenture. 

9. Multiple Originals . The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an original, 
but all of them together represent the same agreement. One signed copy is enough to prove this Supplemental Indenture. The exchange of copies 
of this Supplemental Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile or email (in PDF format or otherwise) shall constitute effective execution and 
delivery of this Supplemental Indenture as to the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the original Supplemental Indenture for all purposes. 
Signatures of the parties hereto transmitted by facsimile or email (in PDF format or otherwise) shall be deemed to be their original signatures for 
all purposes.  

10. Effect of Headings . The Section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction thereof.  

11. The Trustee . The Trustee shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever for or in respect of the validity or sufficiency of this 
Supplemental Indenture or for or in respect of the recitals or statements contained herein, all of which recitals and statements are made solely by 
the Guarantor.  

12. Successors . All agreements of the Guarantor in this Supplemental Indenture shall bind its successors. All agreements of the Trustee in 
this Indenture shall bind its successors.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the date first above 
written.  
   

[Signature Page to First Supplemental Indenture]  
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GREDE LLC 

By:    
Name: Douglas Grimm 
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President 

WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Trustee  

By:    
Name: 
Title: 



EXHIBIT 14 

Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.  

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics  

I. YOUR OBLIGATIONS  

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (this “Code”) is designed to promote honest, ethical and lawful conduct by all employees, officers 
and directors of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and all subsidiaries and entities controlled by it (collectively, the “Company”) and full, fair, 
accurate, timely and transparent disclosure, and compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. This Code is intended to help you 
understand the Company’s standards of legal and ethical business practices and to make you aware of ethical and legal issues that you may 
encounter in carrying out your responsibilities to the Company. In addition, independent contractors, consultants, agents and sales 
representatives who represent the Company are expected to apply the same high standards while working on Company business.  
   

At all times, you are expected to :  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The actions of every employee, officer and director affect the reputation and integrity of the Company. Therefore, it is essential that you 
take the time to review this Code and develop a working knowledge of its provisions. You are required to complete a certificate attesting to 
compliance with the Code upon becoming an employee, officer or director and, for certain employees, periodically thereafter.  

•   Avoid conflicts where your personal interests interfere, or could even appear to interfere, with the interests of the Company as a whole; 

•   Disclose any conflict to a supervisor or the Company’s Corporate Integrity Committee or Legal Department if you are an employee, or to 
the Audit Committee Chair or General Counsel if you are a director, and otherwise pursue the ethical handling of conflicts (whether 
actual or apparent) when conflicts or the appearance of conflicts are unavoidable; 

•   Provide accurate and complete information in the course of fulfilling your obligations and communicate information in a timely manner 
in furtherance of fulfilling the Company’s compliance obligations; 

•   Provide full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in the periodic reports required to be filed by the Company with 
regulators and in other public communications made by the Company; 

•   Comply both in letter and spirit with all applicabl e laws, regulations and Company policies ; 

•   Seek guidance where necessary from a responsible supervisor; 

•   Promptly report any violations of this Code to your supervisor, Human Resources, the Corporate Integrity Committee or Legal 
Department or through the Hotline; and 

•   Be accountable personally for adherence to this Code. 



   
WHO DO I CONTACT  

FOR GUIDANCE OR TO REPORT CONCERNS?  
   
If you believe a situation may involve or lead to a violation of this Code, please seek guidance and report such concerns in accordance with 
this Code and the Company’s Whistleblower Policy.  
   

•        Seek Guidance . Seek guidance from a responsible supervisor (for example, your immediate supervisor, a department head or location 
manager) or other appropriate internal authority (for example, your local Human Resources representative or compliance officer).  

   

•        Report Concerns to a Supervisor, Manager or Your Human Resources Representative. The most direct way to raise any concern 
is to speak to a supervisor, manager or your Human Resources representative. They, in turn, will communicate the concern with the 
Legal Department for review as described below.  

   

•        Use the Hotline. Reports may also be made anonymously through the Company’s Hotline which is posted in each Company location 
or through the following company mailbox corporateintegrity@mpgdriven.com .  

   

•        Report Concerns to the Corporate Integrity Committee or Legal Department. Concerns may be reported to the Corporate 
Integrity Committee or Legal Department.  

   

•        Accounting or Audit Concerns. In addition, reports related to accounting or auditing concerns may be made in writing to the Audit 
Committee or the Senior Manager – Internal Audit.  

   
   

HOTLINE:  
   

Country    Number    Access Code 
Brazil     800-618-2327    0800-890-0288 or 0800-888-8288 
China     800-618-2327    108-888 (Northern) or 108-11 (Southern) 
Czech Republic     800-618-2327    00-800-222-55288 
France     800-618-2327    0800-99-0011 or 0805-701-288 
Germany     800-618-2327    0-800-225-5288 
India     800-618-2327    000-117 
Italy     800-618-2327    800-172-444 
Japan     800-618-2327    00-663-5111 (IDC) or 00-441-111 (JT) or 00-539-111 (KDDI) 
Korea     800-618-2327    00-309-11 9DACOM) or 00-729-11 (Korean Telecom) or 00-369-11 (ONSE) 
Mexico     800-618-2327    01-800-288-2872 
Spain     800-618-2327    900-99-0011 
United Kingdom     800-618-2327    0-800-89-0011 (BT) or 0-500-89-0011 (C&W) 
United States     800-618-2327    n/a 
   

The Hotline is a special toll-free line available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. It is intended to operate in addition to other resources 
available to you to voice complaints or concerns, such as supervisors and Human Resources staff. The Hotline is operated by an outside, 
independent service provider and is available in all languages where the Company has facilities.  
   



   

This Code is part of a broader set of Company policies and compliance procedures available in the Company’s policy library. This Code is not 
intended to supersede or materially alter such documents.  
   

   

II. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, RULES & REGULATIONS  

The Company requires you to comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in countries where the Company does business. Violation of 
domestic or foreign laws and regulations may subject you, as well as the Company, to civil and/or criminal penalties. Legal compliance is not 
always intuitive. To comply with the law, you must learn enough about the national, state and local laws that affect your work at the Company to 
identify potential issues and to obtain proper guidance on the right way to proceed. When there is any doubt as to the lawfulness of any proposed 
activity, you should seek advice from the Company’s Legal Department.  

   

LEGAL DEPARTMENT OR CORPORATE INTEGRITY COMMITTEE O R INTERNAL AUDIT  
   

Metaldyne Performance Group  
c/o Legal Department  
47659 Halyard Drive  
Plymouth, MI 48170-2429  
   
   

AUDIT COMMITTEE  
   

To the attention of the Audit Committee of Metaldyne Performance Group  
Metaldyne Performance Group  
47659 Halyard Drive  
Plymouth, MI 48170-2429  
   

OUR POLICY AGAINST RETALIATION  

It is the Company’s policy to protect those who communicate honest concerns from any retaliation for such reporting. Consistent 
with the Company’s policy and applicable law, no adverse employment action may be taken, and retaliation is not permitted directly 
or indirectly against anyone who in good faith reports a concern or provides assistance or information to the General Counsel, others 
in management, the Audit Committee or any other appropriate person or group, including any governmental, regulatory or law 
enforcement body investigating or otherwise helping to resolve any concern. An employee who retaliates against someone who has 
reported a concern in good faith is subject to discipline up to and including termination of employment.  

Confidential and anonymous mechanisms for reporting concerns are available and are described in this Code and the Company’s 
Whistleblower Policy, including the Hotline.  

No policy can provide definitive answers to all questions. It is difficult to anticipate every decision or action that you may face or consider. 
Whenever there is doubt about the right ethical or legal choice to make, or questions regarding any of the standards discussed or 
policies referenced in this Code, you should fully disclose the circumstances, seek guidance about the right thing to do, and keep 
asking until guidance is obtained. The earlier a potential problem is detected and corrected, the better off the Company will be in protecting 
against harm to the Company’s business and reputation.  

Those who violate the standards in this Code will be subject to disciplinary action. Failure to follow this Code, as well as to comply 
with federal, state, local and any applicable foreign laws, and the Company’s corporate policies and procedures, may result in 
termination of employment or termination of service on the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”).  



To assure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the Company has established various policies and procedures, including the Insider 
Trading and Regulation FD Policy, Whistleblower Policy and Related Person Transaction Policy and other policies available in our policy 
library. Some of the legal obligations and policies that are particularly important to our business and reputation are summarized below. Further 
information on any of these matters may be obtained from the Company’s Legal Department.  

III. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  

The Company’s reputation and business can be damaged when personal interests influence or appear to influence business judgment. Employees 
and others to whom this Code applies must be free from conflicts of interest that could adversely influence their judgment, objectivity, or loyalty 
to the Company in conducting Company business activities and assignments. Employees must avoid situations where their personal interests 
could inappropriately influence, or appear to influence, their business judgment. This is called “conflict of interest.” Even the perception that 
personal interests influence business judgment can hurt the Company’s reputation and business. Employees may take part in legitimate financial, 
business, charitable, and other activities outside their jobs, but any real, potential or perceived conflict of interest raised by those activities or 
outside employment that diminishes productivity must be promptly disclosed to the Legal Department and updated on a periodic basis.  

Some examples of behavior employees and their immediate family members should avoid are:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

An “immediate family member” includes your spouse, parents, stepparents, children, stepchildren, siblings, mothers- and fathers-in-law, sons- 
and daughters-in-law, brothers- and sisters-in-law, and any person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing your household.  

In all instances where a conflict or the appearance of a conflict exists, you must disclose the nature of the conflict to a responsible supervisor, the 
Legal Department, or other appropriate internal authority as soon as possible. Where there is a real or perceived conflict of interest involving a 
director or executive officer of the Company, the matter should be referred to the Chair of the Audit Committee of the Board (the “Audit 
Committee”) or the General Counsel, but must ultimately be approved by the Audit Committee. The General Counsel, or his or her designee, 
must approve all other conflicts of interest.  

•   Solicit or accept from customers, suppliers or others dealing with the Company any kind of gift, under-the-table payment, kickback, bribe, 
rebate, barter or other personal, unearned benefits as a result of your position or relationship with respect to the Company, including 
payment or reimbursement of travel and meal expenses. Although such gifts do not apply to non-monetary items of nominal intrinsic value 
and for de minimis gratuities that are customary in our industry, if there is any question about the appropriateness of the giving or receiving 
of such a gift, you should check in advance with the Legal Department; 

•   Have a financial interest in the Company’s competitors, customers, suppliers or others dealing with the Company (excluding ownership of 
1% or less of the outstanding securities of a publicly traded company); 

•   Have a consulting, managerial or employment relationship with a competitor, customer, supplier or others dealing with the Company; 

•   Acquire real property, leases, patents, or other property or rights in which the Company has or is likely to have a business interest; 

•   Have a material interest in a transaction involving indebtedness or a guarantee of indebtedness involving the Company (excluding amounts 
due for purchases of goods and services subject to usual trade terms, for ordinary business travel and expense payments and for other 
transactions in the ordinary course of business); or 

•   Accepting loans or guarantees from any individual, organization, or company doing or seeking to do business with the Company. 



Conflict of interest transactions may also be subject to the Company’s Related Person Transaction Policy.  

3.1 Memberships on Boards and Committees  

If serving on a board of directors or similar body of a for-profit enterprise or government agency that would conflict with or affect the 
performance of your employment duties, or would otherwise result in a conflict of interest with the Company (for example, the organization is a 
competitor, customer, or supplier of the Company), you must obtain approval from the Company’s Legal Department or, if you are a director, 
from the Board before agreeing to serve on such board.  

Serving on boards of not-for-profit or community organizations does not require prior approval unless it creates a situation that poses a conflict 
of interest with the Company (for example, the organization solicits charitable contributions from the Company), in which case you should 
contact the Company’s Legal Department for approval prior to accepting such position or to continue such service.  

3.2 Political and Other Outside Activities  

Prior to seeking any election or appointment to public office, you must notify your supervisor, the Legal Department or, if you are a director, the 
Board to clarify the Company’s position in the event the candidacy is successful or the appointment is made and obtain written approval. See 
“Political Contributions and Activities” below.  

Solicitation of contributions or other support from fellow employees is prohibited during the working time (those times of the workday when 
employees are supposed to be engaged in their duties). Distribution of non-work-related material must be restricted to non-working areas of any 
Company facility. Break rooms, cafeterias, restrooms, and parking lots are examples of non-working areas.  

IV. PROTECTION AND PROPER USE OF COMPANY ASSETS  

You have a personal responsibility to protect the assets of the Company from misuse or misappropriation. The assets of the Company include 
tangible assets, such as products, equipment, and facilities, as well as intangible assets, such as corporate opportunities, intellectual property, and 
trade secrets.  

4.1 Theft/Misuse of Company Assets  

The Company’s assets may only be used for business purposes and such other purposes as are approved by the Company. You must not take, 
make use of, or knowingly misappropriate the assets of the Company for personal use, for use by another, or for an improper or illegal purpose. 
You are not permitted to remove, dispose of, or destroy anything of value to the Company without the Company’s express prior written consent, 
including both physical items and electronic information.  

4.2 Confidential Information/Privacy  

You must comply with your Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights Agreement, which is signed by all employees of the Company. If you are 
entrusted with information of a confidential or proprietary nature (about the Company, its suppliers, customers, or others and its directors, 
officers, shareholders, and employees), you must not disclose that information outside the Company, either during or after service with the 
Company, except with written authorization of the Company or as may be otherwise required by law but only after prior notice to the Company. 
You may not use confidential information for your own personal benefit or the benefit of persons or entities outside the Company. All 
information that is not readily available to the public must be deemed to be confidential unless you are notified otherwise.  

In addition, most countries have data privacy laws regulating the collection and use of personal data, which is any information that directly or 
indirectly identifies a natural person, although the types of data covered, the nature of the protection and local enforcement mechanisms vary. All 
employees are responsible for ensuring compliance with the data privacy requirements under the laws, rules and regulations of the applicable 
countries.  

See also “Insider Trading and Fair Disclosure” below and the Company’s Insider Trading and Regulation FD Policy.  

4.3 Network Use, Integrity & Security  

Employees must comply with the Company’s information technology policies contained in the policy library. Under those policies, the Company 
reserves the right to monitor or review any and all data and information contained on any  



employee’s or officer’s computer or other electronic device issued by the Company or containing Company information. In addition, the 
Company reserves the right to monitor or review an employee’s or officer’s use of the internet, Company intranet and Company email or any 
other electronic communications without prior notice.  

V. TRADE PRACTICES  

5.1 Fair Dealing  

You should deal fairly with the Company’s suppliers, customers, competitors, and employees. You must not take unfair advantage through 
manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation of material facts, or any other unfair-dealing practice. In addition, 
you should make all reasonable efforts to observe applicable portions of the ethics policies of the Company’s customers and suppliers.  

5.2 Antitrust Compliance  

Vigorous competition – free from collusion and unreasonable restraints – is the best mechanism for ensuring the production of high quality, 
well-priced, and innovative products and services. Moreover, failure to comply with applicable antitrust and other trade regulation laws in 
jurisdictions in which the Company does business could result in serious consequences both for the Company and the offending individuals – 
including significant civil and criminal penalties – and damage to the Company’s reputation. It is Company policy to compete solely on the basis 
of its superior and innovative products and services, through your collective efforts and contributions, and to avoid improper actions that 
unreasonably restrain trade.  

Antitrust and trade regulation issues are very complex. Determining what actions unreasonably restrain trade or are otherwise improper will 
depend on the structure of the market and a number of other factors. Whenever any doubt exists as to the legality of any communication, 
action, arrangement, or transaction, please contact the Legal Department immediately.  

To avoid even the perception of unlawful conduct, employees should avoid:  
   

   

   

5.3 Bribery and Other Corrupt Practices  

The Company strictly prohibits giving or receiving, or promising to give or receive, directly or indirectly, anything of value to anyone, including 
to any employee or official of a government (including state-owned companies) or a political party, candidate for office, or to any person 
performing public duties or state functions in order to obtain or retain business or to secure an improper advantage with respect to any aspect of 
the Company’s business. Improper payments are defined expansively to include payments, both direct and indirect (for example through agents 
or contactors); gifts; entertainment; and certain travel expenses. Although written local law may permit gift-giving or the payment of 
entertainment expenses, the Company’s Legal Department must approve in advance any such gifts or payments. “Facilitation” payments to 
expedite the routine performance of legitimate duties must be avoided unless the prior approval of the Company’s Legal Department has been 
obtained.  

•   Any meetings or discussions with a competitor (unless approved in advance by the Legal Department); 

•   Exclusive dealing arrangements (unless approved in advance by the Legal Department); and 

•   Trade association meetings where no attorney is present. 



You may not use agents, consultants, independent contractors or other representatives to do indirectly what you could not do directly under this 
Code or applicable laws, rules, and regulations.  

In retaining agents, consultants, independent contractors or other representatives, adequate background checks and verification of business 
credentials is required. Some “red flags” to look out for include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Any question as to this Code must be referred to the Company’s Legal Department prior to taking any action that might conflict with this Code.  

5.4 International Business Dealings  

Specific laws and regulations apply to participation in international business. Employees and officers involved in business transactions must be 
familiar with, and strictly adhere to, all applicable foreign and domestic laws and regulations controlling exports or regulating with whom the 
Company and its employees may do business. These laws include export control and licensing laws, economic sanctions, anti-boycott laws, and 
various laws regulating the transnational movement of technology, goods, and services. Questions regarding whether particular international 
transactions are permissible and compliance with applicable laws and this policy must be directed to the Company’s Legal Department.  

VI. INSIDER TRADING AND FAIR DISCLOSURE  

You must comply with the Company’s Insider Trading and Regulation FD Policy. No employee, officer, or director (nor any of their immediate 
family members (spouse or domestic partner, minor child, or person sharing the household (other than a tenant or employee)) may (1) trade in 
securities while aware of material non-public information or (2) disclose material non-public information to third parties (“tipping”).  

Certain designated key employees, executive officers, and directors of the Company (and any of their immediate family members) who have 
access to inside information on a regular basis, and/or have power to make strategic managerial decisions, are subject to the Company’s pre-
clearance procedures which require the approval in writing of the Legal Department prior to any trading in the Company’s securities.  

VII. INQUIRIES FROM THE MEDIA AND PUBLIC  

The Company is committed to providing full, fair and accurate disclosure in all public communications and in compliance with all applicable 
law, rules, and regulations. Consistent with this commitment, employees are not authorized to answer questions from the media, analysts, 
investors or any other members of the public. If you should receive such an inquiry, you must record the name of the person and immediately 
notify the Investor Relations Department, Legal Department, or both.  

Any question as to whether a gift or payment would be considered improper under the Company’s guidelines or national or foreign 
laws must be discussed with the Company’s Legal Department.  

Under no circumstance is it acceptable for you to offer, give, solicit, or receive any form of bribe, kickback, payoff, or inducement.  

•   Third parties with family or other relationships that could influence the decision; 

•   Independent contractors or consultants with a reputation for giving bribes; 

•   A history of corruption in the country where the third party is being hired; 

•   Unusually high commission requests; 

•   A sales representative or agent who indicates a “special arrangement”  with an official; or 

•   A customer who suggests that a Company bid be made through a specific agent or representative. 



VIII. MAINTAINING A SAFE, HEALTHY AND AFFIRMATIVE W ORKPLACE  

You are expected to review and know the Company’s Human Resources policies contained in the policy library.  

The Company is committed to a workplace that is free from sexual, racial, or other unlawful harassment, and from threats or acts of violence or 
physical intimidation. Abusive, harassing or other offensive conduct is unacceptable, whether verbal, physical or visual. If you believe that you 
have been harassed or threatened with or subjected to physical violence in or related to the workplace, you should immediately report the 
incident to an appropriate supervisor, Human Resources, or the Legal Department, who will arrange for it to be investigated. All efforts will be 
made to handle the investigation confidentially.  

The Company will not tolerate the possession, endorsement, use, or distribution of pornographic, racist, or sexist materials on Company 
property, or the use of Company personal computers or other equipment to obtain or view such materials.  

All accidents, injuries, or concerns about unsafe equipment, practices, conditions or other potential hazards should be immediately reported as 
set forth in the Company’s environmental, health, and safety policy available in the Company’s policy library.  

IX. POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND ACTIVITIES  

In the United States, federal and many state laws prohibit corporations from making certain types of political contributions. No direct or indirect 
political contribution (including the use of Company property, equipment, funds, or other assets) of any kind may be made in the name of the 
Company, or by using Company funds, unless the Company’s Legal Department or its designee has certified in writing that such political 
contribution complies with applicable law. If such certification is obtained, such contributions shall be by Company check or electronic transfer 
to the order of the political candidate or party involved, or by such other means as will readily enable the Company to verify, at any given time, 
the amount and origin of the contribution.  

X. SUBPOENAS AND GOVERNMENT INVESTIGATIONS  

As a general matter, it is the Company’s policy to cooperate in any government investigations and inquiries. All subpoenas, information and/or 
document requests directed to the Company should be referred immediately to the Company’s Legal Department.  

XI. ACCOUNTING PRACTICES, BOOKS & RECORDS AND RECOR D RETENTION  
   

You are expected to support the Company’s efforts in fully and fairly disclosing the financial condition of the Company in compliance with 
applicable accounting principles, laws, rules and regulations and making full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in our periodic 
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and in other communications to creditors, securities analysts, rating agencies, 
investors, regulators, and the media. Our financial statements and the books and records on which they are based must accurately reflect all 
corporate transactions and conform to all legal and accounting requirements and our system of internal controls.  
   

We do not tolerate any misclassification of transactions as to accounts, departments or accounting periods and employees are required to comply 
with all Company accounting policies in the policy library.  
   

Honest and accurate recording and reporting of information is critical to our ability to make responsible business decisions and 
foster investor trust. You have a strict obligation to provide accurate information in the records of the Company.  

All employees, officers and directors – and, in particular, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Finance 
Directors, and the Controller – have a responsibility to ensure that the Company’s accounting records do not contain any false or 
misleading entries.  

Any effort to mislead or coerce the independent auditors or a member of the internal audit staff may have serious legal consequences, 
including criminal sanctions, for the perpetrator and the Company, and is strictly prohibited.  



In addition, laws and regulations as well as Company policies require the Company’s records, including its financial, environmental, health and 
safety, human resources, research and development, analytical, engineering and intellectual property records, to accurately reflect the events they 
represent and to be retained for a certain period of time. Always record data in a timely and accurate manner. This protects the Company’s 
resources and meets the expectations of the people who rely on the accuracy of the Company’s records to perform their jobs. Falsifying business 
records is a serious offense, which may result in criminal prosecution, civil action and/or disciplinary action including termination of 
employment.  

Consistent with the reporting and recordkeeping commitments discussed above, you should accurately and truthfully complete all records used 
to determine compensation or expense reimbursement. This includes, among other items, reporting of hours worked (including overtime), 
reimbursable expenses (including travel and meals), and sales activity.  

Destroying or altering a document with the intent to impair the document’s integrity or availability for use in any potential official proceeding is 
a crime. Documents relevant to any pending, threatened, or anticipated litigation, investigation, or audit shall not be destroyed for any reason. If 
you believe that Company records are being improperly altered or destroyed, you should report it to a responsible supervisor, the appropriate 
internal authority or the Legal Department.  

XII. RAISING QUESTIONS AND CONCERNS  
   

It is the Company’s policy to protect those who communicate honest concerns from any retaliation for such reporting. Consistent with the 
Company’s Whistleblower Policy and applicable law, no adverse employment action may be taken and retaliation is not permitted directly or 
indirectly against anyone who in good faith reports a concern or provides assistance or information to the General Counsel, others in 
management, the Audit Committee, or any other appropriate person or group, including any governmental, regulatory or law enforcement body, 
investigating or otherwise helping to resolve any concern. An employee who retaliates against someone who has reported a concern in good faith 
is subject to discipline up to and including termination of employment.  

Confidential and anonymous mechanisms for reporting concerns are available and are described in this Code and in the Company’s 
Whistleblower Policy. However, anonymous reporting does not serve to satisfy a duty to disclose your potential involvement in a conflict of 
interest or in unethical or illegal conduct. Every effort will be made to investigate confidential and anonymous reports to the extent possible 
based on the information available in such reports. While self-reporting a violation will not excuse the violation itself, the extent and promptness 
of such reporting will be considered in determining any appropriate sanction.  

XIII. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS  

This Code and its contents may be modified and changed, without notice, at any time by the Company. Nothing in this Code limits the 
Company’s ability to determine the size and nature of our work force, determine qualifications of employees, judge employees’ performance; 
determine policies and practices; and direct, supervise, discipline, or terminate employees as necessary.  

Nothing in this Code creates a contract of employment.  

Each employee, officer, and director is responsible for the integrity and reputation of the Company and for compliance with this 
Code. Prompt reporting to the Company of any circumstances that you believe may constitute a violation of this Code, or any other 
Company policy, or applicable law, rule or regulation is integral to our commitment to ethics and compliance. If you are in a situation 
that you believe may involve or lead to a violation of this Code, please disclose to, and seek guidance from, a responsible supervisor, Human 
Resources, the Company’s Legal Department, Corporate Integrity Committee, Internal Audit, or other appropriate internal authority. See 
“Who Do I Contact for Guidance or to Report Concerns?” above.  
   
   

You are strongly encouraged to report any concern regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters 
(including concerns reported confidentially and anonymously) to the Company’s Hotline or in writing to the Audit Committee or 
Internal Audit – see “Who Do I Contact?” above.  



XIV. VIOLATIONS OF THIS CODE  

Allegations of Code violations will be reviewed and investigated when appropriate by the Company’s Legal Department or the Company’s 
Audit Committee. Violations of this Code may result in, among other actions, suspension of work duties, diminution of responsibilities or 
demotion, and termination of employment.  
   

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE  

I                                  hereby confirm that I have received,  
        (Print name)  

read and understand the foregoing “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.” I further confirm that I am in compliance with, and will continue to 
adhere to, the policies and procedures set forth therein and understand that my failure to do so could subject me to dismissal from the Company 
or removal from the Board of Directors for cause.  
   

   

Those who violate the standards in this Code will be subject to disciplinary action. Failure to follow this Code or to comply with 
federal, state, local and any applicable foreign laws, and the Company’s corporate policies and procedures may result in termination 
of employment or termination of board service.  

Date:    
Signature:    
Title:    

If you have any questions, please contact the Legal Department:  

ccreel@mpgdriven.com or 734-354-4020  



EXHIBIT 21.1 

SUBSIDIARIES OF METALDYNE PERFORMANCE GROUP INC.  
   
ASP HHI Holdings, Inc.  
ASP HHI Intermediate Holdings, Inc.  
ASP HHI Intermediate Holdings II, Inc.  
ASP HHI Acquisition Co., Inc.  
HHI Holdings, LLC  
Forging Holdings, LLC  
Hephaestus Holdings, LLC  
HHI Formtech Holdings, LLC  
HHI Formtech, LLC  
HHI Funding II, LLC  
HHI Forging, LLC  
Jernberg Holdings, LLC  
Jernberg Industries, LLC  
Impact Forge Holdings, LLC  
Impact Forge Group, LLC  
Bearing Holdings, LLC  
Kyklos Holdings, LLC  
Kyklos Bearing International, LLC  
Gearing Holdings, LLC  
Cloyes Gear Holdings, LLC  
Cloyes Gear and Products, Inc.  
HDM Products, Inc.  
The Mesh Company, LLC.  
Cloyes Acquisition Company  
Cloyes Dynagear Mexicana S. de R.L. de C.V. (JV 80%)  
MPG Holdco I Inc.  
ASP MD Holdings, Inc.  
ASP MD Intermediate Holdings, Inc.  
ASP MD Intermediate Holdings II, Inc.  
MD Investors Corporation  
Metaldyne, LLC  
Metaldyne BSM, LLC  
Metaldyne M&A Bluffton, LLC  
Metaldyne Powertrain Components, Inc.  
Metaldyne Sintered Ridgway, LLC  
Metaldyne SinterForged Products, LLC  
Metaldyne Tubular Components, LLC  
Punchcraft Machining and Tooling, LLC  
Metaldyne Componentes Automotivos do Brasil Ltda.  
Metaldyne Engine Holdings S.L.  
Metaldyne Europe. S.á r.l.  
Metaldyne GmbH  
Metaldyne Grundstrücks GbR  
Metaldyne Hong Kong Limited  

Metaldyne Industries Limited (JV 51%)  
Metaldyne International Deutschland GmbH  
Metaldyne International France SAS  
Metaldyne International Spain, S.L.  
Metaldyne International (UK) Ltd.  
Metaldyne Japan Corporation  
Metaldyne Korea Limited  
MetaldyneLux S.á r.l.  
MetaldyneLux Holding S.á r.l.  
Metaldyne Mauritius Limited  
H+B Hyprotec – Technologie Verwaltungs GmbH  
Metaldyne Netherlands Holdings B.V.  
Metaldyne Netherlands Sintered Holdings B.V.  
Metaldyne Nürnberg GmbH  
Metaldyne Oslavany spol. s.r.o.  
Metaldyne Sintered Components España, S.L.  
Metaldyne Sintered Components Holdings, S. de R.L. de C.V.  
Metaldyne Sintered Components Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.  
Metaldyne Sintered Components Services, S. de R.L. de C.V.  
Metaldyne (Suzhou) Automotive Components Co., Ltd.  
Metaldyne Zell GmbH & Co. KG  
Metaldyne Zell Verwaltungs GmbH  
ASP Grede Intermediate Holdings LLC  
ASP Grede AcquisitionCo LLC  
GSC RIII – Grede Corp.  
Shop IV Subsidiary Investment (Grede), Inc.  
Grede Holdings LLC  
Citation Camden Casting Center LLC  
Citation Lost Foam Patterns, LLC  
Grede LLC  
Grede II LLC  
Grede Machining LLC  
Grede Omaha LLC  
Grede Radford LLC  
Grede Wisconsin Subsidiaries LLC  
Skokie Castings LLC  
Novocast, S. de R.L. de C.V.  
Novogredetek Holdings, S. de R.L. de C.V.  
Teknik, S.A. de C.V.  
Especialistas en Transformaciones TK, S.A. de C.V. (f/k/a Grupo 

Teknik, S.A. de C.V.)  
Transformaciones Especializadas NC, S.A. de C.V. (f/k/a 

Novocast Industrias, S.A. de C.V.)  



EXHIBIT 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

The Board of Directors  
Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.:  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-200871) on Form S-8 of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. 
of our report dated March 16, 2015, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit), 
and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the period from October 6, 2012 through December 31, 2012, and the 
related financial statement schedule, which report appears in the December 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10-K of Metaldyne Performance 
Group Inc. We did not audit the financial statements and financial statement schedule of ASP HHI Holdings, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, 
which financial statements reflect total assets constituting 45% as of December 31, 2013 and net sales constituting 45% and 91% for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 and the period from October 6, 2012 through December 31, 2012, respectively, of the related consolidated totals. 
Those financial statements and financial statement schedule were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our 
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for ASP HHI Holdings, Inc., is based solely on the report of the other auditors.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Detroit, Michigan  
March 16, 2015  



EXHIBIT 23.2 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-200871 on Form S-8 of our report dated August 22, 2014 
(except for Note 24, as to which the date is March 16, 2015), relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of 
ASP HHI Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. for the year 
ended December 31, 2014.  
   
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 
   
Detroit, MI  
March 16, 2015 



EXHIBIT 31.1 

RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A) CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL  EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

I, George Thanopoulos, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Date: March 16, 2015  

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

  
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ George Thanopoulos  
Signature 

George Thanopoulos 

Chief Executive Officer 



EXHIBIT 31.2 

RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A) CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL  FINANCIAL OFFICER  

I, Mark Blaufuss, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

  
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 16, 2015 

/s/ Mark Blaufuss  

Signature 

Mark Blaufuss 

Chief Financial Officer 



EXHIBIT 32 

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer  
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350  

In connection with the Annual Report of Metaldyne Performance Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 
2014 (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 
U.S.C. Section 1350, that to the best of such officer’s knowledge:  
   

and  
   

Date: March 16, 2015  
   

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

  (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 

  (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 

/s/ George Thanopoulos  /s/ Mark Blaufuss  
Signature Signature 

George Thanopoulos Mark Blaufuss 

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 


